GENERALIZED u-GIBBS MEASURES FOR C^{∞} DIFFEOMORPHISMS

S. BEN OVADIA, D. BURGUET

ABSTRACT. We show that for every C^{∞} diffeomorphism of a closed Riemannian manifold, if there exists a positive volume set of points which admit some expansion with a positive Lyapunov exponent (in a weak sense) then there exists an invariant probability measure with a disintegration by absolutely continuous conditionals on smoothly embedded disks subordinated to unstable leaves. As an application, we prove a strong version of the Viana conjecture in any dimension, generalizing a recent result of the second author for surface diffeomorphisms.

Contents

1. Introduction, main results, and key steps of proof	2
1.1. Introduction	2 2 7
1.2. Main results	7
1.3. Key steps of proof	13
2. Setup and definitions	16
2.1. Lyapunov exponents	16
2.2. A disk and a positive disk-volume subset	18
2.3. Sequence of finite-time expanding subsets with a	
sub-exponential volume	19
3. The tree description of the dynamics of a disk	19
3.1. Bounded geometry	19
3.2. The tree of the disk dynamics and the Yomdin partitions	21
4. Proof of Proposition 3.7	24
5. Positive density of geometric times	30
6. Invariant measure given by disintegration on disks	40
6.1. Space of Measured Disks	40
6.2. Sequence of measures on the space of Measured Disks	40
6.3. Invariant measure with disintegration by a family of disks	44
7. Smooth Conditionals	45
7.1. Absolute Continuity of the Conditionals	46
7.2. Dominating Conditionals	53
8. Ergodic and geometric properties of the invariant measure	56
a a	

8.1. Positive exponents tangent to disks, and disks	
subordinated to unstable leaves	56
8.2. The invariant measure gives no weight to sources	56
8.3. Entropy and exponents	57
8.4. Disintegration by embedded disks	59
9. The Strong Viana Conjecture	59
9.1. Hyperbolic SRB measures for co-dimension 1	59
9.2. The strong Viana conjecture	59
Appendix A. Angle estimates	65
A.1. Exterior Powers	65
A.2. Grassmanian	65
A.3. Estimates	66
Appendix B. Covering number of C^r smooth disks	67
References	68

1. Introduction, main results, and key steps of proof

1.1. **Introduction.** A dynamical system is a pair (X,T) composed of a space X endowed with a transformation $T:X\to X$. One of the key problems in Dynamical Systems is to study the statistics of a chaotic system at a steady state. This heuristic is interpreted as studying the collection of invariant probability measures which govern chaotic orbits ("chaos" can be interpreted as positive entropy, or exponential sensitivity to initial conditions in Smooth Dynamical Systems- that is positive Lyapunov exponents- or both). An invariant probability measure is a probability $p \in \mathbb{P}(X)$ s.t. $p(E) = p(T^{-1}[E])$ for all $E \in \mathcal{B}(X)$, the Borel sigma algebra.

The first problem with which one is faced is then, which measure should we single out? Uniquely ergodic systems, which admit a unique invariant measure, often do not answer all criteria for chaos. When a system is not uniquely ergodic, there are natural candidates for reference measures in which we are interested.

In Smooth Dynamical Systems- that is differentiable maps of Riemannian manifolds- the most natural reference measure is the Riemannian volume of the manifold. This is due to several reasons: The first reason is the underlying physical assumption on the mathematical model, which asserts that when we carry out an experiment or a simulation of the system with a random initial condition, this initial condition is chosen randomly w.r.t. the Riemannian volume of the manifold (also sometimes called the Liouville measure).

The second reason which makes the Riemannian volume a natural candidate for a reference measure is the obvious relationship with the geometry of the space.

The third reason is the fundamental Liouville theorem, which asserts that whenever the system admits no dissipation/heat loss/friction (i.e a closed Hamiltonian system), the Riemannian volume is an invariant measure. This fact is very useful, as invariant measures admit many statistical properties, which are studied in the field of Ergodic Theory.

However, it is natural to wish to extend the scope of the systems which we study beyond the non-dissipative systems. What happens in a system which has friction? Or for example the earth's atmosphere which constantly gets heat insertion from the sun? In those cases we do not expect the Riemannian volume to be an invariant measure, while we still wish to find natural reference measures for the system which are invariant (as we are interested in the unique statistical properties that invariant measures govern).

Uniformly Hyperbolic systems are differentiable maps which admit a continuous decomposition of the tangent bundle into two invariant subbundles, such that on one sub-bundle the differential uniformly contracts tangent vectors, and on the other the differential uniformly expands tangent vectors. For Uniformly Hyperbolic systems, the ground-breaking works of Sinai, Ruelle, and Bowen give an answer to the question in the paragraph above (see [45, 42, 12, 13]). They study a class of measures which are called SRB measures (named after them), which are invariant measures with compatibility with the Riemannian structure, even in cases where the Riemannian volume is not preserved.

From now on, we only consider $C^{1+\epsilon}$, $\epsilon > 0$, smooth diffeomorphisms. In this setting, SRB measures are invariant probability measures, which when disintegrated on unstable leaves¹ (in the sense of the Rokhlin disintegration theorem), admit conditional measures which are absolutely continuous w.r.t. the induced Riemannian volume on the unstable leaves. This produces the first instance of compatibility with the Riemannian volume.

The two more reasons which make SRB measures an object of importance are:

¹Unstable leaves are embedded disks which are tangent to the asymptotically expanding direction of the tangent space of points with positive Lyapunov exponents (i.e exponential sensitivity to initial conditions). Their existence is given in [37, 44].

(1) Physicality: Every ergodic and hyperbolic SRB measure ν is physical [33]: its basin

$$\mathcal{B}(\nu) := \left\{ x \in \mathbf{M} : \ \forall \phi : \mathbf{M} \to \mathbb{R} \ \mathrm{cont.}, \frac{1}{n} \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \phi(f^k(x)) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \int \phi \, d\nu \right\}$$

has positive Riemannian volume. This was first shown for Uniformly Hyperbolic diffeomorphisms by Ruelle [42]. Physicality does not imply the SRB property. For the gap between the two properties, see [47].

(2) Entropic variational principle: SRB measures satisfy the entropy formula: $h_{\mu}(f) = \int \sum_{i:\chi_i>0} \chi_i(x) d\mu(x)$ where $\chi_i(x)$ is the *i*-th Lyapunov exponent of x (with multiplicity),[42, 38, 33, 34]; and the l.h.s. is strictly smaller than the r.h.s. for all other measures [42, 43, 35].

In particular, note that the physicality property admits an additional notion of compatibility with the Riemannian volume. For more properties of SRB measures, see [50].

Unfortunatelly, SRB measures do not always exist, even for "nice" systems (see [27] for example). This fact pushed forwards the field of Smooth Dynamical Systems for almost three decades, in trying to understand which systems admit SRB measures, or a corresponding object of interest.

For unimodal interval maps with a negative Schwarzian derivative, Keller showed that there is a positive Lebesgue measure of points with a positive Lyapunov exponent if and only if there exists an absolutely continuous invariant measure [32].

In the non-uniformly hyperbolic setting, in her celebrated result [49], Young showed the existence of an SRB measure for non-uniformly hyperbolic maps with Young towers, subject to an assumption of integrability of the return-time to the base of the tower w.r.t. the Riemannian volume. In [22], the authors study the existence of an SRB measure through the positive volume of "effectively hyperbolic" points. Another important approach and body of works is the study of existence via parameter families. For example, such as in the setting of quadratic families and Hénon maps (see [28, 7, 8, 9]).

Indeed, most approaches to constructing SRB measures rely on a hyperbolic structure (which holds for surfaces for every measure with positive entropy, by the Ruelle inequality [43]). Very few results address the construction of SRB measures in high dimension, in a general setup which allows 0 Lyapunov exponents. In [5], the authors construct

SRB measures for a general diffeomorphism whose volume converges exponentially fast to a limit under the dynamics.

The partially hyperbolic setting is where the tangent space splits continuously everywhere into three invariant sub-bundles. An unstable bundle $E^{\rm u}$ which expands uniformly, a stable bundle $E^{\rm s}$ which contracts uniformly, and a central bundle $E^{\rm c}$, which is uniformly dominated by, and dominates, the unstable and stable bundles respectively. One often bunches together the unstable and central bundles or the stable and central bundles (denoted by $E^{\rm cu}$ or $E^{\rm cs}$ respectively), which uniformly dominate $E^{\rm s}$ or dominated by $E^{\rm u}$ respectively. In this setting, where $E^{\rm s}$ is allowed to be trivial but not $E^{\rm cs}$, in their celebrated work [39], Pesin and Sinai construct u-Gibbs measures. That is, measures with an absolutely continuous disintegration on strong unstable leaves. For such partially hyperbolic systems which admit only negative Lyapunov exponents in the central bundle volume-a.e, these u-Gibbs measures are in fact SRB [11] measures.

More in the partially hyperbolic setting, allowing E^u to be trivial but not E^{cu} , in [2, 3] the authors showed that volume-a.e point which admits only positive Lyapunov exponents in the central bundle (for a certain notion of Lyapunov exponent, see the discussion below), lies in the basin of an ergodic hyperbolic SRB measure.

Then M. Viana posed the following conjecture in his famous ICM talk.

Conjecture (Viana [1]). If a smooth map has only non-zero Lyapunov exponents at Lebesgue almost every point then it admits some SRB measure.

The importance of Viana's conjecture is two-fold. First, it is stated in a very elementary and natural way, and second the condition it suggests is important in terms of physical testability, as one would have to check random initial conditions and observe whether expansion happens or not.

Given a point, its Lyapunov exponents estimate exponential expansion/contraction rates associated to the action of the differential. These exponents are commonly used when x is typical for an invariant measure or satisfy some regularity. By using Markov partitions, the first author [4] proved a version of Viana conjecture for $C^{1+\epsilon}$ diffeomorphisms of manifolds in any dimension by assuming a positive volume for a collection of hyperbolic regular points (see also [23] for a related result for surfaces, using Young towers and [18] for another notion of regularity for C^{∞} systems).

In the present work we do not assume any kind of regularity, and so Lyapunov exponents may be defined in different ways. For example, we may consider the *top-upper exponent*

$$\overline{\chi}(x) := \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \|d_x f^n\|, \tag{1}$$

or the top-lower exponent $\underline{\chi}(x) := \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log ||d_x f^n||$. In any case, any such notion should coincide with the common definition of Lyapunov exponents for typical points with respect to invariant measures.

Recently some progress has been made regarding the Viana Conjecture for C^{∞} diffeomorphisms of surfaces ([21, 19]). In [19] the second author proved more precisely that for a C^r diffeomorphism, r>1, Lebesgue a.e x with $\overline{\chi}(x)>\frac{\log \|d.f\|}{r}$ lies in the bassin of an ergodic hyperbolic SRB measure (see also [24] for C^r interval maps). In these settings, the lower bound on $\overline{\chi}$ is sharp [18, 15]. Morally, C^r smoothness allows one to bound the distortion in the dynamics of disks, similar to the role of domination in partially hyperbolic systems.

Before moving to the description of our main results (which indeed apply to manifolds in any dimension), we wish to describe the limits of the general Viana Conjecture in high dimension. Consider the famous "Bowen's eye" example (see [29]), which admits a single hyperbolic fixed point p. It can always be made to be C^{∞} smooth. Consider the product dynamics of this map, times a hyperbolic linear toral automorphism A of the 2-torus, where we assume w.l.o.g. that the exponents at the fixed point on Bowen's eye dominate the derivative bounds of the toral map. In this product dynamics which is C^{∞} smooth, every point admits a positive Lyapunov exponent, and there are no measures with 0 exponents. However, the system admits no SRB measures. This can be seen by the fact that the Bowen's eye example admits only 4 ergodic invariant measures, all Dirac delta measures- three are on fixed points which admit only positive Lyapunov exponents, and one on the hyperbolic fixed point. By making the exponents at the hyperbolic fixed point in the Bowen's eye dominate all exponents in the toral automorphism, we can guarantee that there is even no invariant measure with absolutely continuous conditionals on strong unstable leaves (i.e. no u-Gibbs).

Therefore we can see that in dimension larger than two, expansion alone is not enough to conclude the existence of an SRB measure, nor a u-Gibbs measure. But still in the above example there is a measure with some absolutely continuous property, which is the product $\delta_p \times \mu_A^{SRB}$ of the Dirac measure δ_p at p with the SRB measure μ_A^{SRB}

of A (just the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{T}^2 in this case). In the present paper we prove a strong version of the Viana Conjecture for C^{∞} diffeomorphisms, by showing that volume almost every point with non-zero Lyapunov exponents lies in the basin of a hyperbolic SRB measure (see §1.2.2). This will be a consequence of our main result which implies the existence of a measure with absolutely continuous properties assuming only expansion at Lebesgue typical points. It addresses in particular the above example. More precisely, if the k-th exponent is positive on a set of positive volume, then there is an invariant measure which disintegrates into smooth measures on k-disks which are contained in local unstable manifolds (see §1.2.1).

In §1.2 we describe our results and in §1.3 we give a detailed description of the steps of our proof, which follows a geometric approach. However, allow us to give a brief overview of these steps first.

- (1) First we wish study the geometry of a k-disk which is pushed forwards by the C^{∞} -dynamics, using Yomdin theory. This poses several new challenges, compared to previous works which study the geometry of curves, e.g [21, 19].
- (2) The refined Yomdin theory is then used to find points with a positive density of times with *bounded geometry*, which is adapted to the notion of expansion on disks.
- (3) Finally, we construct an invariant measure using a notion of *Measured Disks* (morally similar to standard pairs [25]). These disks do not come equipped with a compact space of densities, and so proving that the limiting measure is absolutely continuous requires a new approach of comparing measures via atoms of the *Yomdin partition*.
- 1.2. **Main results.** Let **M** be a closed Riemannian manifold of dimension $d \geq 2$, and let $f \in \text{Diff}^{\infty}(\mathbf{M})$. We denote the Riemannian volume of **M** by Vol. Below we extend the notion of a Lyapunov exponent in the weak sense from (1).
- 1.2.1. Generalized u-Gibbs measures. Let $\wedge^k T\mathbf{M}$ be the k-th exterior power bundle of the tangent space $T\mathbf{M}$ endowed with the Riemannian structure inherited from \mathbf{M} . We denote by $\wedge^k df$ the map induced by df on $T\mathbf{M}$.

Definition 1.1 (k-th exponent). For a point $x \in \mathbf{M}$, its k-th exponent, where $k \in \{1, ..., d\}$, is defined by df on $\wedge^k T\mathbf{M}$.

$$\lambda_k(x) :=$$

$$\lim_{p \to \infty} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \left(\log \| \wedge^k d_x f^n \| - \frac{1}{p} \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} \log^+ \max_{1 \le s \le k-1} \| \wedge^s d_{f^j x} f^p \| \right).$$

Remark:

- (1) $\forall x \in \mathbf{M}, \ \lambda_1(x) = \overline{\chi}(x) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log ||d_x f^n|| \text{ with the convention } \max \emptyset = -\infty.$
- (2) $\forall 1 \leq k \leq d \ \forall x \in \mathbf{M}, \ \lambda_k(x) \leq \limsup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{n} \log \sigma_k(d_x f^n) \leq \lambda_1(x)$ with $\sigma_k(d_x f^n)$ being the k-th singular value of $d_x f^n$.
- (3) To see that the definition is proper and that the limit on p exists, see Lemma 2.2.
- (4) $\lambda_d(x) \leq 0$ for Vol-a.e x. See for example the remark following Lemma 2.2.

For a smooth embedded disk D we let Vol_D be the Riemannian probability volume on D.

Definition 1.2 (Generalized u-Gibbs measure). Let $k \in \{1, \ldots, d-1\}$ and r > 1. An f-invariant Borel probability measure $\widehat{\mu}$ is called a Generalized u-Gibbs measure (G-u-Gibbs in short), if it can be written as

$$\widehat{\mu} = \int \mu_{\varpi} d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}(\varpi),$$

where $\hat{\mathbf{p}}$ is a probability on the space of $C^{r-1,1}$ -embedded k-disks, and

- (1) for $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , $\mu_{\varpi} \ll \operatorname{Vol}_{\operatorname{Im}(\varpi)}$,
- (2) for $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , for μ_{ϖ} -a.e x, $\operatorname{Im}(\varpi) \subseteq V_{\operatorname{loc}}^u(x)$, where $V_{\operatorname{loc}}^u(x)$ denotes the local Pesin unstable manifold at x.

Remark:

- (1) Notice that almost every ergodic component of a G-u-Gibbs measure is also a G-u-Gibbs measure, as different ergodic components are carried by disjoint collections of unstable leaves.
- (2) In Corollary 7.27, we in fact prove that for every G-u-Gibbs measure, the conditionals μ_{ϖ} are equivalent to $\operatorname{Vol}_{\operatorname{Im}(\varpi)}$, with an explicit density given the by the product of Jacobians.
- (3) Note that every G-u-Gibbs measure given by a disintegration by (k+1)-disks, is in particular a G-u-Gibbs with a disintegration by k-disks.

Our main theorem is as follows:

Theorem A (Main Theorem). Let f be a C^{∞} diffeomorphism of a closed manifold. Then if $\operatorname{Vol}([\lambda_k > 0]) > 0$, then there exists a generalized u-Gibbs measure $\widehat{\mu}$ with a disintegration by absolutely continuous conditionals on k-dimensional disks.

Remark:

- (1) Our main theorem is optimal in the sense that it applies to the example which is illustrated in the second-to-last paragraph of §1.1. While that example does not admit an SRB measure, nor a *u*-Gibbs measure, it admits a G-*u*-Gibbs measure.
- (2) The condition in the main theorem is sufficient, but not necessary. To see this, consider the skew-product on $\mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{T}^2$ given by $F(t,x) = (g(t), f_t(x))$, where $g: \mathbb{S}^1 \to \mathbb{S}^1$ is a North-South dynamics, fixing 0 and 1, where 0 is an indifferent repelling point (0 Lyapunov exponent) and 1 is an attracting fixed point (negative exponent). Let f_0 be an Anosov map, and f_t be a homotopy to f_1 , which is a DA map with an attracting fixed point p and a repeller (see for example [46]). Thus almost every point w.r.t. to the volume converges to $\delta_1 \times \delta_p$, and hence has no positive exponents. However, the system admits the SRB measure $\delta_0 \times \mu_{f_0}^{SRB}$.
- (3) While the condition of the main the theorem is not necessary, the proof quickly reduces to finding a disk with a positive disk-volume of points which see some expansion tangent to the disk. Such a "leaf condition" is clearly necessary, and through our construction also sufficient.
- (4) u-Gibbs measures (and in particular G-u-Gibbs measures) do not have to be physical, as can be observed by $f = A \times \text{Id}$: $\mathbb{T}^2 \times \mathbb{T}^2 \to \mathbb{T}^2 \times \mathbb{T}^2$, where A is a linear Anosov map. The diffeomorphism f admits SRB measures, and satisfies the condition of our main theorem, but admits no physical measures.
- (5) Our proof uses tools from Yomdin theory. Yomdin theory is sufficiently robust, as it applies to the dynamics of a disk under a sequence of maps, rather than a single map (with uniform regularity bounds). This implies potential applications to the setting of random dynamics.

Conjecture (G-u-Gibbs rigidity). Given an ergodic generalized u-Gibbs measure $\hat{\mu} = \int \mu_{\varpi} d\hat{\mathbf{p}}(\varpi)$, either $\hat{\mu}$ is a u-Gibbs measure, or for some k, for $\hat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , for μ_{ϖ} -a.e x, $\operatorname{Im}(\varpi)$ is tangent to a sum of Oseledec directions of dimension k at x, and the conditional measures on the stronger unstable leaves are atomic.

The idea is to study the distribution of the tangent spaces to ϖ within the projection tangent space of a larger unstable leaf. The invariance of the measure should imply that either the distribution of directions is atomic (hence allowing an invariant integration, or the larger unstable leaf is absolutely continuous "in the direction of ϖ " where these directions are well spread (hence implying that the conditionals on the large unstable lead should be absolutely continuous as well).²

The example which is illustrated in the second-to-last paragraph of §1.1 falls within the case where the conditionals on the stronger unstable leaves are atomic.

Remark: Given $\phi \in C(\mathbf{M})$, we have $\int \phi \, d\hat{\mu} = \int \int \phi \circ \varpi(t) \rho_{\varpi}(t) dt d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}(\varpi)$. Similarly, we may define a measure μ^* on $\mathbb{P} \wedge^k T\mathbf{M}$ as $\int \Phi d\mu^* = \int \int \Phi((\varpi(t), d_t \widehat{\varpi T_t}[0, 1]^k)) \rho_{\varpi}(t) \, dt d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ for any $\Phi \in C(\mathbb{P} \wedge^k T\mathbf{M})$. Then μ^* is invariant under the dynamics induced by f on $\wedge^k T^1 M$. In the case where the Lyapunov spectrum of $\hat{\mu}$ is simple we get that any ergodic component of μ^* is supported on a direct sum of Oseledec unstable subspaces. Thus, in this case, for $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , for μ_{ϖ} -a.e x, $\mathrm{Im}(\varpi)$ is tangent to a sum of Oseledec directions of dimension k at x.

In [19], the author conjectures the following:

Conjecture ([19]). Let $f: M \to M$ be a C^{∞} diffeomorphism of a closed manifold. If $\operatorname{Vol}([\Sigma^k(x) > \Sigma^{k-1}(x) \ge 0]) > 0$, then there exists an ergodic measure with at least k positive Lyapunov exponents, such that its entropy is larger than or equal to the sum of its k smallest positive Lyapunov exponents.

In the conjecture above, $\Sigma^k(x) := \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \| \wedge^k d_x f^n \|$.

We prove that the measure $\hat{\mu}$ from the main theorem satisfies the following:

Theorem B. Assume that $\operatorname{Vol}([\lambda_k > 0]) > 0$, and let $\widehat{\mu} = \int \widehat{\mu}_x d\widehat{\mu}(x)$ be the ergodic decomposition of $\widehat{\mu}$. Then for $\widehat{\mu}$ -a.e x, $\widehat{\mu}_x$ admits at least k-positive Lyapunov exponents, and satisfies

$$h_{\widehat{\mu}_x}(f) \ge \sum_{k\text{-smallest positive } \chi_i(\widehat{\mu}_x)} \chi_i(\widehat{\mu}_x).$$

Remark:

 $^{^{2}}$ In [14] the authors study a related notion of "generalized u-Gibbs measures": if the unstable conditionals are invariant to the action of an adapted group (given by the normal forms), then either the conditionals are invariant to the action of a larger group, or the QNI condition [31] is violated.

- (1) Note that this statement is optimal, as can be seen by the example which is illustrated in the second-to-last paragraph of §1.1, where the inequality is an equality.
- (2) In particular, this implies that $\widehat{\mu}$ has positive entropy (by the affinity of entropy), and that $\widehat{\mu}$ admits also at least 1 negative Lyapunov exponent a.e (by the Ruelle inequality for f^{-1}).
- 1.2.2. The Strong Viana Conjecture. Finally, as an application to the main theorem of §1.2.1, we prove a strong version of Viana conjecture in any dimension.

Definition 1.3 (Negative exponents). For $k \in \{1, ..., d-1\}$ we set

$$\varkappa_{k+1}^-(x) := \lim_{\Delta \to 0} \limsup_{q \to \infty} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \varkappa_{k+1,q,n,\Delta}^-(x),$$

where

$$\varkappa_{k+1,q,n,\Delta}^{-}(x) := \min_{\substack{\mathcal{L} \subseteq \{1,\dots,n\}\\ \Delta n < \#\mathcal{L} < n}} \frac{1}{\#\mathcal{L}} \sum_{\ell \in \mathcal{L}} \Phi_{k+1}^{(q)} \circ f^{\ell}(x),$$

and

$$\Phi_{k+1}^{(q)}(x) := \frac{1}{q} \log^+ \frac{\| \wedge^k d_x f^q \|}{\| \wedge^{k+1} d_x f^q \|}.$$

Remark:

- (1) For an f-invariant probability ν , for ν -a.e x, $\varkappa_{k+1}^-(x) = \max\{0, -\chi_{k+1}(x)\}$, where $\chi_{k+1}(x)$ is the (k+1)-th Lyapunov exponent (with multiplicity) at x. For proof, see Lemma 9.6.
- (2) $\varkappa_{k+1}^{-}(x) \leq \max\{-\beta_{k+1}(x), 0\}$, where

$$\beta_{k+1}(x) := \sup_{\nu \in p\omega(x)} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\nu} \chi_{k+1},$$

where $p\omega(x)$ denotes the set of empirical measures of x and $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\nu} \chi_{k+1}$ is the essential supremum of $y \mapsto \chi_{k+1}(y)$ w.r.t. ν . For proof, see Lemma 9.4.

Definition 1.4 (Points with non-zero Lyapunov exponents). For $\chi \geq 0$ and $k \in \{1, ..., d-1\}$, we let

$$\mathrm{Hyp}_{\chi}^{k} := \left\{ x \in \mathbf{M} : \lambda_{k}(x), \varkappa_{k+1}^{-}(x) > \chi \right\}.$$

Theorem C (Strong Viana Conjecture). Let $f \in \operatorname{Diff}^{\infty}(\mathbf{M})$ and let $\chi > 0$. Then Vol-a.e $x \in \operatorname{Hyp}_{\chi}^k$ lies in the basin of attraction of an ergodic χ -hyperbolic SRB measure with exactly k positive Lyapunov exponents.

Remark: We do not know if the number of SRB measures whose basins cover Hyp^k_χ is finite or not (see also the last item of the remark following Theorem D).

1.2.3. Hyperbolic SRB measure for co-dimension 1. In the case where k = d - 1 (i.e the co-dimension 1 case), we do not need any condition on the exponent \varkappa_d :

Theorem D. Let f be a C^{∞} diffeomorphism of a closed manifold of dimension d. Then Vol-a.e x with $\lambda_{d-1}(x) > 0$ lies in the basin of a a hyperbolic SRB measure which admits exactly d-1 positive Lyapunov exponents almost everywhere.

Remark:

- (1) Moreover, this is an "if and only if", as the existence of a hyperbolic SRB measure with d-1 positive exponents implies $Vol([\lambda_{d-1} > 0]) > 0$, as a classical application of Pesin's absolute continuity theorem for stable leaves.
- (2) In particular for d=2 we recover the main result of [19] for C^{∞} surface diffeomorphisms.
- (3) In dimension 2, the number of SRB measures with entropy larger than a > 0 is finite. This follows from the finiteness of homoclinic classes with entropy larger than a > 0 which is proved by using a Sard argument (firstly appeared in [41]). We hope that by a similar approach one could show that Vol-a.e x with $\lambda_{d-1,p}(x) > 0$ lies in the basin of finitely many SRB measures (see Definition 2.1 for the definition of the exponent $\lambda_{d-1,p}$).
- 1.2.4. C^r statements with $1 < r < +\infty$. The results stated in the above §1.2.2 and §1.2.1 for C^{∞} diffeomorphisms follow immediately from the following general C^r version of our Main Theorem. Fix $1 < r < +\infty$. We let

$$\forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \ M_{f^n} := \max\{\|d_{\cdot}f^n\|, \|d_{\cdot}f^{-n}\|\}$$

then

$$R(f) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log M_{f^n}.$$

Theorem E (C^r version). Let f be a C^r diffeomorphism of a closed manifold. Then if $\operatorname{Vol}([\lambda_k > \frac{3k^2}{r-1}R(f)]) > 0$, then there exists a generalized u-Gibbs measure $\widehat{\mu}$ with a disintegration by absolutely continuous conditionals on k-dimensional disks.

Remark:

- (1) By the aforementioned examples in dimension two, one can not expect to replace the lower bound $\frac{3k^2}{r-1}R(f)$ by 0. However we do not claim that the lower bound in the above statement is sharp.
- (2) The C^r smoothness property together with the assumption $\operatorname{Vol}([\lambda_k > \frac{3k^2}{r-1}R(f)]) > 0$ is used in §5 to construct a disk with a positive density of geometric times on a subset of positive disk-volume, using Yomdin theory. Given such a disk, the construction of the G-u-Gibbs measure and its properties is done in §6, §7, and §8. All arguments in those sections assume only $f \in \operatorname{Diff}^{1+}(\mathbf{M})$.
- (3) In §9, by using the construction of the SRB measure from the previous sections we show in addition that Vol-a.e $x \in [\lambda_k > \frac{3k^2}{r-1}R(f)] \cap [\varkappa_{k+1}^- > \chi]$ lies in the basin of a $\min\{\chi, \frac{3k^2}{r-1}R(f)\}$ -hyperbolic SRB measure. The proofs in this section assumes only C^{1+} regularity as well. In addition, Vol-a.e $x \in [\lambda_{d-1} > \frac{3k^2}{r-1}R(f)]$ lies in the basin of a hyperbolic SRB measure.
- 1.3. **Key steps of proof.** The proof is composed of seven key steps, which we describe below.
 - (1) A disk with positive disk-volume for expanding points: The first step is reducing the dynamics to dynamics of an "almost expanding" map. This is achieved by an embedded k-dimensional disk D, such that the induced Riemannian volume Vol_D gives a positive measure to points whose expansion of $\lambda_k(\cdot)$ is achieved on T.D. In particular it requires using an iterative power of the dynamics of f, to observe the expansion more directly.
 - (2) Refined high-dimensional Yomdin theory: The second key step is developing a quantitative approach to Yomdin theory which applies to high-dimensional disks. We expand here a bit about this step, as it is crucial.

Yomdin theory allows to partition and reparameterize semialgebraic sets into components whose image under the dynamics of a smooth map remain with a bounded derivative. The idea is that if the image of a disk has to "bend" a lot, it forces the number of components to be larger. The strength of Yomdin theory is controlling the number of such components under a C^{∞} map, by approximating the map with its Taylor expansion, and proving that the number is exponentially small. The usefulness of Yomdin theory is demonstrated for example in [48, 36, 20, 18]. In [19] the second author develops an alternative approach, which allows to better control the geometry of curves. The geometry of a curve is simple, as it entails of only its derivative and length. The geometry of high-dimensional disks is much more complicated, as they could be very narrow in some directions, but large in other direction, or even wind above themselves like a staircase. Moreover, the volume of the disk can increase under the dynamics, while some directions demonstrate contraction.

In this paper we develop an applicable high-dimensional quantitative approach to Yomdin theory, which allows us to control the geometry of the image of a disk under a smooth map. Moreover, we are able to do so in a manner where the reparameterized disks (called *Yomdin charts*) form a partition. We call this partition the *Yomdin partition*, and it serves an important role later when we construct and compare measures by the atoms of this partition.

- (3) Tree dynamics of the disk, and positive frequency of "good" times: The third key step is to construct the tree of the dynamics of the disk D. This refers to the tree structure which is achieved by applying the Yomdin subdivision iteratively to the images of D under the dynamics. In particular, this tree description is crucial in order to study the points on the disk D whose corresponding position on the tree at time k has the bounded geometry property, for a uniformly positive portion of $k \leq n$. This is the only part in the paper where we require the regularity of the diffeomorphims to be possibly greater than C^{1+} . The notion of bounded geometry is how we keep enough control of the geometry of the Yomdin subdivision, without being too restrictive so the tree structure becomes insufficient. Here we makes use of the quantitative Yomdin theory for high-dimensional disks.
- (4) A limiting measure on the space of Measured Disks: In the fourth step, we use the positive density of times with bounded geometry for a subset of positive Lebesgue measure on *D* in order to construct a measure on the space of *Measured Disks* that is the space of embedded *k*-dimensional disks in M, endowed with a probability measure on them. The positive density of times with bounded geometry allows us to restrict to a pre-compact subset of the space of Measured Disks, in which we can take limits.

The main idea here is to construct a sequence of measures which are not invariant, but correspond to the restriction of the desired invariant measure onto increasing subsets (similarly to Pesin blocks). The subsets are parameterized by the bounded geometry of the disks.

(5) **Absolutely continuous conditionals:** In the fifth step, we prove that the invariant measure which we construct in the fourth step is given by a disintegration into absolutely continuous measures on disks which are subordinated to the unstable foliation. In fact, we prove that these conditional measures are equivalent to the induced Riemannian volume on the disks.

We decompose each conditional measure in the limiting process into atoms of the Yomdin partition, and bound the total mass of all atoms on which the conditional measure does not compare with the respective disk volume. The idea is to make sure that the conditional measure and the respective disk volume compare over finer and finer atoms, as we take the limit, guaranteeing that the limiting measures will coincide over all continuous functions.

Such analysis, and a choice for an increasing degree of atoms which still cover a big portion of the measure, relies on the sub-exponential decay of the measure of sets which we push forward.

- (6) Dynamical properties of the invariant measure: In the sixth step, we prove the variety of dynamical properties which the invariant measure holds. That is, we prove the estimates of the exponents, the entropy; And we prove the fact that the limiting measures on the space of *Measured Disks* concentrate on disks which are contained in unstable leaves. This gives an indirect construction of disks which are contained in unstable leaves, and an indirect construction of their densities. By "indirect", we mean without the constructive approach of a graph transform or a Perron-Hadamard method.
- (7) Controlling the transverse Lyapunov exponents: In the seventh and final step, we estimate the Lyapunov exponents of the G-u-Gibbs measure which we construct, in the direction transverse to the disks on which it disintegrates with absolutely continuous conditionals.

In general Lyapunov exponents may not be continuous, and using the fact that our G-u-Gibbs measure is constructed by pushing forwards sets, we are able to prove that the negative exponents for the empirical measures translate to the limit. In fact, our methods allow to control the Lyapunov spectrum of the limiting measure, through the spectrum of the empirical

measures. Controlling the spectrum of a measure which is constructed this way is meaningful even in the Anosov setting.

2. Setup and definitions

2.1. Lyapunov exponents.

2.1.1. Standard Lyapunov exponent. For a dynamical system $T: X \circlearrowleft$ and a normed vector bundle $\pi: V \to X$, a linear cocyle $A: V \circlearrowleft$ is a map satisfying $\pi \circ G = T$ such that the restriction of A to the vector space $V_x := \pi^{-1}(x)$ to V_{Tx} is a linear isomorphism. Then one defines the Lyapunov exponent of A at $v = (x, v_x) \in V$ as follows

$$\chi_A(v) = \limsup_n \frac{1}{n} \log ||A^n(v)||.$$

We may define the Lyapunov exponent χ_A on the projective bundle $\mathbb{P}V$ by letting $\chi_A([v]) = \chi_A(v)$ for any $0 \neq v \in V$ with its associated class $[v] \in \mathbb{P}V$. Consider a C^1 diffeomorphism f on a compact smooth Riemannian manifold \mathbf{M} of dimension d. For any $x \in \mathbf{M}$ we let $(\chi_k(x))_{1 \leq k \leq d}$ be the usual Lyapunov exponent associated to the derivative cocycle of f. It is well-known that

$$\chi_1(x) = \overline{\chi}(x) = \limsup_n \frac{1}{n} \log ||d_x f^n||.$$

When ν is a f-invariant probability measure on \mathbf{M} we let $\chi_k(\nu) = \int \chi_k(x) d\mu(x)$ for any $1 \le k \le d$.

2.1.2. New positive exponents. We introduce now the new positive exponents λ_k , $1 \le k \le d$.

Definition 2.1. For a point $x \in \mathbf{M}$ and $k \in \{1, ..., d\}$, we let for all $p \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$, $\lambda_{k,p}(x) := \limsup_{n \to \infty} \lambda_{k,p,n}(x)$, where

$$\lambda_{k,p,n}(x) := \frac{1}{n} \left(\log \| \wedge^k d_x f^n \| - \frac{1}{p} \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \log^+ \max_{1 \le j \le k-1} \| \wedge^j d_{f^{\ell} x} f^p \| \right).$$

Remark:

- (1) For k = 1 and for all p, we have $\lambda_{1,p}(x) = \lambda_1(x) = \limsup_n \frac{1}{n} \log ||d_x f^n|| = \overline{\chi}(x)$.
- (2) We always have $\overline{\chi}(x) \geq \lambda_{k,p}(x)$.
- (3) When x is a typical point for an ergodic measure ν , then

$$\lambda_{k,p}(x) = \sum_{1 \le l \le k} \chi_l(\nu) - \frac{1}{p} \int \log^+ \max_{j \le k-1} \| \wedge^j d_x f^p \| d\nu(x).$$

Lemma 2.2. For any $x \in \mathbf{M}$ and $1 \le k \le d$ the sequence $(\lambda_{k,p}(x))_p$ is converging to $\lambda_k(x) := \sup_p \lambda_{k,p}(x)$.

Proof. Fix $x \in \mathbf{M}$ and $1 \le k \le d$. For all $n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$, we set

$$\alpha_p(n,x) := \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \log^+ \max_{j \le k-1} \| \wedge^j d_{f^{\ell}x} f^p \|.$$

We also let $C_f := \log^+ \max_{1 \le j \le k-1} \sup_{y \in \mathbf{M}} \| \wedge^j d_y f \|$. Observe that

$$\forall p, n \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\} \ \forall t \in \mathbb{N}, \ \alpha_p(n, f^t x) \le \alpha_p(n, x) + tpC_f.$$
 (2)

Fix $\epsilon > 0$. Take q_0 such that $\lambda_{k,q_0}(x) > \sup_q \lambda_{k,q}(x) - \epsilon/2$ and let $p_0 = \lceil \frac{2}{\epsilon} q_0 C_f \rceil$. Let us show that $\lambda_{k,p}(x) \geq \lambda_{k,q_0}(x) - \epsilon/2 > \sup_q \lambda_{k,q}(x) - \epsilon$ for any $p \geq p_0$. Observe that for $p = tq_0 + r$, $0 \leq r < q_0$, we have

$$\alpha_{p}(n,x) \leq \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \left(\log^{+} \max_{1 \leq j \leq k-1} \| \wedge^{j} d_{f^{tq_{0}+\ell_{x}}} f^{r} \| + \sum_{0 \leq t' < t} \log^{+} \max_{1 \leq j \leq k-1} \| \wedge^{j} d_{f^{t'q_{0}+\ell_{x}}} f^{q_{0}} \| \right)$$

$$\leq nrC_{f} + \sum_{0 \leq t' < t} \alpha_{q_{0}}(n, f^{t'q_{0}}x)$$

$$\leq nq_{0}C_{f} + t\alpha_{q_{0}}(n, x) + tq_{0}C_{f} \text{ by using (2)}$$

$$\leq np\frac{\epsilon}{2} + t\alpha_{q_{0}}(n, x) + tq_{0}C_{f} \text{ according to the choice of } p_{0}(\leq p).$$

Therefore,

$$\lambda_{k,p}(x) = \limsup_{n} \frac{1}{n} \left(\log \| \wedge^{k} d_{x} f^{n} \| - \frac{1}{p} \alpha_{p}(n, x) \right)$$

$$\geq \limsup_{n} \frac{1}{n} \left(\log \| \wedge^{k} d_{x} f^{n} \| - \frac{t}{p} \alpha_{q_{0}}(n, x) \right) - \frac{\epsilon}{2}$$

$$\geq \limsup_{n} \frac{1}{n} \left(\log \| \wedge^{k} d_{x} f^{n} \| - \frac{1}{q_{0}} \alpha_{q_{0}}(n, x) \right) - \frac{\epsilon}{2}$$

$$\geq \lambda_{k,q_{0}}(x) - \frac{\epsilon}{2}. \tag{3}$$

Remark:

(1) Lemma 2.2 together with the remark following Definition 2.1 implies that for a typical point x for an ergodic measure ν , $\lambda_k(x) = \chi_k(\nu) + \sum_{1 \leq l \leq k-1} \min\{\chi_l(\nu), 0\}$. In particular, when $\chi_k(x) = \chi_k(\nu) > 0$, one gets $\lambda_k(x) = \chi_k(x)$.

(2) Observe that $\lambda_d(x) \leq \limsup \frac{1}{n} \log \operatorname{Jac}_x(f^n)$. In particular $\operatorname{Vol}([\lambda_d > 0]) = 0$. If not, then there would exist a $\chi > 0$ and sets E_{n_j} s.t. $\operatorname{Vol}(E_{n_j}) \geq \frac{1}{n_j^2}$ with $E_{n_j} := \{x : \operatorname{Jac}_x(f^{n_j}) \geq e^{n_j \chi}\}, n_j \uparrow \infty$ (by the Borel-Cantelli lemma). Then $1 \geq \operatorname{Vol}(f^{n_j}[E_{n_j}]) \geq \frac{e^{\chi n_j}}{n_j^2}$, which is a contradiction.

2.2. A disk and a positive disk-volume subset.

Definition 2.3. Fix $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $k \leq \dim \mathbf{M}$, we consider the linear cocycle $A_{k,p}$ on $\wedge^k T\mathbf{M}$ over f defined as

$$\forall x \in \mathbf{M}, \ v \in \wedge^k T_x \mathbf{M}, \ A_{k,p}(x,v) := \frac{\wedge^k d_x f(v)}{\max\{1, \max_{j < k-1} \| \wedge^j d_x f^p\|^{\frac{1}{p}}\}}.$$

Remark:

- (1) The top Lyapunov exponent of $A_{k,p}$ is equal to $\lambda_{k,p}$.
- (2) When p divides q, we have $\chi_{A_{k,q}}(v) \geq \chi_{A_{k,p}}(v)$ for all $v \in \wedge^k T_x \mathbf{M}$.

Let ι be the Plücker embedding of the Grassmanian Grass $(T\mathbf{M})$ to the projective space of the exterior bundle $\mathbb{P} \wedge^* T\mathbf{M}$ (see Appendix A.2).

Lemma 2.4. Write $E := [\lambda_k > a]$ with a > 0, then if Vol(E) > 0, then $\exists \chi > a$, $p_0 \in \mathbb{N}$, and a k-disk D s.t. $\forall p \in p_0 \mathbb{N}$,

$$Vol_D([\chi_{A_{k,p}}(x,\iota(T_xD)) > \chi]) > 0.$$

Proof. Fix $\chi > a$ and $p_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ s.t. $\operatorname{Vol}(E') > 0$ where we let $E' := \{x \in E : \lambda_{k,p_0}(x) > \chi\}$. Let $\{0\} = F_0 \subset F_1 \subset \ldots \subset F_s = \wedge^k T.M, s \geq 1$ be the Lyapunov flag associated to A_{k,p_0} . By definition the Lyapunov space $F_{s-1}(x)$ is given by $F_{s-1}(x) = \{v \in \wedge^k T_x M : \chi_{A_{k,p_0}}(x,\iota(v)) < \lambda_{k,p_0}(x) := \sup_{w \in \wedge^k T_M} \chi_{A_{k,p_0}}(x,w)\}$. The map $x \mapsto F_{s-1}(x)$ is measurable (for the Borel algebra associated to the usual topology on Grassmanian), and so it is continuous on a subset $E'' \subseteq E'$ with $\operatorname{Vol}(E'') > 0$. We may choose a Lebesgue density point x of E''. Let U be a small neighborhood of x, such that $F_{s-1}(y)$ is almost constant for $y \in U \cap E''$.

We may disintegrate the volume by a family of affine k-planes H (in some local chart at x which can be assumed containing U) satisfying $\iota(H) \notin \{F_{s-1}(y), y \in U \cap E''\}$. By Fubini's theorem, there is a k-disk disk D contained in one of these planes with $\operatorname{Vol}_D(E'') > 0$. This completes the proof as we have for all $x \in D \cap E''$,

$$\chi_{A_{k,p_0}}(x,\iota(T_xD)) > \chi.$$

2.3. Sequence of finite-time expanding subsets with a sub-exponential volume.

Lemma 2.5. Let D and p_0 be given by Lemma 2.4, and let $p \in p_0 \mathbb{N}$. There exist $\chi' > \chi > a$, $\mathcal{N} \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ with $\#\mathcal{N} = \infty$ and subsets of D, $(B_n^p)_{n \in \mathcal{N}}$, s.t. for all $n \in \mathcal{N}$,

- (1) $\operatorname{Vol}_D(B_n^p) \ge \frac{2}{n^2}$,
- (2) $\forall n \in \mathcal{N}, \forall x \in B_n^p, |A_{k,p}^n(x, \iota(T_xD))| \ge e^{\chi' n}.$

Proof. This is a consequence of the Borel-Cantelli lemma applied to the set E'' from the proof of Lemma 2.4.

3. The tree description of the dynamics of a disk

In this section we aim to describe the dynamics of a disk using a tree associated with its Yomdin partitions. In [19] it was done for curves, and here we introduce an extension to high-dimensional disks (which may exhibit much more complicated geometry, lack of conformality, and non-trivial boundary). We first generalize the notion of bounded geometry to higher-dimensional disks.

3.1. Bounded geometry.

Notation: By a $C^{r-1,1}$ map F, we mean a C^{r-1} map F with Lipschitz C^{r-1} derivatives and we define the following semi-norm for $k \leq r$:

$$||d^k F|| := \max_{|\alpha|=k-1} \operatorname{Lip}(|\partial^{\alpha} F|),$$

where $\operatorname{Lip}(\cdot)$ denotes the Lipschitz constant. We also denote $||F||_r = \max_{1 \leq k \leq r} ||d_{\cdot}^k F||$.

Definition 3.1 (Bounded couple). A couple of $C^{r-1,1}$ map (σ, θ) , where $\sigma : [0,1]^k \to \mathbf{M}$ is a C^r embedding and $\theta : [0,1]^k \to [0,1]^k$ is a $C^{r-1,1}$ map, is called a bounded couple if

$$\forall s = 1, \dots, r - 1, \ \|d^s(t \mapsto \wedge^k d_{\theta(t)}\sigma)\| \le \frac{1}{10k} \sup_t |\wedge^k d_{\theta(t)}\sigma|.$$

Lemma 3.2. Let (σ, θ) be a bounded couple, then

$$\forall t, t' \in [0, 1]^k, \mid \wedge^k d_{\theta(t)} \sigma - \wedge^k d_{\theta(t')} \sigma \mid \leq \frac{1}{10} \mid \wedge^k d_{\theta(t)} \sigma \mid.$$

Proof. Let t_* be such that $|\wedge^k d_{\theta(t_*)}\sigma| = \sup_{s'} |\wedge^k d_{\theta(s')}\sigma|$. Then for any $t, t' \in [0, 1]^k$,

$$\left| | \wedge^{k} d_{\theta(t')} \sigma | - | \wedge^{k} d_{\theta(t)} \sigma | \right| \leq \left| \wedge^{k} d_{\theta(t)} \sigma - \wedge^{k} d_{\theta(t')} \sigma \right|$$

$$\leq |t - t'| \cdot \sup_{\zeta} \| d_{\zeta} \left(\cdot \mapsto \wedge^{k} d_{\theta(\cdot)} \sigma \right) \|$$

$$\leq |t - t'| \cdot \frac{1}{10k} | \wedge^{k} d_{\theta(t_{*})} \sigma |$$

$$\leq \sqrt{k} \cdot \frac{1}{10k} | \wedge^{k} d_{\theta(t_{*})} \sigma |. \tag{4}$$

Then, by letting $t' = t_*$, we obtain

$$\left(1 - \frac{1}{10\sqrt{k}}\right) |\wedge^k d_{\theta(t_*)}\sigma| \le |\wedge^k d_{\theta(t)}\sigma| \le |\wedge^k d_{\theta(t_*)}\sigma|. \tag{5}$$

Therefore, by bootstrapping (5) and plugging it back into (4), we get that for every $t, t' \in [0, 1]^k$,

$$\left| \wedge^k d_{\theta(t)} \sigma - \wedge^k d_{\theta(t')} \sigma \right| \le |t - t'| \cdot |\wedge^k d_{\theta(t)} \sigma| \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{k} (10\sqrt{k} - 1)}. \tag{6}$$

We may control the oscillation of the tangent space of a bounded couple as follows. We refer to Appendix A for the definition of the angle $\angle H$, H' between two vector spaces H and H'.

Lemma 3.3. Let (σ, θ) be a bounded couple. Then for any $x, y \in \text{Im}(\theta)$ we have

$$\angle T_x \sigma, T_y \sigma < \pi/6.$$

Proof. It follows directly from Lemma 3.2 and Lemma A.2 in the appendix. \Box

Lemma 3.4 (Bounded distortion property). Let (σ, θ) be a bounded couple. Then for any $x, y \in \text{Im}(\theta)$ we have

$$\frac{|\wedge^k d_x \sigma|}{|\wedge^k d_u \sigma|} < \sqrt{2}.$$

Proof. By (5), we have for all $t, t' \in [0, 1]^k$

$$\frac{|\wedge^k d_{\theta(t)}\sigma|}{|\wedge^k d_{\theta(t')}\sigma|} \le \frac{1}{1 - \frac{1}{10\sqrt{k}}} < \sqrt{2}.$$

Definition 3.5 (strongly ϵ -bounded couple). Let $\epsilon > 0$. A bounded couple (σ, θ) is called a strongly ϵ -bounded couple if $\|\sigma \circ \theta\|_r \leq \frac{\epsilon}{\sqrt{k}}$.

Definition 3.6 (Admissible family). Let $\epsilon > 0$ and let (σ, θ') be a bounded couple. A finite family Θ of maps $\{\theta : [0,1]^k \circlearrowleft\}_{\theta \in \Theta}$ is said to be a $(\sigma, \theta', \epsilon)$ -admissible family when

- (1) (σ, θ) is a strongly ϵ -bounded couple for any $\theta \in \Theta$,
- (2) $\coprod_{\theta \in \Theta}^{k} \operatorname{Im}(\theta) \subset \operatorname{Im}(\theta')$, where \coprod^{k} denotes a union of k-manifolds which is disjoint up to to their boundaries,
- (3) There is $x \in \text{Im}(\sigma \circ \theta)$ and a 1-Lipschitz map $\psi : H \to H^{\perp}$ with $H \subset T_x \mathbf{M}$ being the tangent space of σ at x such that

$$\Gamma_{\psi}(\epsilon) \subset \sigma(\Theta) := \coprod_{\theta \in \Theta}^{k} \operatorname{Im}(\sigma \circ \theta) \subset \Gamma_{\psi}(2\epsilon),$$

where $\Gamma_{\psi}(\delta) := \exp_x\{(v, \psi(v)) \in H \oplus H^{\perp} : |v| \leq \delta\}$ for $\delta > 0$ with \exp_x being the exponential map at x (such a set $\Gamma_{\psi}(\delta)$ is called a δ -graph).

Remark: There is a constant $C_d > 1$ such that:

(1) For any strongly ϵ -bounded couple,

$$Vol(\sigma \circ \theta) \le C_d \epsilon^k$$

(2) For any $(\sigma, \theta, \epsilon)$ -admissible family Θ' of a bounded couple (σ, θ) ,

$$C_d^{-1} \epsilon^k \le \operatorname{Vol}(\sigma(\Theta')) \le C_d e^k.$$

3.2. The tree of the disk dynamics and the Yomdin partitions.

We consider a C^r smooth diffeomorphism $g: \mathbf{M} \circlearrowleft$ and a C^r smooth embedded disk $\sigma: [0,1]^k \to \mathbf{M}$ with $\mathbb{N} \ni r > 1$. We state a global reparametrization lemma to describe the dynamics on the image of σ by generalizing the case k=1 which was established in [19]. We will apply this lemma to $g=f^p$ for large p with f being the C^r smooth system under study.

Notation:

- (1) We denote the image of σ by D.
- (2) For any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we let σ_n (resp. D_n) be the C^r embedded disk defined as $\sigma_n = g^n \circ \sigma$ (resp. $D_n = g^n(D)$).
- (3) For two maps $\theta, \theta' : [0,1]^k \circlearrowleft$ we write $\theta > \theta'$ when there is a map $\phi : [0,1]^k \circlearrowleft$ with $||d.\phi|| < 1/2$ and $\theta' = \theta \circ \phi$.
- (4) We denote by G (resp. F) the map induced by g (resp. f) on the projective space $\mathbb{P} \wedge^k TM$ of the k-th exterior tangent bundle.

(5) For $\hat{x} = (x, w_x) \in \mathbb{P} \wedge^k T\mathbf{M}$ we also write w_x for a representative with unit norm. Then we let $\mathfrak{l}(\hat{x})$, $\mathfrak{l}'(x)$ be the following integers:

$$\mathfrak{l}(\hat{x}) := \lfloor \log | \wedge^k d_x g(w_x)| \rfloor,
\mathfrak{l}'(x) := \lceil \log^+ \max_{k' < k} || \wedge^{k'} d_x g|| \rceil.$$

(6) For $x \in D$, we let $\widetilde{x} \in \mathbb{P} \wedge^k T_x \mathbf{M}$ denote the class of the tangent space to D at x, formally $\widetilde{x} = \iota(T_x D)$.

Description of the tree. We will encode the dynamics of g on the image of σ with a a directed rooted tree \mathcal{T} by making all its edges point away from the root. Moreover the nodes of our tree will be colored, either in blue or in red. The level of a node is the number of edges along the unique path between it and the root node. We let \mathcal{T}_n (resp. \mathcal{T}_n , $\overline{\mathcal{T}}_n$) be the set of nodes (resp. blue, red nodes) of level n. For all $\ell \leq n-1$ and for all $\mathbf{i}^n \in \mathcal{T}_n$, we also let $\mathcal{T}_\ell \ni \mathbf{i}^n_\ell$ be the node of level ℓ leading to \mathbf{i}^n . We assign to each node $\mathbf{i}^n \in \mathcal{T}_n$ a family of maps $\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$ such that we have for some constant $A_{r,d}$ depending only on r and d, which is specified afterwards:

- either $\mathbf{i}^n \in \overline{\mathcal{T}}_n$, then $\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$ is a $(\sigma_n, \theta'_{\mathbf{i}^n}, \epsilon)$ -admissible family with $\#\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n} < A_{r,d}$ where $\theta'_{\mathbf{i}^n}$ satisfies $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n-1}} > \theta'_{\mathbf{i}^n} > \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$ for some $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n-1}} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$ and for all $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^n} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$,
- or $\mathbf{i}^n \in \mathcal{I}_n$, then $\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n} = \{\theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}\}$ is a singleton with $(\sigma_n, \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})$ being a strongly ϵ -bounded couple with $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n-1}} > \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$ for some $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n-1}} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$. In this case we put $\theta'_{\mathbf{i}^n} = \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$.

Choice of the scale ϵ . Recall that \exp_x denotes the exponential map at x and let R_{inj} be the radius of injectivity of $(\mathbf{M}, \|\cdot\|)$. For $\frac{R_{\text{inj}}}{2} > \epsilon > 0$ we let $g_{2\epsilon}^x = g \circ \exp_x(2\epsilon \cdot) : \{w \in T_x\mathbf{M}, \|w\| \leq 1\} \to \mathbf{M}$. Then $\|d^s g_{2\epsilon}^x\|_{\infty} \leq (2\epsilon)^s \sup_{\substack{w \in T_x\mathbf{M}, \\ |w| \leq 2\epsilon}} \|d_w^s(g \circ \exp_x)\|$. In particular there

is $\epsilon_0 = \epsilon_0(g) < \frac{R_{\text{inj}}}{2}$ depending only on \mathbf{M} and $\|d_{\cdot}^s g\|_{\infty}$, $s = 1, \ldots, r$, such that $\|d_{\cdot}^s g_{2\epsilon}^x\|_{\infty} \leq 3\epsilon \|d_x g\|$ and $\|d_{\cdot}^{s'} \wedge^k dg_{2\epsilon}^x\|_{\infty} \leq 3\epsilon \|\wedge^k d_x g\|$ for all $s = 1, \ldots, r$ (resp. $s' = 1, \cdots, r - 1$), all $x \in \mathbf{M}$ and all $\epsilon \leq \epsilon_0(g)$.

Proposition 3.7. Let $\epsilon_0(g) \geq \epsilon > 0$ and let $\sigma : [0,1]^k \to \mathbf{M}$ be a strongly ϵ -bounded disk. Then there is a tree \mathcal{T} as above such that we have for some other universal constant $C_{r,d}$:

(1)
$$\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^0} = \{\theta_{\mathbf{i}^0}\} = \operatorname{Id}_{[0,1]^k} \text{ and for any } \mathbf{i}^{n-1} \in \mathcal{T}_{n-1} \text{ we have }$$

$$\sigma_{n}\left(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n-1}}\right) = \coprod_{\mathbf{i}^{n} \in \mathcal{T}_{n}, \ \mathbf{i}^{n}_{n-1} = \mathbf{i}^{n-1}}^{k} \sigma_{n}\left(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n}}\right).$$

In particular

$$\coprod_{\mathbf{i}^{n} \in \mathcal{T}_{n}}^{k} \sigma_{n}(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n}}) = \operatorname{Im}(\sigma_{n}).$$
(2) $\forall \mathbf{i}^{n-1} \in \mathcal{T}_{n-1} \text{ and for all } (\mathfrak{l}_{n}, \mathfrak{l}'_{n}) \in \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{N} \text{ we have}$

$$\# \left\{ \mathbf{i}^{n} \in \overline{\mathcal{T}}_{n} : \mathbf{i}^{n}_{n-1} = \mathbf{i}^{n-1} \text{ and} \right.$$

$$\exists x \in \sigma(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n}}), \text{ s.t. } \mathfrak{l}(G^{n-1}\widetilde{x}) = \mathfrak{l}_{n} \right\} \leq 2C_{d}^{2}e^{\mathfrak{l}_{n}},$$

$$\# \left\{ \mathbf{i}^{n} \in \mathcal{I}_{n} : \mathbf{i}^{n}_{n-1} = \mathbf{i}^{n-1} \text{ and} \right.$$

$$\exists x \in \sigma(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n}}), \text{ s.t. } \mathfrak{l}'(g^{n-1}x) = \mathfrak{l}'_{n} \right\} \leq C_{r,d}M_{g}^{\frac{3k^{2}}{r-1}}e^{\mathfrak{l}'_{n}}.$$

This statement is a global version of Proposition 7 of [18]. The proof is the content of §4.

Definition 3.8 (Yomdin partition). For $x \in D$ and $0 \le \ell \le n$ we let $\varpi_{\ell}(x)$ be the unique set of the form $\operatorname{Im}(\sigma_{\ell} \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}})$, $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}}$, containing $f^{\ell}x$. When it is clear we also write $\varpi_{\ell}(x)$ for the map $\sigma_{\ell} \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}}$.

Remark: The Yomdin partition is in fact only a partition up to a set of zero disk volume, as charts may intersect on their boundaries, a subset of co-dimension at least 1. This is enough for us, as the only reference measure which we will use will be the disk volume. We will continue to treat it as a partition henceforth.

Lemma 3.9. For every $\ell \leq n$ and $x \in D$,

$$\operatorname{diam}(g^{-(n-\ell)}[\varpi_n(x)]) \le \epsilon 2^{\ell-n}.$$

Proof. Let $\theta_{\mathbf{i}_{\ell}^n} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}_{\ell}^n}$ (resp. $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^n} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$) with $x \in \text{Im}(\sigma \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})$ (resp. $x \in \text{Im}(\sigma \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})$). We have $\theta_{\mathbf{i}_{\ell}^n} > \theta'_{\mathbf{i}_{\ell+1}^n} > \cdots > \theta'_{\mathbf{i}^n} > \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$. Therefore there is $\phi : [0, 1]^k \circlearrowleft$ with $\|d.\phi\| \leq 2^{\ell-n}$ such that $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^n} = \theta_{\mathbf{i}_{\ell}^n} \circ \phi$. Observe that $g^{-(n-\ell)}[\varpi_n(x)] = \text{Im}(\sigma_{\ell} \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})$. In particular

$$\operatorname{diam}(g^{-(n-\ell)}[\varpi_n(x)]) \leq \sqrt{k} \|d_{\cdot}(\sigma_{\ell} \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})\|$$

$$\leq \sqrt{k} \|d_{\cdot}(\sigma_{\ell} \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}})\| \cdot \|d_{\cdot}\phi\|$$

$$< \epsilon 2^{\ell-n}.$$

4. Proof of Proposition 3.7

Proposition 3.7 follows by induction on n from the following lemma.

Lemma 4.1. Let (σ, θ) be a strongly ϵ -bounded couple. Then there are maps $\phi : [0, 1]^k \circlearrowleft$, disjoint families $\overline{\Theta}_{\phi}$ and $\underline{\Theta}_{\phi}$ (maybe empty) of maps $\widetilde{\theta} : [0, 1]^k \circlearrowleft$ such that

- (1) $(g \circ \sigma, \phi)$ is a bounded couple for any ϕ ,
- (2) $(g \circ \sigma, \phi \circ \widetilde{\theta})$ is a strongly ϵ -bounded couple for any ϕ and any $\widetilde{\theta} \in \overline{\Theta}_{\phi} \cup \underline{\Theta}_{\phi}$,
- (3) $\widetilde{\theta} < \phi < \theta$ for any ϕ and any $\widetilde{\theta} \in \overline{\Theta}_{\phi} \cup \underline{\Theta}_{\phi}$,
- (4) $\overline{\Theta}_{\phi}$ is a disjoint union of $(g \circ \sigma, \phi, \epsilon)$ -admissible families, each with cardinality less than $A_{r,d}$,
- $(5) \coprod_{\phi, \ \theta' \in \overline{\Theta}_{\phi} \cup \underline{\Theta}_{\phi}}^{k} \operatorname{Im}(\phi \circ \widetilde{\theta}) = \operatorname{Im}(\theta),$
- (6) $\#\left(\bigcup_{\phi} \underline{\Theta}_{\phi}\right) \leq B_{r,d} M_g^{\frac{3k^2}{r-1}} \max_{0 \leq l < k} \|\wedge^l d.g\|_{\operatorname{Im}(\sigma \circ \theta)}$, for some universal constant $B_{r,d} > 0$.

Proof of Proposition 3.7 assuming Lemma 4.1. The proof is by induction, where the case n=0 is trivial. Assume that the statement holds for the index n, and we prove it for n+1. Let $\mathbf{i}^n \in \mathcal{T}_n$ and let $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^n} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$. We apply Lemma 4.1 to the strongly ϵ -bounded couple $(\sigma_n, \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})$. Let ϕ , $\overline{\Theta}_{\phi}$, $\underline{\Theta}_{\phi}$ be the corresponding reparametrizations. Then the red children of \mathbf{i}^n (i.e., nodes \mathbf{i}^{n+1} in $\overline{\mathcal{T}}_{n+1}$ with $\mathbf{i}_n^{n+1} = \mathbf{i}^n$) are given by the $(\sigma_{n+1}, \phi, \epsilon)$ -admissible families in $\overline{\Theta}_{\phi}$ and, in this case, we set $\theta'_{\mathbf{i}^{n+1}} = \phi$. Then, to any $\theta' \in \underline{\Theta}_{\phi}$, ϕ , we associate a blue child \mathbf{i}^{n+1} of \mathbf{i}^n with $\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n+1}} = \{\theta'\}$. Note that $\dim(\sigma_n(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})) < \epsilon$, in particular $e^{\mathbf{i}'(g^n x)} \geq \| \wedge^l d_{g^n x} g \| \geq \| \wedge^l d_{g} \|_{\mathrm{Im}(\sigma_n(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}))} / 2$ for any $l \leq k$ and for any $x \in \sigma(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})$. It follows from the last item of Lemma 4.1 that

$$\# \left\{ \mathbf{i}^{n+1} \in \underline{\mathcal{T}}_{n+1} : \mathbf{i}_{n}^{n+1} = \mathbf{i}^{n} \text{ and} \right.$$

$$\exists x \in \sigma(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n+1}}), \ s.t. \ \mathfrak{l}'(g^{n}x) = \mathfrak{l}'_{n+1} \right\}$$

$$\leq \sum_{\substack{\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n}}, \\ \max_{l < k} \| \wedge^{l} dg \|_{\operatorname{Im}(\sigma_{n} \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n}})} \leq 2e^{\mathfrak{l}'_{n+1}}}$$

$$\leq 2A_{r} dB_{r} dM_{q}^{\frac{3k^{2}}{r-1}} e^{\mathfrak{l}'_{n+1}}.$$

The upper bound on the number of red children \mathbf{i}^{n+1} in Proposition 3.7 follows from the fact that the volume of $\sigma_{n+1}(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n+1}})$ is bounded from

below by $C_d^{-1} \epsilon^k$ as it contains an ϵ -graph in this case (see the remark after Definition 3.6).

The proof of Lemma 4.1 involves the following form of Yomdin-Gromov algebraic lemma. Recall $\|\phi\|_r = \max_{1 \le k \le r} \|d_{\cdot}^k \phi\|$.

Lemma 4.2 (Algebraic Lemma). [26, 16, 40, 10] Let $P : [0,1]^k \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be a polynomial map with total degree less than or equal to r and let Y be a bounded semi-algebraic set of \mathbb{R}^d . Then there is a constant $B_{r,d}$ depending only $r, d, \deg(Y), \dim(Y)$ and semi-algebraic analytic injective maps $\theta_i : (0,1)^{k_i} \to [0,1]^k$, $k_i \leq k$, $i \in I$, such that

- (1) $\#I \leq B_{r,d}$,
- (2) $\|\theta_i\|_r$, $\|P \circ \theta_i\|_r \le \frac{1}{100d}$,
- (3) $\coprod_{i \in I}^{k} \operatorname{Im}(\theta_{i}) = P^{-1}[Y].$

Remark:

- (1) The maps θ_i may be continuously extended on $[0,1]^{k_i}$ as θ_i satisfies $||d.\theta_i|| \le ||\theta_i||_r \le 1$.
- (2) In the following we may only focus on the reparametrizations θ_i with $k_i = k$ as the image of the others have zero k-volume.
- (3) By the invariance of domain theorem the image of each map $\theta_i:(0,1)^k\to\mathbb{R}^k$ is open and each θ_i is a homeomorphism onto its image.
- (4) The boundary of a semi-algebraic set has zero Lebesgue measure, therefore so does $\theta_i(\partial[0,1]^k) = \partial\theta_i((0,1)^k)$.

We will make use of the two following well-known multivariate formulas for the derivatives of a product and a composition of C^r functions on \mathbb{R}^d . For positive integers m, p, q we let $M_{p,q}(\mathbb{R})$ be the set of real valued $p \times q$ matrices and we denote $A \cdot B \in M_{p,m}(\mathbb{R})$ the product of two matrices $A \in M_{p,q}(\mathbb{R})$ and $B \in M_{q,m}(\mathbb{R})$. We have with the standard multi-index notations:

• General Leibniz rule: Let $u: \mathbb{R}^d \to M_{p,q}(\mathbb{R})$ and $v: \mathbb{R}^d \to M_{q,m}(\mathbb{R})$ be C^r maps, then for any $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \dots, \alpha_d) \in \mathbb{N}^d$ with $|\alpha| := \sum_i \alpha_i \leq r$, we have

$$\partial^{\alpha}(u \cdot v) = \sum_{\beta:\beta \leq \alpha} {\alpha \choose \beta} (\partial^{\beta} u) \cdot (\partial^{\alpha-\beta} v). \tag{7}$$

• Faà di Bruno's formula: Let $u : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ and $v = (v_1, \dots, v_d) : \mathbb{R}^e \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be C^r maps, then for any $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^e$ with $|\alpha| \leq r$, we

have

$$\partial^{\alpha}(u \circ v) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathbb{N}^{d}, |\beta| \le |\alpha|} (\partial^{\beta} u) \circ v \times P_{\beta} \left((\partial^{\gamma} v_{i})_{\gamma, i} \right), \tag{8}$$

where $P_{\beta}\left((\partial^{\gamma}v_i)_{\gamma,i}\right)$ is a universal polynomial, in $\partial^{\gamma}v_i$ for i= $1, \dots, d$ and $\gamma \in \mathbb{N}^{\acute{e}}$ with $|\gamma| \leq |\alpha|$, of total degree less than or equal to $|\alpha|$.

Lemma 4.3. Let (σ, θ) be a bounded couple. There is a constant $E_{r,d} > 1$ such that for any C^r map $\psi : [0,1]^k \circlearrowleft with <math>\|\psi\|_r \leq \frac{1}{E_{r,d}}$, the pair $(\sigma, \theta \circ \psi)$ is a bounded couple.

Proof. By Faà di Bruno's formula, we have for some constant $E_{r,d} > 1$ when $\|\psi\|_r \leq 1$

$$\| \wedge^k d_{\phi \circ \psi(\cdot)} \sigma \|_{r-1} \leq \frac{E_{r,d}}{\sqrt{2}} \| \wedge^k d_{\phi(\cdot)} \sigma \|_{r-1} \| \psi \|_r$$
$$\leq \frac{E_{r,d}}{10k\sqrt{2}} \| \wedge^k d_{\phi(\cdot)} \sigma \| \| \psi \|_r.$$

By Lemma 3.4 we have

$$\| \wedge^k d_{\phi(\cdot)} \sigma \| \le \sqrt{2} \| \wedge^k d_{\phi \circ \psi(\cdot)} \sigma \|$$

Therefore $(\sigma, \theta \circ \psi)$ is a bounded couple whenever $\|\psi\|_r \leq \frac{1}{E_{r,d}}$

Proof of Lemma 4.1. Without loss of generality we may assume (by an appropriate rescaling through local charts $g \to \epsilon^{-1} g(\epsilon)$ and $\sigma \to \epsilon^{-1} \sigma$ $\mathbf{M} = \mathbb{R}^d$, $||g||_r \leq ||d.g||$, $|| \wedge^k d.g||_{r-1} \leq || \wedge^k d.g||$ and $\epsilon = 1$ by an appropriate rescaling, namely $g \to \epsilon^{-1} g(\epsilon)$ and $\sigma \to \epsilon^{-1} \sigma$.

Step 1: We first explicit a family of maps ϕ such that

- (1) $\coprod_{\phi}^{k} \operatorname{Im}(\phi) = \operatorname{Im}(\theta)$, (2) $(g \circ \sigma, \phi)$ is a bounded couple,
- (3) $||d_{\cdot}^{r}(g \circ \sigma \circ \phi)|| \leq 1/4,$ (4) $\#\{\phi\} \leq C_{r,d} M_g^{\frac{3k^2}{r-1}}.$

In the next computations we write $a \lesssim b$ to mean $a \leq C_{r,d}b$ for some constant $C_{r,d}$ depending only on r and d. Let $\Gamma: t \mapsto \wedge^k d_{\theta(t)}(g \circ \sigma)$

and let s with $\|\Gamma(s)\| = \inf_t \|\Gamma(t)\|$. We have

$$\begin{split} \|d_{\cdot}^{r-1}\Gamma\| &\leq \|d_{\cdot}^{r-1}(\wedge^k d_{\sigma\circ\theta(t)}g\cdot\wedge^k d_{\theta(t)}\sigma)\| \\ &\lesssim \|\wedge^k d_{\sigma\circ\theta(\cdot)}g\|_{r-1}\|\wedge^k d_{\theta(\cdot)\sigma}\|_{r-1} \text{ (by Leibniz rule (7))} \\ &\lesssim \|\wedge^k d_{\sigma\circ\theta(\cdot)}g\|_{r-1}\|\wedge^k d_{\theta(s)}\sigma\| \text{ ($\cdot\cdot$ } (\sigma,\theta) \text{ is a bounded couple)} \\ &\lesssim \|\wedge^k d_{\cdot}g\|_{r-1} \max\{1,\|\sigma\circ\theta\|_r\}^{r-1}\|\wedge^k d_{\theta(s)}\sigma\| \text{ (by (8))} \\ &\lesssim \|\wedge^k d_{\cdot}g\|_{r-1}\|\wedge^k d_{\theta(s)}\sigma\| \text{ ($\cdot\cdot$ } (\sigma,\theta) \text{ is a strongly 1-bounded couple)} \\ &\lesssim \|\wedge^k d_{\cdot}g\|\|\wedge^k d_{\theta(s)}\sigma\| \text{ (by the choice of ϵ)} \\ &\lesssim \|d_{\cdot}g\|^k\|\wedge^k d_{\theta(s)}\sigma\| \\ &\lesssim \|d_{\cdot}g\|^k\|d_{\cdot}g^{-1}\|^k\|\wedge^k d_{\theta(t)}(g\circ\sigma)\| \\ &\lesssim M_g^{2k} \inf_t \|\Gamma(t)\|. \end{split}$$

We partition $[0,1]^k$ into subcubes of size $\lesssim \left(M_g^{2k}\right)^{\frac{-1}{r-1}}$. By composing θ with an affine reparametrization of one of these sub-cubes, we get maps ψ satisfying $\|d^r(g \circ \sigma \circ \psi)\| \leq 1/4$ and $\|d^{r-1}(\Gamma \circ \psi)\| \lesssim \inf_t \|\Gamma(t)\|$. Let P be the interpolation polynomial of Γ at 0. Note that

$$\|\Gamma \circ \psi - P\|_{r-1} \lesssim \inf_{t} \|\Gamma(t)\|.$$

We apply the Algebraic Lemma (Lemma 4.2) to each $P_{\mathfrak{l}} := \frac{P(t)}{e^{\mathfrak{l}} \| \wedge^k d_{\psi(\cdot)} \sigma) \|}$, $\mathfrak{l} \in \mathbb{N}^*$, with $Y = B(0,1) \setminus B(0,1/e)$ (recall B(0,a) denotes the Euclidean ball of radius a > 0). Let $\theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}$ be the obtained reparametrizations. We have

$$\|(\Gamma \circ \psi - P) \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}\|_{r-1} \lesssim \|\Gamma \circ \psi - P\|_{r-1} \max\{1, \|\theta_i^{\ell}\|_r\}^{r-1} \qquad (9)$$

$$\leq \frac{\inf_t \|\Gamma(t)\|}{100d} \qquad (10)$$

and

$$\forall t, \ e^{\mathfrak{l}-1} \| \wedge^k d_{\psi(\cdot)} \sigma \| \le \| P \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}(t) \| \le e^{\mathfrak{l}} \| \wedge^k d_{\psi(\cdot)} \sigma \|. \tag{11}$$

From (9) we get

$$\forall t, \ \frac{10}{11} \|P \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}(t)\| \leq \|\Gamma \circ \psi \circ \theta_i^{\ell}(t)\| \leq \frac{10}{9} \|P \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}(t)\|$$

then by using (11)

$$\forall t, \ e^{\mathfrak{l}-2} \| \wedge^k d_{\psi(\cdot)} \sigma \| \leq \| \Gamma \circ \psi \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}(t) \| \leq e^{\mathfrak{l}+2} \| \wedge^k d_{\psi(\cdot)} \sigma \|.$$

Finally we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\Gamma \circ \psi \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}\|_{r-1} &\leq \|P \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}\|_{r-1} + \|(\Gamma \circ \psi - P) \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}\|_{r-1} \\ &\leq e^{\mathfrak{l}} \frac{\|\wedge^k d_{\psi(\cdot)}\sigma\|}{100d} + \frac{\inf_t \|\Gamma(t)\|}{100d} \\ &\leq \frac{\|\Gamma \circ \psi \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}\|e^2}{100d} + \frac{\inf_t \|\Gamma(t)\|}{100d} \\ &\leq \frac{\|\Gamma \circ \psi \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}}\|}{10k}. \end{split}$$

This proves $(g \circ \sigma, \psi \circ \theta_i^{\mathfrak{l}})$ is a bounded couple. Finally we check:

$$\|d_{\cdot}^{r}(g \circ \sigma \circ \psi \circ \theta_{i}^{I})\| \lesssim \|g\|_{r} \max\{1, \|\sigma \circ \theta\|_{r}\}^{r} \text{ (by (8)}$$

 $\lesssim \|g\|_{r} (\cdot \cdot (\sigma, \theta) \text{ is a strongly 1-bounded couple}$
 $\lesssim \|d_{\cdot}g\| \text{ (by the choice of } \epsilon).$

By composing θ_i^{ℓ} with affine contractions ρ of rate $\lceil \|d.g\|^{-\frac{1}{r}} \rceil$ as above, we get maps $\phi = \theta \circ \psi \circ \theta_i^{\ell} \circ \rho$ satisfying the three first items of Step 1. Finally observe that

$$\begin{split} \#\{\phi\} &\leq \#\{\psi\} \cdot \#\{\theta_i^{\ell}\} \cdot \#\{\rho\} \\ &\lesssim M_g^{\frac{2k^2}{r-1}} \lceil \|d_{\cdot}g\|^{\frac{1}{r}} \rceil^k \\ &\lesssim M_g^{\frac{3k^2}{r-1}}. \end{split}$$

Step 2: We construct the families $\underline{\Theta}_{\phi}$ and estimate their cardinality.

We set $\widetilde{\sigma} = g \circ \sigma \circ \phi$. Let \mathcal{C} be the partition of \mathbb{R}^d into cubes of size 1 with vertices in \mathbb{Z}^d . We may assume that there is a k-face $F_k(C)$ of each cube C which is tangent to $\operatorname{Im}(d_{\phi(x_C)}(g \circ \sigma))$ with x_C being the center of C. Without loss of generality we may assume this face is given by $[0,1]^k \times \{0\}^{d-k} + a$ for some $a \in \mathbb{Z}^d$. For $C \in \mathcal{C}$ and $q \in \mathbb{N}$ we let C^q be the cube of size 2q + 1 centered at C.

Let Q be the interpolation polynomial of $\widetilde{\sigma}$ at 0. Recall $||d^r\widetilde{\sigma}|| \leq 1/4$. Then $||\widetilde{\sigma} - Q|| \leq 1$, in particular for any $C \in \mathcal{C}$ we have

$$\widetilde{\sigma}^{-1}C \subset Q^{-1}C^1 \subset \widetilde{\sigma}^{-1}C^2.$$

We apply now the Algebraic Lemma to Q with Y being each cube C in C. Let Θ_C be the family of reparametrizations obtained in this way. Note that $\|\widetilde{\sigma} \circ \theta\|_r \leq 1/4$. Without loss of generality we may also assume $\|\theta\|_r \leq \frac{1}{E_{r,d}}$ so that $(g \circ \sigma, \phi \circ \theta)$ is a strongly 1-bounded couple for any $\theta \in \Theta_C$ by Lemma 4.3.

We let $\partial \operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma})$ be the boundary of the disk $\operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma})$. Note that $\partial \operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) = \widetilde{\sigma}(\partial [0,1]^k)$. Then we have

$$\#\{C \in \mathcal{C}: C \cap \operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) \neq \varnothing \text{ and } C^3 \cap \partial \operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) \neq \varnothing\}
\lesssim \operatorname{Cov}(\operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}|_{\partial[0,1]^k}), 1)
\lesssim \max_{0 \le l < k} \| \wedge^l d.\widetilde{\sigma} \|, \text{ by Lemma B.1}
\lesssim \max_{0 \le l < k} \| \wedge^l d.g \|_{\operatorname{Im}(\sigma \circ \phi)}, \therefore \| d.(\sigma \circ \phi) \| \le 1.$$

We let $\underline{\Theta}_{\phi}$ be the union of Θ_C over $C \in \mathcal{C}$ with $C \cap \operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) \neq \emptyset$ and $C^3 \cap \partial \operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) \neq \emptyset$.

Step 3: for $\Theta_C \ni \theta \notin \underline{\Theta}_{\phi}$, the intersection $\operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) \cap C$ is contained in graphs of 1-Lipschitz maps $\psi_j, j \in J_C$ over $F_k(C)$.

Let $C \in \mathcal{C}$ with $C \cap \operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) \neq \emptyset$ and $C^3 \cap \partial \operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) = \emptyset$. Recall that $\widetilde{\sigma} = g \circ \sigma \circ \phi$ with $(g \circ \sigma, \phi)$ being a bounded couple. By Lemma 3.3 and Lemma A.3, the disk $\operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma})$ is locally at $x \in \operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) \cap C$ a graph of a 1-Lipschitz map $g: U \subset \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^{n-k}$, which may be extended on $F_k(C)$ as $C^3 \cap \partial \operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) = \emptyset$. Then $\operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) \cap C$ is contained in the disjoint union of such graphs. These graphs are not contained in C a priori but in C^3 .

Step 4: We construct the admissible families in $\overline{\Theta}_{\phi}$.

We enumerate the cubes C satisfying $C^3 \cap \partial \operatorname{Im}(g \circ \sigma \circ \theta) = \emptyset$ as C_1, C_2, \dots, C_N . For any i, we let $\psi_j, j \in J_i$ be the Lipschitz maps over $F_k(C_i)$ given by the previous step whose disjoints graphs cover (and intersect) $\operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma}) \cap C_i$.

We continue to construct the admissible families by induction on i = 1, ..., N. For any $j \in J_1$ we let $\Theta'_{j,1}$ be the union of $\theta \in \bigcup_C \Theta_C$ with $\operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma} \circ \theta) \cap \Gamma_{\psi_j} \neq \emptyset$. Assume for simplicity that $C_1 = [0, 1]^d$. Then $\widetilde{\sigma}(\Theta'_{j,1})$ is contained in $[-1/4, 5/4]^k \times \mathbb{R}^{d-k}$. The number of such θ 's is bounded by $\sum_{C \in \mathcal{C}, C \cap C_1^3 \neq \emptyset} \#\Theta_C \leq 7^d B_{r,d} =: A_{r,d}$. The families $\Theta'_{j,1}$ are $(g \circ \sigma, \phi, \epsilon)$ -admissible family.

Then for any $j \in J_2$ we let $\Theta'_{j,2}$ be the union of $\theta \in \bigcup_C \Theta_C \setminus (\bigcup_{j \in J_1} \Theta'_{j,1})$ with $\operatorname{Im}(\widetilde{\sigma} \circ \theta) \cap \Gamma_{\psi_j} \neq \emptyset$ and so on. Observe that for $j \in J_2$, the graph Γ_{ψ_j} may intersect the image of the previously built admissible family $\Theta'_{j',1}$, $j' \in J_1$ (assume for example $C_2 = [1,2] \times [0,1]^{d-1}$). However $\widetilde{\sigma}(\Theta'_{j,2})$ still contain the graph of ψ_j over $[5/4,7/4] \times [0,1]^{k-1} \times$

 $\{0\}^{d-k}$. One may continue this way by induction to construct the required $(g \circ \sigma, \phi, \epsilon)$ -admissible families $\Theta'_{i,i}, j \in J_i, i = 1, \dots, N$.

5. Positive density of geometric times

We consider a C^r diffeomorphism $f: \mathbf{M} \circlearrowleft \text{with Vol}([\lambda_k > \frac{3k^2}{r-1}R(f)]) >$ 0 (as assumed in Theorem E). Let p, D and $\chi > a = \frac{3k^2}{r-1}R(f)$ given by Lemma 2.4. We consider the tree \mathcal{T} associated to $g = f^p$ and to the k-disc D given by Proposition 3.7.

Definition 5.1. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}^* \cup \{\infty\}$ and for all $x \in D$ we define:

$$\mathfrak{l}^n(x) = (\mathfrak{l}_i(\widetilde{x}), \mathfrak{l}'_i(x))_{0 \le i < n} = (\mathfrak{l}(G^i \widetilde{x}), \mathfrak{l}'(g^i x))_{0 \le i < n}.$$

Lemma 5.2. For any $\mathbf{i}^n \in \mathcal{T}_n$ we have

- (1) If $x, y \in \text{Im}(\sigma \circ \theta'_{\mathbf{i}^n})$, then $|\mathfrak{l}_{n-1}(\widetilde{x}) \mathfrak{l}_{n-1}(\widetilde{y})| \leq 1$, (2) if $x, y \in \sigma(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})$, then $|\mathfrak{l}_i(\widetilde{x}) \mathfrak{l}_i(\widetilde{y})|, |\mathfrak{l}'_i(x) \mathfrak{l}'_i(y)| \leq 1$ for all 0 < i < n.
- (1) There is $\theta_{\mathbf{i}_{n-1}^n} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}_{n-1}^n}$ such that $\theta'_{\mathbf{i}^n} < \theta_{\mathbf{i}_{n-1}^n}$. Observe Proof. that $(\sigma_n, \theta'_{\mathbf{i}^n})$ and $(\sigma_{n-1}, \theta_{\mathbf{i}^n_{n-1}})$ are bounded couples. Therefor by the bounded distorsion property, we have for any $t, s \in$ $\operatorname{Im}(\theta'_{i^n})$:

$$\frac{|\wedge^k d_t \sigma_n|}{|\wedge^k d_s \sigma_n|} < \sqrt{2} \text{ and } \frac{|\wedge^k d_s \sigma_{n-1}|}{|\wedge^k d_s \sigma_{n-1}|} < \sqrt{2},$$

therefore we get with $x = \sigma(t), y = \sigma(s)$

$$\frac{|\wedge^k dg(G^{n-1}(\widetilde{x}))|}{|\wedge^k dg(G^{n-1}(\widetilde{y}))|} \le 2 \ (< e), \tag{12}$$

finally

$$|\mathfrak{l}_{n-1}(\widetilde{x}) - \mathfrak{l}_{n-1}(\widetilde{y})| \le 1.$$

(2) For any $x, y \in \sigma(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})$, the points $f^i x$ and $f^i y$ are ϵ -close for any $0 \le i < n$. According to the choice of ϵ , we have

$$\frac{\max_{k' < k} \| \wedge^{k'} d_{f^i x} g \|}{\max_{k' < k} \| \wedge^{k'} d_{f^i y} g \|} \le 2,$$

therefore

$$\forall i < n, \ |\mathfrak{l}'_i(x) - \mathfrak{l}'_i(y)| \le 1.$$

The inequalities $|\mathfrak{l}_i(\widetilde{x}) - \mathfrak{l}_i(\widetilde{y})| \leq 1$ follows from item (1) as we have $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^n} < \theta'_{\mathbf{i}^n}$ for any $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^n} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}$.

Definition 5.3. For a 2*n*-tuple of integers $\mathfrak{l}^n = (\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}'_i)_{0 \leq i < n}$ we consider then

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n) := \{ x \in D : \mathfrak{l}^n(\widetilde{x}) = \mathfrak{l}^n \}.$$

Definition 5.4. For a parameter $\widehat{\chi} > 0$, $n \in \mathbb{N}^* \cup \{\infty\}$ and a sequence $\mathfrak{l}^n = (\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}'_i)_{0 \leq i < n} \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$, an integer $\ell \in [0, n]$ is said to be $(\widehat{\chi}, \mathfrak{l}^n)$ -hyperbolic when

$$\forall 0 \le i \le \ell, \ \sum_{i \le j < \ell} \mathfrak{l}_j - \mathfrak{l}'_j \ge (\ell - i)\widehat{\chi}.$$

Lemma 5.5. Let $x \in D$ and $\hat{\chi} > 0$. For any $(\widehat{\chi}, \mathfrak{l}^{\infty}(x))$ -hyperbolic time ℓ , we have

$$\forall v \in T_{g^{\ell}x} D_{\ell} \ \forall 0 \le i \le \ell, \ |d_{g^{i}x} g^{\ell-i} v| \ge e^{(\ell-i)\widehat{\chi}} |v|.$$

Proof. We have for all $0 \le j < \ell$ (recall §3.2),

$$e^{\mathbb{I}(G^{j}\widetilde{x})-\mathbb{I}'(g^{j}x)} \leq \frac{|\wedge^{k} d_{g^{j}x}g(G^{j}\widetilde{x})|}{\max_{k'< k} ||\wedge^{k'} d_{g^{j}x}g||}$$

$$\leq \frac{|\wedge^{k} d_{g^{j}x}g(G^{j}\widetilde{x})|}{||\wedge^{k-1} d_{g^{j}x}g|_{T_{g^{j}x}D_{j}}||}$$

$$\leq \inf\{|d_{g^{j}x}g(u)|: u \in T_{g^{j}x}D_{j} \text{ and } |u| = 1\}.$$
 (13)

Observe then that

$$|d_{g^{i}x}g^{\ell-i}v| \geq |v| \cdot \prod_{i \leq j < m} \inf\{|d_{g^{j}x}g(u)| : u \in T_{g^{j}x}D_{j} \text{ and } |u| = 1\}$$

$$\geq |v| \cdot \prod_{i \leq j < \ell} e^{\mathfrak{l}_{j}(x) - \mathfrak{l}'_{j}(x)}, : (13)$$

$$\geq |v| \cdot e^{(\ell-i)\widehat{\chi}}, : \ell \text{ is } (\widehat{\chi}, \mathfrak{l}^{\infty}(x)) - hyperbolic.$$

The lemma then follows easily from the definition of $\widehat{\chi}$ -hyperbolic sequence.

Remark: By Lemma 5.2, if $x, y \in \sigma(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n})$ for some $\mathbf{i}^n \in \mathcal{T}_n$, then $|\mathfrak{l}_i(x) - \mathfrak{l}_i(y)|, |\mathfrak{l}_i'(x) - \mathfrak{l}_i'(y)| \leq 1$, for all i < n, therefore if $\ell \in [0, n]$ is $(\widehat{\chi}, \mathfrak{l}^{\infty}(x))$ -hyperbolic then ℓ is $(\widehat{\chi} - 2, \mathfrak{l}^{\infty}(y))$ -hyperbolic. We apply later this remark with $\widehat{\chi} = p\chi + 2$.

We recall Pliss Lemma in this context.

Lemma 5.6. Let $\mathfrak{l}^n = (\mathfrak{l}_i, \mathfrak{l}'_i)_{0 \leq i < n}$ be a sequence with $\sum_{0 \leq i < n} \mathfrak{l}_i - \mathfrak{l}'_i \geq n \widehat{\chi}' > 0$. Then for any $0 < \widehat{\chi} < \widehat{\chi}'$ we have for $A = \sup_i (\mathfrak{l}_i - \mathfrak{l}'_i) \leq n \widehat{\chi}'$

 $\log \| \wedge^k d.g \|,$

$$\frac{1}{n} \# \left\{ 0 \le \ell < n : \ell \text{ is } (\widehat{\chi}, \mathfrak{l}^n) \text{-hyperbolic} \right\} \ge \frac{\widehat{\chi}' - \widehat{\chi}}{A - \widehat{\chi}}.$$

Definition 5.7. For all $x \in D$ and all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we define:

$$\mathfrak{u}_n(x) = 1 \text{ if } x \in \sigma(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^n}) \text{ with } \mathbf{i}^n \in \overline{\mathcal{T}}_n,$$

$$= 0 \text{ if not.}$$

Given $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we set

$$\mathfrak{u}^n(x) = (\mathfrak{u}_i(x))_{0 \le i < n}.$$

Definition 5.8. For a n-tuple of $\mathfrak{u}^n = (\mathfrak{u}_i)_{0 \le i \le n}$ we consider

$$\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n) := \{ x \in D : \mathfrak{u}^n(x) = \mathfrak{u}^n \} .$$

Notation:

- (1) For two sequences \mathfrak{l}^n and \mathfrak{u}^n and for $0 \leq \ell < n$ we denote by \mathfrak{l}^n_ℓ and \mathfrak{u}^n_ℓ respectively the sequence of suffices given by the $n \ell$ last terms of \mathbf{l}^n and \mathfrak{u}^n .
- (2) To simplify the notations, we write $\sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}}$ for $\sigma(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}})$ and $\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}}$ for $f^{\ell} \circ \sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}} = \sigma_{\ell}(\Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}})$.
- (3) We also denote by $\operatorname{Vol}_{\overline{\sigma}}$ the normalized volume probability measure on a disjoint finite union $\overline{\sigma}$ of discs.

The following lemma is a key estimate in the proof of Proposition 5.18.

Lemma 5.9. Given \mathfrak{t}^n and \mathfrak{u}^n , we consider a triple of integers (ℓ_0, ℓ_1, ℓ_2) with $0 \le \ell_0 < \ell_1 \le \ell_2 < n$ satisfying:

- (1) $\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_0} = 1$,
- (2) ℓ_1 is $(\widehat{\chi}, \mathfrak{l}^n)$ -hyperbolic,
- (3) $\mathfrak{u}_{\ell} = 0 \text{ for any } \ell \in [\ell_0 + 1, \ell_1].$

Then, for some universal constant $D_{r,d} > 0$ we have

$$\begin{split} &\sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_0}} \operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{i^{\ell_0}}} \left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n_{\ell_0}) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n_{\ell_0}) \right) \\ &\leq D_{r,d}^{\ell_1 - \ell_0} M_g^{\frac{3k^2(\ell_1 - \ell_0)}{r - 1}} e^{-(\ell_1 - \ell_0)\widehat{\chi}} \sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_2}} \operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_2}}} \left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n_{\ell_2}) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n_{\ell_2}) \right). \end{split}$$

Proof. Observe that

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}} \left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^{n}_{\ell_{1}}) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^{n}_{\ell_{1}}) \right) \\ \leq & \sum_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{2}:}} \frac{\operatorname{Vol}(f^{\ell_{1}} \circ \sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{2}}})}{\operatorname{Vol}(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}})} \frac{\operatorname{Vol} \left(f^{\ell_{1}} \sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{2}}} \cap \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^{n}_{\ell_{1}}) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^{n}_{\ell_{1}}) \right)}{\operatorname{Vol}(f^{\ell_{1}} \circ \sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{2}}})}. \end{split}$$

It follows from the bounded distortion property that for all \mathbf{i}^{ℓ_2} we have

$$\frac{\operatorname{Vol}\left(f^{\ell_1}\sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_2}}\cap\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n_{\ell_1})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n_{\ell_1})\right)}{\operatorname{Vol}(f^{\ell_1}\circ\sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_2}})}\leq 4\frac{\operatorname{Vol}\left(f^{\ell_2}\sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_2}}\cap\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n_{\ell_2})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n_{\ell_2})\right)}{\operatorname{Vol}(f^{\ell_2}\circ\sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_2}})}.$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}}\left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\right) &\leq 4\sum_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{2}}:\,\mathbf{i}_{\ell_{1}}^{\ell_{2}}=\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}} \frac{\operatorname{Vol}(f^{\ell_{1}}\circ\sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{2}}})}{\operatorname{Vol}(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}})} \operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{2}}}}\left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{2}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{2}}^{n})\right) \\ &\leq 4\sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{2}}} \operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{2}}}}\left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{2}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{2}}^{n})\right). \end{split}$$

To conclude the desired statement, we are only left to show that for some constant $D_{r,d}$

$$\begin{split} &\sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_0}} \operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{i^{\ell_0}}} \left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n) \right) \\ &\leq \frac{D_{r,d}^{\ell_1 - \ell_0}}{4} M_g^{\frac{3k^2(\ell_1 - \ell_0)}{r - 1}} e^{-(\ell_1 - \ell_0)\widehat{\chi}} \sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_1}} \operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_1}}} \left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n_{\ell_1}) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n_{\ell_1}) \right). \end{split}$$

For any $\ell \in [\ell_0 + 1, \ell_1]$ and for any $x \in \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n)$, we have $\mathfrak{u}_{\ell}(x) = 0$. Therefore by Proposition 3.7,

$$\#\{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_1}: \mathbf{i}_{\ell_0}^{\ell_1} = \mathbf{i}^{\ell_0} \text{ and } \operatorname{Im}(\sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_1}}) \cap \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n) \neq \varnothing\} \\
\leq \left(C_{r,d}M_g^{\frac{3k^2}{r-1}}\right)^{\ell_1-\ell_0} e^{\sum_{\ell_0 < j \leq \ell_1} \mathfrak{l}'_j}.$$

Then, in particular,

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{Vol}\left(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{0}}}\cap\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{0}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{0}}^{n})\right) \leq \sum_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}:\,\mathbf{i}_{\ell_{0}}^{r_{1}}=\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{0}}} &\operatorname{Vol}(f^{\ell_{0}}\sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\cap\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{0}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{0}}^{n})) \\ &\leq 4\left(2C_{r,d}M_{g}^{\frac{3k^{2}}{r-1}}\right)^{\ell_{1}-\ell_{0}} e^{\ell_{0} \leq j \leq \ell_{1}} \sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{j}}} &\operatorname{Vol}(f^{\ell_{0}}\sigma_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\cap\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{0}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{0}}^{n})) \\ &\leq 4\left(4C_{r,d}M_{g}^{\frac{3k^{2}}{r-1}}\right)^{\ell_{1}-\ell_{0}} e^{\ell_{0} \leq j \leq \ell_{1}} \sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{j}}} &\operatorname{Vol}\left(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\cap\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\right) \\ &\leq 4\left(4C_{r,d}M_{g}^{\frac{3k^{2}}{r-1}}\right)^{\ell_{1}-\ell_{0}} e^{(\ell_{0}-\ell_{1})\widehat{\chi}} \sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}} &\operatorname{Vol}\left(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\cap\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\right) \\ &\leq 4\left(4C_{r,d}M_{g}^{\frac{3k^{2}}{r-1}}\right)^{\ell_{1}-\ell_{0}} e^{(\ell_{0}-\ell_{1})\widehat{\chi}} \sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}} &\operatorname{Vol}\left(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\cap\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\right), \\ &\therefore \ell_{1} \text{ is } \widehat{\chi}\text{-hyperbolic.} \end{aligned}$$

As $\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_0} = 1$, we have \mathbf{i}^{ℓ_0} belongs to $\overline{\mathcal{T}}_{\ell_0}$. By the remark following Definition 3.6, we have $\operatorname{Vol}(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_0}}) \geq C_d^{-1} \epsilon^k \geq C_d^{-2} \operatorname{Vol}(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_1}})$ for some constant C_d , so that we finally get for any i^{ℓ_0} :

$$\operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{0}}}}\left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{0}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{0}}^{n})\right) \leq \frac{\operatorname{Vol}\left(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{0}}}\cap\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{0}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{0}}^{n})\right)}{\operatorname{Vol}(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{0}}})}$$

$$\leq 4C_{d}\epsilon^{-k}\left(4C_{r,d}M_{g}^{\frac{3k^{2}}{r-1}}\right)^{\ell_{1}-\ell_{0}}$$

$$\cdot e^{(\ell_{0}-\ell_{1})\widehat{\chi}}\sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\operatorname{Vol}\left(\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\cap\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\right)$$

$$\leq 4C_{d}^{2}\left(4C_{r,d}M_{g}^{\frac{3k^{2}}{r-1}}\right)^{\ell_{1}-\ell_{0}}$$

$$\cdot e^{(\ell_{0}-\ell_{1})\widehat{\chi}}\sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{\ell_{1}}}\left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\right).$$

This concludes the proof with $D_{r,d} = 4^3 C_d^2 C_{r,d}$.

Definition 5.10. For all sequences \mathfrak{l}^n and \mathfrak{u}^n , we set with $\widehat{\chi} := p\chi + 2$

$$H(\mathfrak{l}^n) := \{ \ell \in [0, n) : \ell \text{ is } (\widehat{\chi}, \mathfrak{l}^n) \text{-hyperbolic} \}$$

and

$$BG(\mathfrak{u}^n) := \{ \ell \in [0, n) : \ \mathfrak{u}_{\ell} = 1 \}.$$

Lemma 5.11. For all sequences \mathfrak{l}^n and \mathfrak{u}^n , we have

$$\operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma}\left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n)\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n)\right) \leq 4D_{r,d}^n \left(M_g^{\frac{3k^2}{p(r-1)}}e^{-\chi}\right)^{p\#\left(H(\mathfrak{l}^n)\backslash \operatorname{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n)\right)}.$$

Proof. Fix sequences \mathfrak{l}^n and \mathfrak{u}^n .

Claim: There are integers $0 \le \ell_0 < \ell_0' < \ell_1 < \ell_1' < \dots < \ell_a' < n$ such that:

- $\begin{aligned} \bullet & \forall i = 0, \cdots, q, \ \ell_i \in \mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n), \\ \bullet & \forall i = 0, \cdots, q, \ \ell'_i \in H(\mathfrak{l}^n) \setminus \mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n), \\ \bullet & H(\mathfrak{l}^n) \setminus \mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n) \subset \bigcup_{0 \leq i \leq q} (\ell_i, \ell'_i] \subset [0, n) \setminus \mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n). \end{aligned}$

Proof of the Claim. Let $\ell'_{-1} = -1$. We set inductively for all i:

$$\ell_i = \max \left\{ \ell \in \mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n) : \ell < \ell' \; \forall \ell'_{i-1} < \ell' \in H(\mathfrak{l}^n) \setminus \mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n) \right\}$$

and

$$\ell'_i = \max \{ \ell' \in H(\mathfrak{l}^n) \setminus \mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n) : \ell' < \ell \ \forall \ell_i < \ell \in \mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n) \}.$$

We let q be the last integer for which ℓ'_q is well defined.

By applying Lemma 5.9 successively to the triplets $(\ell_0, \ell'_0, \ell_1), (\ell_1, \ell'_1, \ell_2),$ $(\ell_2, \ell'_2, \ell_3), \cdots, (\ell_p, \ell'_p, n-1)$ it follows that

$$\begin{split} \sup_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_0}} \operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_0}}} \left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n_{\ell_0}) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n_{\ell_0}) \right) &\leq \left(D_{r,d} M_g^{\frac{3k^2}{r-1}} e^{-p\chi - 2} \right)^{\sum_{i=0}^q \ell'_i - \ell_i} \\ &\leq D_{r,d}^n \left(M_g^{\frac{3k^2}{p(r-1)}} e^{-\chi} \right)^{p \sum_{i=0}^q \ell'_i - \ell_i} \\ &\leq D_{r,d}^n \left(M_g^{\frac{3k^2}{p(r-1)}} e^{-\chi} \right)^{p\#(H(\mathfrak{l}^n) \backslash \operatorname{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n))} \end{split}$$

Then by using again the bounded distortion property we get

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma}\left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n)\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n)\right) &\leq 4\sup_{\mathfrak{i}^{\ell_0}}\operatorname{Vol}_{\widetilde{\sigma}_{\mathfrak{i}^{\ell_0}}}\left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n_{\ell_0})\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n_{\ell_0})\right), \\ &\leq 4D^n_{r,d}\left(M_g^{\frac{3k^2}{p(r-1)}}e^{-\chi}\right)^{p\#(H(\mathfrak{l}^n)\backslash\operatorname{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n))}. \end{split}$$

Definition 5.12. For all $x \in D$, all $\beta \in (0,1)$ and all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ we define:

$$\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{n}^{\beta}(x) = 1 \text{ if } x \in \sigma(\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n}}) \text{ with } \mathbf{i}^{n} \in \overline{\mathcal{T}_{n}} \text{ and } \operatorname{Vol}(\sigma_{n} \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{n}}) \leq \frac{\beta C_{d}^{-1} \epsilon^{k}}{400 A_{r,d}},$$

$$= 0 \text{ if not.}$$

Given $n \in \mathbb{N}$, we set

$$\underline{\mathbf{u}}_{\beta}^{n}(x) = \left(\underline{\mathbf{u}}_{i}^{\beta}(x)\right)_{0 \le i \le n}.$$

Remark: In particular $\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_n^{\beta}(x) = 1$ implies $\mathfrak{u}_n(x) = 1$.

Definition 5.13. For a n-tuple of $\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n = (\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_i)_{0 \leq i < n}$ we consider

$$\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n) := \left\{ x \in D : \underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{\beta}^n(x) = \underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n \right\}.$$

Lemma 5.14. Given $\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n$, for any $0 \leq \ell_0 < \ell_1 < n$, with $\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{\ell_1} = 1$, we have

$$\sup_{\theta_{i\ell_0}} \operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma_{\ell_0} \circ \theta_{i\ell_0}} (\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{\ell_0}^n)) \leq \frac{\beta}{25} \sup_{\theta_{i\ell_1}, : \theta_{i\ell_1} < \theta_{i\ell_0}} \operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma_{\ell_1} \circ \theta_{i\ell_1}} (\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{\ell_1}^n)).$$

Proof. By the bounded distortion property, recall that

$$\sup_{\theta_{\mathbf{i}}\ell_0} \operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma_{\ell_0} \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}}\ell_0}(\underline{\mathcal{B}}^\beta(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{\ell_0}^n)) \leq 4 \sup_{\theta_{\mathbf{i}}\ell_1 - 1 \colon \theta_{\mathbf{i}}\ell_1 - 1 < \theta_{\mathbf{i}}\ell_0} \operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma_{\ell_1 - 1} \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}}\ell_1 - 1}(\underline{\mathcal{B}}^\beta(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{\ell_1 - 1}^n)).$$

Therefore it is enough to show that

$$\sup_{\theta_{i\ell_{1}-1}} \operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma_{\ell_{1}-1}\circ\theta_{i\ell_{1}-1}}(\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^{n}_{\ell_{1}-1})) \leq \frac{\beta}{100} \sup_{\theta_{i\ell_{1}}\colon \theta_{i\ell_{1}}<\theta_{i\ell_{1}-1}} \operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma_{\ell_{1}}\circ\theta_{i\ell_{1}}}(\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^{n}_{\ell_{1}})).$$

We have for all $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_1-1}}$:

$$\operatorname{Vol}\left(\operatorname{Im}\left(\sigma_{\ell_{1}-1}\circ\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}-1}}\right)\cap\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{\ell_{1}-1}^{n})\right) \\
\leq \sum_{\substack{\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}:\ \mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}\in\overline{\mathcal{T}}_{\ell_{1}},\ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}<\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}-1}\\ \operatorname{Vol}\left(\sigma_{\ell_{1}}\circ\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\right)\leq\frac{\beta C_{\mathbf{d}}^{-1}}{400A_{r,d}}\epsilon^{k}}} \operatorname{Vol}\left(\operatorname{Im}\left(\sigma_{\ell_{1}-1}\circ\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\right)\cap\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\right) \\
\leq \sum_{\substack{\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}:\ \mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}\in\overline{\mathcal{T}}_{\ell_{1}},\\ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}<\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}-1}}}} \left(\sum_{\substack{\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}:\ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}<\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\\ \operatorname{Vol}\left(\sigma_{\ell_{1}}\circ\theta_{\ell_{1}}\right)<\frac{\beta C_{\mathbf{d}}^{-1}}{\beta C_{\mathbf{d}}^{-1}}}} \operatorname{Vol}\left(\operatorname{Im}\left(\sigma_{\ell_{1}-1}\circ\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\right)\cap\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\right)\right).$$

Let $x'_{\ell_1} \in \text{Im}(\sigma \circ \theta'_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_1}})$. By Equation (12) we have

$$\begin{aligned} &\operatorname{Vol}\left(\operatorname{Im}\left(\sigma_{\ell_{1}-1}\circ\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}-1}}\right)\cap\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}_{\ell_{1}-1}^{n})\right)\\ &\leq \sum_{\substack{\theta'_{i}\ell_{1}:\ i^{\ell_{1}}\in\overline{\mathcal{T}}_{\ell_{1}},\\ \theta'_{i}\ell_{1}<\theta_{i}\ell_{1}-1}}}^{2|\wedge^{k}dg(G^{\ell_{1}-1}(\widetilde{x}'_{\ell_{1}}))|^{-1}}\\ &\cdot \left(\sum_{\substack{\theta_{i}\ell_{1}:\ \theta'_{i}\ell_{1}<\theta'_{i}\ell_{1}\\ \operatorname{Vol}(\sigma_{\ell_{1}}\circ\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}})\leq\frac{\beta C_{d}^{-1}}{400A_{r,d}}\epsilon^{k}}}^{\operatorname{Vol}\left(\operatorname{Im}\left(\sigma_{\ell_{1}}\circ\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}\right)\cap\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})\right)\right)\\ &\leq \sum_{\substack{\theta'_{i}\ell_{1}:\ i^{\ell_{1}}\in\overline{\mathcal{T}}_{\ell_{1}},\\ \theta'_{i}\ell_{1}<\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}-1}}}}^{2|\wedge^{k}dg(G^{\ell_{1}-1}(\widetilde{x}'_{\ell_{1}}))|^{-1}\frac{\beta}{400}}\operatorname{Vol}(\operatorname{Im}(\sigma_{\ell_{1}}\circ\theta'_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}))\\ &\leq \sum_{\substack{\theta'_{i}\ell_{1}:\ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}<\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}-1}}}}^{2|\wedge^{k}dg(G^{\ell_{1}-1}(\widetilde{x}'_{\ell_{1}}))|^{-1}\frac{\beta}{400}}\operatorname{Vol}(\operatorname{Im}(\sigma_{\ell_{1}}\circ\theta'_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}))\\ &\leq \sum_{\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}:\ \theta'_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}<\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}-1}}}}^{\beta}\operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma_{\ell_{1}}\circ\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}}(\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}_{\ell_{1}}^{n}))\\ &\leq \sum_{\theta'_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}:\ \theta'_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}<\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}-1}}}}^{\beta}\operatorname{Vol}(\operatorname{Im}(\sigma_{\ell_{1}-1}\circ\theta'_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}))\\ &\leq \frac{\beta}{100}\operatorname{Vol}(\sigma_{\ell_{1}-1}\circ\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}-1}})\sup_{\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}:\ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}<\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}-1}}}^{\beta}\operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma_{\ell_{1}}\circ\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell_{1}}}}(\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathbf{u}}_{\ell_{1}}^{n})). \end{aligned}$$

Applying Lemma 5.14 inductively yields the following lemma.

Lemma 5.15. For any \mathfrak{u}^n

$$\operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma}(\underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^{n})) \leq \left(\frac{\beta}{25}\right)^{\#\operatorname{BG}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^{n})}.$$

Definition 5.16. For $x \in D$ we define

$$\mathfrak{E}_{\widehat{\chi},p,\beta}(x) := \{ m : m \text{ is } (\widehat{\chi},\mathfrak{l}^{\infty}(x)) \text{-hyperbolic}, \\ \mathfrak{u}_m(x) = 1 \text{ and } \underline{\mathfrak{u}}_m^{\beta}(x) = 0 \}.$$

Definition 5.17. Given a set $B \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ and $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, we set

$$d_n(B) := \frac{1}{n} \# (B \cap [0, n-1]).$$

Recall Lemma 2.5 and the definition of $\chi' > \chi > \frac{3k^2}{r-1}R(f)$.

Proposition 5.18. For all $\beta \in (0,1)$, for all $p \geq \frac{8}{\chi'-\chi}$ and for all n, we have

$$\operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma}\left(\left\{x:\ d_{n}(\mathfrak{E}_{p\chi+2,p,\beta}(x)) < \beta \ and \ |A_{k,p}^{np}(\iota(T_{x}D))| \geq e^{np\chi'}\right\}\right)$$

$$\leq C_{r,d,f}(p)^{n}\left(e^{\frac{3k^{2}}{r-1}R(f)}e^{-\chi}\right)^{np\cdot\left(\frac{\chi'-\chi}{4k\log M_{f}}-2\beta\right)} + e^{-\beta n},$$

where $C_{r,d,f}(p)$ satisfies $\lim_{p\to\infty} \frac{\log C_{r,d,f}(p)}{p} = 0$.

Proof. First, note that if $|A_{k,p}^{np}(\iota(T_xD))| \ge e^{np\chi'}$, then there is $0 \le q < p$ such that

$$\prod_{i=0}^{n-1} \frac{|\wedge^k d_{f^{ip+q_x}} f^p(F^{ip+q_x})|}{\max\{1, \max_{j \le k-1} \|\wedge^j d_{f^{ip+q_x}} f^p\|\}} \ge e^{np\chi'}.$$

Without loss of generality we can assume that q = 0. Then we get that,

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \mathfrak{l}_i(x) - \mathfrak{l}'_i(x) \ge n(p\chi' - 2).$$

Set

$$\mathcal{E}_n^{\beta} := \left\{ x \in D : \ d_n(\mathfrak{E}_{p\chi+2,p,\beta}(x)) < \beta \text{ and } \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} \mathfrak{l}_i(x) - \mathfrak{l}_i'(x) \ge n(p\chi' - 2) \right\}.$$

Since the entries of \mathfrak{l} and \mathfrak{l}' belong to $[-k \log M_g - 1, k \log M_g + 1]$, the number of sequences $(\mathfrak{l}^n, \mathfrak{u}^n, \underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n)$ with $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n) \neq \emptyset$, $\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n) \neq \emptyset$, $\underline{\mathcal{B}}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n) \neq \emptyset$ is bounded from above by $(2k \log M_g + 3)^{2n} 4^n$.

Fix such sequences \mathfrak{l}^n and \mathfrak{u}^n with $\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n) \cap \underline{\mathcal{B}}^{\beta}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n) \cap \mathcal{E}_n^{\beta} \neq \emptyset$ and $\#\mathrm{BG}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n) \leq \beta n$. Let $q_* \in \mathbb{N}$ with $\beta \in [\frac{1}{q_*+1}, \frac{1}{q_*})$. By Lemma 5.15 the volume of the union of $\underline{\mathcal{B}}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n)$ over the others $\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n$ is less than (up to a multiplicative constant independent of n)

$$\sum_{q=q_*}^n \binom{n}{[n/q]} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{25q}\right)^{\lceil \frac{n}{q} \rceil} \lesssim \sum_{q=q_*}^n e^{n\left(\frac{1}{q}\log q - (1-\frac{1}{q})\log(1-\frac{1}{q})\right)} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{25q}\right)^{\frac{n}{q}}$$
$$\lesssim \sum_{q=q_*}^n e^{\frac{n}{q}(2-\log 25)}$$
$$\lesssim e^{\beta(2-\log 25)n} \leq e^{-\beta n}.$$

By Pliss's lemma (Lemma 5.6) applied to the sequence $(\mathfrak{l}_i - \mathfrak{l}'_i)_{i < n}$ with $\widehat{\chi} = p\chi + 2$ and $\widehat{\chi}' = p\chi' - 2$, we have $\#H(\mathfrak{l}^n) \geq n \frac{p(\chi' - \chi) - 4}{2k \log M_g}$.

Therefore, for $p \geq \frac{8}{\chi - \chi'}$ and for all $x \in \mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n) \cap \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n) \cap \mathcal{E}_n^{\beta}$ we get

$$\# (H(\mathfrak{l}^n) \setminus (\mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n) \setminus \mathrm{BG}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n)) \ge \# H(\mathfrak{l}^n) - nd_n(E_{p\chi+2,p}(x))$$
$$\ge n \cdot \left(\frac{\chi' - \chi}{4k \log M_f} - \beta\right).$$

Then,

$$\# (H(\mathfrak{l}^n) \setminus \mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n)) \ge \# (H(\mathfrak{l}^n) \setminus (\mathrm{BG}(\mathfrak{u}^n) \setminus \mathrm{BG}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n)) - \# \mathrm{BG}(\underline{\mathfrak{u}}^n)$$

$$\ge n \cdot \left(\frac{\chi' - \chi}{4k \log M_f} - 2\beta \right).$$

By Lemma 5.11 we get

$$\operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma}\left(\mathcal{H}(\mathfrak{l}^n)\cap\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{u}^n)\right) \leq 4D_{r,d}^n \left(M_g^{\frac{3k^2}{p(r-1)}}e^{-\chi}\right)^{-p\chi'n\cdot\left(\frac{\chi'-\chi}{4k\log M_f}-2\beta\right)}.$$

Therefore, for all n,

$$\operatorname{Vol}_{\sigma} \left(\left\{ x : d_{n}(E_{\widehat{\chi},p}(x)) < \beta \text{ and } \|A_{k,p}^{np}(\iota(T_{x}D))\| \ge e^{np\chi} \right\} \right)$$

$$\le (2pk \log M_{f} + 3)^{2n} (4D_{r,d})^{n} \left(M_{g}^{\frac{3k^{2}}{p(r-1)}} e^{-\chi} \right)^{pn \cdot \left(\frac{\chi' - \chi}{4k \log M_{f}} - 2\beta\right)}$$

This concludes the proof with

$$C_{r,d,f}(p) := 4D_{r,d}(2pk\log M_f + 3)^2 \left(\frac{M_{f^p}}{e^{pR(f)}}\right)^{\frac{3k^2(\chi'-\chi)}{4k(r-1)\log M_f} - 2\beta}.$$

Definition 5.19. For $x \in D$, we set

$$BG_n^{\beta}(x) := \{ 0 \le \ell < n : \ \mathfrak{u}_{\ell}(x) = 1, \underline{\mathfrak{u}}_{\ell}^{\beta}(x) = 0$$
 and ℓ is $(p\chi, \mathfrak{l}^{\infty}(y))$ for any $y \in \varpi_{\ell}(x) \}.$

Definition 5.20. For any $\beta \in (0,1)$ and any $p \in \mathbb{N}^*$ we let

$$E_n^{p,\beta} := \left\{ x \in B_n^p : d_n(\mathrm{BG}_n^\beta(x)) \ge \beta \right\}.$$

Corollary 5.21. For any $\beta \in (0, \frac{\chi' - \chi}{8k \log M_f})$ there is p, such that for all $n \in \mathcal{N}$ large enough,

$$\operatorname{Vol}(E_n^{p,\beta}) \ge \frac{1}{n^2}.$$

Proof. Recall the set B_n^p given in Lemma 2.5 satisfies $\operatorname{Vol}(B_n^p) \geq \frac{2}{n^2}$ for $n \in \mathcal{N}$. As observed after Lemma 5.5, we have $\mathfrak{E}_{p\chi+2,p,\beta}(x) \subset \operatorname{BG}_n^{\beta}(x)$ for $x \in D$. By Proposition 5.18, for $\beta < \frac{\chi' - \chi}{8k \log M_f}$ we may choose p so large that the set of points x in B_n^p with $d_n(\mathfrak{E}_{p\chi+2,p,\beta}(x)) < \beta$ and $|A_{k,p}^{np}(\iota(T_xD))| \geq e^{np\chi'}$ has exponentially small measure in n, in particular measure less than $\frac{1}{n^2}$ for n large enough.

Remark: From now on, we fix some $\beta \in (0, \frac{\chi' - \chi}{8k \log M_f})$ and we choose p as in Corollary 5.21. The set $E_n^{\beta,p}$ and $\mathrm{BG}_n^{\beta}(x)$ will be then simply denoted by E_n and $\mathrm{BG}_n(x)$ respectively. The integers in $\mathrm{BG}_n(x)$ are referred to as BG times.

6. Invariant measure given by disintegration on disks

In this section we construct an invariant measure which is given by a disintegration on $C^{r-1,1}$ embedded k-disks. To achieve that, we wish to first construct a probability measure on the space of Measured Disks- which is a space of disks endowed with a probability measure. We restrict to BG times where the elements of the Yomdin partition belong to a pre-compact subset of the space of Measured Disks, where we can take limits.

6.1. Space of Measured Disks.

Definition 6.1 (Space of Measured Disks). Let

$$\mathcal{S} := \{(\varpi, \varrho) : \varpi : [0, 1]^k \to \mathbf{M} \text{ is } C^{r-1, 1} \text{ and } \varrho \in \mathbb{P}([0, 1]^k)\},$$

endowed with the product topology of the $C^{r-1,1}$ topology and the weak-* topology, be the space of Measured Disks.

Definition 6.2. For $x \in D$, we say that the atom $\varpi_{\ell}(x)$ of the Yomdin partition containing x is BG, when ℓ belongs to BG_n(x).

6.2. Sequence of measures on the space of Measured Disks.

Definition 6.3. Given $M \in \mathbb{N}$, we write

$$\mathcal{S}_M := \overline{\{(\varpi(x), \varrho) \in \mathcal{S} : \exists 0 \leq \ell \leq M \text{ s.t. } \varpi(g^{\ell}(x)) \text{ is } BG\}}^{\mathcal{S}} \subseteq \mathcal{S},$$

where \subseteq denotes "compactly contained".

Recall Lemma 2.5 and the definition of the set \mathcal{N} .

Definition 6.4 (The measures p_n^M). For $n \in \mathcal{N}$, and for $0 \le \ell \le n$, (1) $E_n^{\ell} := \bigcup \{g^{-\ell}[\operatorname{Im}(\varpi_{\ell}(x))] : x \in E_n\},$

(2) Let P_n^{ℓ} be the partition of $\bigcup E_n^{\ell}$ into elements of the form $g^{-\ell}[\operatorname{Im}(\varpi_{\ell}(\cdot))]$ centered at E_n points

(3) Given $x \in E_n^n$, write

$$BG_n^M(x) := \{ \ell \le n : \exists \ell' \in [\ell, \ell+M], \ y \in \varpi_{\ell}(x) \cap E_n \ s.t. \ \varpi_{\ell'}(y) \ is \ BG \},$$
(4)

$$P_n^{\ell,M} := \{ P \in P_n^{\ell} : \ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^M(x) \text{ for some (any) } x \in P \cap E_n \},$$

(5) We denote Vol_k by λ , and $\frac{1}{\lambda(E_n^n)}\lambda_{E_n^n}$ by λ_n ,

$$p_n^M := \int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^M(x)} \delta_{(\varpi_{\ell}(x), \varrho_{\ell, n, x})} d\lambda_n,$$
where $\varrho_{\ell, n, x} := \left(\frac{1}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell}(x) \cap E_n^n)} \lambda_{P_n^{\ell}(x) \cap E_n^n} \circ g^{-\ell}\right) \circ \varpi_{\ell}(x).$

Remark: In the above definition, $\varpi_{\ell}(x)$ denotes the map $\sigma_{\ell} \circ \theta_{i^{\ell}}$ with $x \in \operatorname{Im}(\sigma \circ \theta_{i^{\ell}})$ (see Definition 3.8). According to the Remark following the Algebraic Lemma (Lemma 4.2), $\theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}}$, thus $\sigma_{\ell} \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}}$ is a (topological) embedding, therefore we may push the measure $\frac{1}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell}(x)\cap E_n^n)}\lambda_{P_n^{\ell}(x)\cap E_n^n}$ $g^{-\ell}$ on **M** by the inverse of $\varpi_{\ell}(x)$ to get $\varrho_{\ell,n,x}$.

Lemma 6.5. Given $x \in E_n$ and $y \in P_n^n(x)$,

- (1) For all M, $BG_n^M(x) = BG_n^M(y)$, (2) For all n large enough and for all $h \in Lip(\mathbf{M})$,

$$\left|\frac{1}{n}\sum_{\ell \le n} \delta_{f^{\ell_p}(x)}(h) - \frac{1}{n}\sum_{\ell \le n} \delta_{f^{\ell_p}(y)}(h)\right| \le \frac{\|h\|_{\text{Lip}}}{\sqrt{n}}.$$

Proof. The first item is clear by the definition of $\mathrm{BG}_n^M(\cdot)$, which is saturated by partition elements. We continue to show the second item. Let $\eta > 0$. By Lemma 3.9,

$$\left| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \le n} \delta_{f^{\ell p}(x)}(h) - \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \le n} \delta_{f^{\ell p}(y)}(h) \right|$$

$$\leq \left| \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \le n(1-\delta)} \delta_{f^{\ell p}(x)}(h) - \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \le n(1-\delta)} \delta_{f^{\ell p}(y)}(h) \right| + 2\eta \|h\|_{\infty}$$

$$\leq 2\eta \cdot \|h\|_{\infty} + \operatorname{Lip}(h) \cdot \frac{1}{2^{n\eta}}.$$

Then if we choose $\eta = \frac{1}{3\sqrt{n}}$, the desired result is following, for all n s.t. $\frac{1}{2\sqrt{n}} \leq \frac{1}{3\sqrt{n}}$

Remark: From here onwards, we saturate the set E_n into E_n^n , and associate the two sets (recall Definition 5.20). Lemma 6.5 above justifies it.

Proposition 6.6. For all $n \in \mathcal{N}$ and $M \geq 0$,

$$p_n^M(1) \in [\beta, 1].$$

Proof. Recall Definition 5.20 and its following remark, then

$$1 \ge p_n^M(1) = \frac{1}{n} \# \mathrm{BG}_n^M(x) \, d\lambda_n(x)$$
$$\ge \int d_n \left(\mathrm{BG}_n(x) \right) \ge \beta.$$

Definition 6.7.

$$\mu_n^M := \int_{\mathcal{S}} \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} dp_n^M((\varpi, \rho)).$$

Claim 6.8. For every $n, M, \mu_n^M(1) = p_n^M(1) \in [\beta, 1].$

Proof. This is a direct corollary of Definition 6.7, as $\varrho \circ \varpi^{-1}(1) = 1$ for all $(\varpi, \varrho) \in \mathcal{S}$.

Lemma 6.9.

$$\mu_n^M = \int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^M(x)} \delta_{g^\ell(x)} d\lambda_n.$$

Proof.

$$\int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^M(x)} \delta_{g^{\ell}(x)} d\lambda_n = \frac{1}{\lambda(E_n)} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \int_{[\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^M(\cdot)]} \delta_{g^{\ell}(x)} d\lambda$$

$$= \frac{1}{\lambda(E_n)} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \lambda_{[\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^M(\cdot)]} \circ g^{-\ell}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\lambda(E_n)} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \sum_{P \in P_n^{\ell,M}} \lambda_{E_n \cap P} \circ g^{-\ell}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\lambda(E_n)} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \sum_{P \in P_n^{\ell,M}} \lambda(E_n \cap P) \frac{\lambda_{E_n \cap P} \circ g^{-\ell}}{\lambda(E_n \cap P)}$$

$$= \frac{1}{\lambda(E_n)} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \sum_{\ell=0}^{n-1} \lambda(E_n \cap P) \int_{\mathcal{S}} \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} d\delta_{(\varpi_{\ell}(x_P), \varrho_{\ell, n, x_P})} \\
= \int_{\mathcal{S}} \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} d\left(\int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^M(x)} \delta_{(\varpi_{\ell}(x), \varrho_{\ell, n, x})} d\lambda_n\right) \\
= \int_{\mathcal{S}} \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} dp_n^M = \mu_n^M,$$

where x_P is any point in $P \cap E_n$.

Recall Lemma 2.5.

Proposition 6.10. There exists a subsequence $\mathcal{N} \ni n_j \uparrow \infty$ s.t. $\forall M \ge 0$,

$$p_{n_j}^M \to p^M \in [\beta, 1] \cdot \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{S}_M) \subseteq [\beta, 1] \cdot \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{S}) \text{ and } \mu_{n_j}^M \to \mu^M \in [\beta, 1] \cdot \mathbb{P}(\mathbf{M}).$$

Moreover,

$$\mu^M = \int \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} dp^M.$$

Proof. By Proposition 6.6 p_n^M is a sequence of bounded measures carried by S_M , which is a pre-compact subset of S.

Therefore, using the diagonal argument, there exists a subsequence $\mathcal{N} \ni n_j \uparrow \infty$ s.t. $\forall M \geq 0, \ p_{n_j}^M \to p^M \in [\beta, 1] \cdot \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{S}_M) \subseteq [\beta, 1] \cdot \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{S}).$

Then, given any continuous function $h \in C(\mathbf{M})$, we define $\widehat{h}(\varpi, \varrho) := \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1}(h) = \int_{[0,1]^k} h \circ \varpi \, d\varrho$, which lies in $C(\mathcal{S})$. Then,

$$\int h \, d\mu_{n_j}^M = \int \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1}(h) \, dp_{n_j}^M$$

$$= \int \widehat{h} \, dp_{n_j}^M \xrightarrow[j \to \infty]{} \int \widehat{h} \, dp^M$$
(14)

Therefore

$$\mu^M(h) = \int \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1}(h) \, dp^M.$$

6.3. Invariant measure with disintegration by a family of disks.

Lemma 6.11. For all n and M, $p_n^{M+1} \ge p_n^M$, $p^{M+1} \ge p^M$, $\mu_n^{M+1} \ge \mu_n^M$, and $\mu^{M+1} \ge \mu^M$.

Proof. It is enough to prove that for all n and M, $p_n^{M+1} \ge p_n^M$, and the rest follows by Proposition 6.10. Indeed, by Definition 6.4, for any n, when increasing M, we increase the sum in the definition of p_n^M . \square

Corollary 6.12 (The measures μ and \mathbf{p}). $p^M \uparrow \mathbf{p}$ and $\mu^M \uparrow \mu$, where $p(\mathcal{S}) \in [\beta, 1]$ and $\mu = \int \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} d\mathbf{p}$.

Proof. By Lemma 6.11, both limits must exists as bounded increasing sequences, and $\mu^M = \int \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} dp^M$ for every M. Then as in (14), we conclude that $\mu = \int \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} d\mathbf{p}$.

Lemma 6.13. $\mu \ll \sum_{i>0} \mu^0 \circ f^{-i}$

Proof. For every $M \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\mu^{M} \leq \sum_{0 \leq i \leq M} \mu^{0} \circ f^{-ip} \leq 2^{Mp} \sum_{0 \leq i \leq Mp} \frac{1}{2^{i}} \mu^{0} \circ f^{-i} < 2^{Mp} \sum_{i \geq 0} \frac{1}{2^{i}} \mu^{0} \circ f^{-i}.$$

Hence $\mu^M \ll \sum_{i \geq 0} \frac{1}{2^i} \mu^0 \circ f^{-i} \equiv \eta$. Since $\mu^{M+1} \geq \mu^M$, we get that $\mu = \lim_M \uparrow \mu^M \ll \eta$.

Remark: Lemma 6.13 implies that μ^0 sees all ergodic components of the measure μ .

Theorem 6.14. $\mu \circ g^{-1} = \mu$.

Proof. For any $n \in \mathcal{N}$, for any $M \geq 0$,

$$\mu_n^{M+1} \circ g^{-1} = \int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^{M+1}(x)} \delta_{g^{\ell}(x)} \circ g^{-1} d\lambda_n$$

$$= \int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^{M+1}(x)} \delta_{g^{\ell+1}(x)} d\lambda_n$$

$$\geq \int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell + 1 \in \mathrm{BG}_n^{M}(x)} \delta_{g^{\ell+1}(x)} d\lambda_n$$

$$\geq \int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^{M}(x)} \delta_{g^{\ell}(x)} d\lambda_n - \frac{1}{n} = \mu_n^M - \frac{1}{n}.$$

By sending $n_j \to \infty$ and then $M \to \infty$, we conclude $\mu \circ g^{-1} \ge \mu$. Since $\mu(1)$ and $\mu \circ g^{-1}(1)$ have the same value, $\mu = \mu \circ g^{-1}$.

Lemma 6.15. There exists a probability measure $\widetilde{\mathbf{p}} \in \mathbb{P}(\mathcal{S})$ s.t.

$$\frac{1}{p} \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} \left(\frac{1}{\mu(1)} \mu \right) \circ f^{-j} = \int_{S} \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} d\widetilde{\mathbf{p}}((\varpi, \varrho)).$$

Proof. For $0 \leq j \leq p-1$, set $F_j((\varpi,\rho)) := (f^j \circ \varpi, ((\rho \circ \varpi^{-1}) \circ f^{-j} \cdot \operatorname{Jac}(f^{-j})) \circ f^j \circ \varpi)$, which is an invertible and continuous map from \mathcal{S} to \mathcal{S} . Then set $\widehat{\mathbf{p}} := \frac{1}{p} \sum_{j=0}^{p-1} (\frac{1}{\mathbf{p}(1)} \mathbf{p}) \circ F_j^{-1}$ (recall Claim 6.8).

Definition 6.16.

$$\widehat{\mu} := \int_{S} \rho \circ \varpi^{-1} d\widetilde{\mathbf{p}}((\varpi, \rho)).$$

Corollary 6.17. $\hat{\mu}$ is an f-invariant probability measure on M.

Proof. It follows directly from Lemma 6.15 (recall that $g = f^p$).

Definition 6.18. Let $W := \{ \varpi : [0,1]^k \to \mathbf{M} \text{ where } \varpi \text{ is } C^{r-1,1} \}$ be the space of disks.

Theorem 6.19 (Invariant measure with disintegration by an invariant family of disks). There exists a probability measure $\hat{\mathbf{p}}$ on \mathcal{W} s.t.

$$\widehat{\mu} = \int_{\mathcal{W}} \varrho_{\varpi} \circ \varpi^{-1} d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}(\varpi),$$

where ϱ_{ϖ} is a probability measure on $[0,1]^k$.

Proof. Let α be the measurable partition of \mathcal{S} given by the atoms $\alpha((\varpi, \varrho)) := \{\varpi\} \times \mathbb{P}([0, 1]^k)$, and disintegrate $\widetilde{\mathbf{p}}$:

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{p}} = \int \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}_{\alpha((\varpi,\varrho))} d\widetilde{\mathbf{p}} \equiv \int \widetilde{\mathbf{p}}_{\varpi} d\widetilde{\mathbf{p}} \circ \pi^{-1},$$

where $\pi: \mathcal{S} \to \mathcal{W}$, $\pi((\varpi, \varrho)) := \varpi$. Then set $\varrho_{\varpi} := \int \varrho d\widetilde{\mathbf{p}}_{\varpi}$ and so,

$$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\mu}} = \int \boldsymbol{\varrho} \circ \boldsymbol{\varpi}^{-1} d\widetilde{\mathbf{p}} = \int \int \boldsymbol{\varrho} \circ \boldsymbol{\varpi}^{-1} d\widetilde{\mathbf{p}}_{\boldsymbol{\varpi}} d\widetilde{\mathbf{p}} \circ \boldsymbol{\pi}^{-1} = \int \boldsymbol{\varrho}_{\boldsymbol{\varpi}} \circ \boldsymbol{\varpi}^{-1} d\widetilde{\mathbf{p}} \circ \boldsymbol{\pi}^{-1}.$$

7. Smooth Conditionals

In this section we study the invariant measure which we constructed in §6, and prove that its disintegration by Measured Disks in fact is given by smooth disk-measures (the "conditionals"). The proof is decomposed into two sub-sections, where we first show that the conditionals are absolutely continuous, and then prove also domination in the following sub-section. Proving that the conditionals are absolutely continuous relies on finding a natural family of smooth disk-measures

to which we compare the conditionals. The comparison is done by the atoms of finer-and-finer Yomdin partitions, where we are able to get tight bounds on the number of atoms which "compare well", and the total measure they cover. The key idea which allows to us to get these estimates is the observation that if a certain point visits with some fixed positive density times where a fixed portion of the atoms do not "compare well", then the point belongs to set of exponentially small measure. Using the fact that $\frac{1}{n_i}\log\lambda(E_{n_i})\to 0$, we can compute the portion of "bad points". Note that the dynamics of the disk is being used here, as for purely analytic reasons, one should not expect to bound the λ_n -portion of E_n where λ " is large", as these are morally two singular measures.

7.1. Absolute Continuity of the Conditionals. In this section of the paper, we prove that for $\hat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , the probability measure $\varrho_{\varpi} \circ \varpi^{-1}$ is absolutely continuous w.r.t. $\operatorname{Vol}_{\operatorname{Im}(\varpi)}$, where $\widehat{\mu} = \int_{\mathcal{W}} \varrho_{\varpi} \circ \varpi^{-1} d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}(\varpi)$.

Definition 7.1. For any $\varpi \in \operatorname{Supp}(\widehat{\mathbf{p}})$, set

$$\nu_{\varpi} := \lim_{\ell \to \infty} \nu_{\varpi}^{(\ell)}, \text{ where } \nu_{\varpi}^{(\ell)} := \frac{\lambda_{g^{-\ell}[\varpi]} \circ g^{-\ell}}{\lambda(g^{-\ell}[\varpi])}.$$

Proposition 7.2. The limit of ν_{ϖ} in Definition 7.1 is well-defined for $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , and converges exponentially uniformly on \mathcal{S}_M to a absolutely continuous probability measure on $\operatorname{Im}(\varpi)$ whose log-density is uniformly bounded, for all $M \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. Note, given $M \in \mathbb{N}$, aside for at most measure $\delta > 0$, for p^M -a.e $(\varpi,\varrho),$

$$\varpi = \lim_{n \to \infty}^{C^{r-1,1}} \varpi_{\ell_n}(x_n),$$

 $\varpi = \lim_{n \to \infty}^{C^{r-1,1}} \varpi_{\ell_n}(x_n),$ where $\ell_n \ge \delta n$, and $\varpi_{\ell_n}(x_n) \in \mathcal{S}_M$. Therefore, for every $m \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\frac{1}{m}\log \max_{t \in \text{Im}(\varpi)} \|d_t g^{-m}\| = \lim_{n} \frac{1}{m}\log \max_{t \in \text{Im}(\varpi_{\ell_n}(x_n))} \|d_t g^{-m}\|.$$

By Lemma 5.5, for all n large enough so $\delta n \geq m$,

$$\frac{1}{m} \log \max_{t \in \text{Im}(\varpi_{\ell_n}(x_n))} ||d_t g^{-m}|| \le -\widehat{\chi} + \frac{3pM}{m} \log M_f < 0,$$
 (15)

for all m large enough w.r.t. M. Then it is a known result that the limit $\nu_{\varpi} = \lim_{m} \nu_{\varpi}^{(m)}$ exists with uniform exponential rates (see for example [4, Theorem 4.10]) and satisfies the conclusions of the statement.

Remark: Note that the proof of Proposition 7.2 holds also for ϖ' an embedded k-disk with $\operatorname{Im}(\varpi') \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(\varpi)$.

Definition 7.3. Given $n, N \in \mathbb{N}$ with N|n, and $\delta > 0$ with $\delta \frac{n}{N} \in \mathbb{N}$, and $x \in E_n$ s.t.

$$\frac{1}{n} \# \left\{ \ell \le n : \frac{\lambda(P_n^{\ell+N}(x) \cap E_n)}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell}(x) \cap E_n)} \ge \frac{1}{\delta^3} \frac{\lambda(P_n^{\ell+N}(x))}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell}(x))} \right\} \ge \delta,$$

set $\underline{c}^t(x) \in \{0,1\}^{\frac{n}{N}}$ which has exactly $\delta \frac{n}{N}$ -many 1's to be the first chain in lexicographic order such that for $0 \le t < N$

$$c_i^t(x) = 1 \Rightarrow \frac{\lambda(P_n^{(i+1)N+t}(x) \cap E_n)}{\lambda(P_n^{iN+t}(x) \cap E_n)} \ge \frac{1}{\delta^3} \frac{\lambda(P_n^{(i+1)N+t}(x))}{\lambda(P_n^{iN+t}(x))}.$$

For $\underline{c} \in \{0,1\}^{\frac{n}{N}}$ with exactly $\delta_{\overline{N}}$ -many 1's, set

$$[\underline{c}]_{n,N,\delta,t} := \left\{ x \in E_n : \underline{c}^t(x) = \underline{c} \right\}.$$

Let $C_{n,N,\delta} := \{\underline{c} \in \{0,1\}^{\frac{n}{N}} : \text{ has exactly } \delta^{\frac{n}{N}}\text{-many } 1\text{'s}\}$. We often abuse notation, and omit the dependence on n, N, δ and t when it is clear from context. For a lean notation, we write

$$[\underline{c}^t] := \{ x \in E_n : \underline{c}^t(x) = \underline{c}^t \}.$$

Remark:

- (1) Note, $\#\mathcal{C}_{n,N,\delta} \leq e^{2\frac{n}{N}\delta\log\frac{1}{\delta}}$, for all $\delta > 0$ small enough.
- (2) For a lean notation, from here onwards we assume that N|n and $\delta \frac{n}{N} \in \mathbb{N}$. This can always be arranged by taking integer values which do not affect the proof but carry notation.

Proposition 7.4 (Main estimate). Given $n, N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta > 0$ as in Definition 7.3, for all $\delta > 0$ small enough, for all $\underline{c} \in \mathcal{C}$ and $0 \leq t < N$,

$$\lambda([\underline{c}^t]) \le e^{-3\delta \log \frac{1}{\delta} \frac{n}{N}}, \text{ and } \#\mathcal{C} \le e^{2\delta \log \frac{1}{\delta} \frac{n}{N}}.$$

Proof. To see the bound on $\#\mathcal{C}$, recall the remark after Definition 7.3. We continue to bound $\lambda([\underline{c}^t])$ for $\underline{c} \in \mathcal{C}$ and a fixed $0 \le t < N$.

Let $E_{\underline{c}^t}^i := \bigcup \{P \in P_n^{N_i + t} : P \cap [\underline{c}^t] \neq \emptyset\}$. Note, this is a nested sequences of sets in i. In addition, when i_j is the j-th i so $c_i^t = 1$,

$$\frac{\lambda\left(E_{\underline{c}^t}^{i_j+1}\right)}{\lambda\left(E_{\underline{c}^t}^{i_j}\right)} = \frac{\sum_{\substack{P \in P_n^{Ni_j+t} : \\ P \cap [\underline{c}^t] \neq \varnothing}} \lambda(P) \sum_{\substack{P' \in P_n^{N(i_j+1)+t} : \\ P' \cap [\underline{c}^t] \neq \varnothing, P' \subseteq P}} \frac{\lambda(P')}{\lambda(P)}}{\sum_{\substack{P \in P_n^{Ni_j+t} : \\ P \cap [\underline{c}^t] \neq \varnothing}} \lambda(P)}$$

$$\leq \frac{\sum_{\substack{P \in P_n^{Ni_j+t} : \\ P \cap [\underline{c}^t] \neq \varnothing}} \lambda(P) \sum_{\substack{P' \in P_n^{N(i_j+1)+t} : \\ P' \cap [\underline{c}^t] \neq \varnothing, P' \subseteq P}} \delta^3 \frac{\lambda(P' \cap E_n)}{\lambda(P \cap E_n)}}{\sum_{\substack{P \in P_n^{Ni_j+t} : \\ P \cap [\underline{c}^t] \neq \varnothing}} \lambda(P)} \leq \delta^3.$$

Then,

$$\frac{\lambda\left(E_{\underline{c}^t}^{\frac{n}{N}-1}\right)}{\lambda\left(E_{\underline{c}^t}^0\right)} = \prod_{i=0}^{\frac{n}{N}-2} \frac{\lambda\left(E_{\underline{c}^t}^{i+1}\right)}{\lambda\left(E_{\underline{c}^t}^i\right)} \leq \prod_{j \leq \frac{n\delta}{N}} \frac{\lambda\left(E_{\underline{c}^t}^{i_j+1}\right)}{\lambda\left(E_{\underline{c}^t}^{i_j}\right)} \leq e^{-3\delta\log\frac{1}{\delta}\frac{n}{N}}.$$

Then since $\lambda\left(E_{\underline{c}^t}^0\right) \leq \lambda(D) \leq 1$, and since $[\underline{c}^t] \subseteq E_{\underline{c}^t}^{\frac{n}{N}-1}$, we have

$$\lambda([\underline{c}^t]) \le e^{-3\delta \log \frac{1}{\delta} \frac{n}{N}}$$

Definition 7.5. Given $n, N \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\ell \leq n - N$, set

$$\check{E}_n^{\ell,N,\delta} := \Big\{ x \in E_n : \frac{\lambda(P_n^{\ell+N}(x) \cap E_n)}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell}(x) \cap E_n)} \ge \frac{1}{\delta^3} \frac{\lambda(P_n^{\ell+N}(x))}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell}(x))} \Big\}.$$

Definition 7.6. Given $\delta \in \mathbb{Q}^+$, set

(1)
$$N_n := \lfloor \sqrt{n} \rfloor$$
,

$$(2) \ \check{A}_{n,\delta} := E_n \setminus \bigcup_{t < N_n, \underline{c}^t \in \mathcal{C}_{n,N_n,\delta}} [\underline{c}^t].$$

Lemma 7.7. For all $\delta > 0$ and all n large enough,

$$\lambda_n(\check{A}_{n,\delta}) \ge 1 - \frac{N_n e^{-\delta \log \frac{1}{\delta} \frac{n}{N_n}}}{\lambda(E_n)} \ge 1 - \delta.$$

Proof. By Theorem 7.4,

$$\lambda(\check{A}_{n,\delta}) = \lambda \left(E_n \setminus \bigcup_{t < N_n, \underline{c}^t \in \mathcal{C}_{n,N_n,\delta}} [\underline{c}^t] \right) \ge \lambda(E_n) - N_n \cdot e^{-\delta \log \frac{1}{\delta} \frac{n}{N_n}}$$

$$\geq \lambda(E_n) \cdot \left(1 - \frac{\sqrt{n}e^{-\delta\log\frac{1}{\delta}\sqrt{n}}}{\lambda(E_n)}\right) \geq (1 - \delta)\lambda(E_n),$$

for all *n* large enough, since $\lambda(E_n) \geq \frac{1}{n^2}$.

Lemma 7.8. For all $\delta > 0$ and n large enough,

$$\frac{1}{n}\#\{\ell \le n - N_n : \lambda_n(E_n \setminus \check{E}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta}) \le 1 - \sqrt{2\delta}\} \le \sqrt{2\delta}.$$

Proof. Note that for $x \in \check{A}_{n,\delta}$

$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \le n - N_n} \mathbb{1}_{\check{E}_n^{\ell, N_n, \delta}}(x) \le \delta.$$

³The sub-exponential decay of $\lambda(E_n)$ is enough, but then we may need to choose a more careful $N_n \sim \frac{1}{\frac{-1}{n}\log\lambda(E_n) + \frac{\log n}{n}} \to \infty$. We need to satisfy $\frac{N_n}{\lambda(E_n)}e^{-c_\delta\frac{n}{N_n}} \to 0$, while $N_n \to \infty$.

For all n large enough, by Lemma 7.7,

$$\lambda_n(E_n \setminus \check{A}_{n,\delta}) \le \delta$$

Therefore

$$\frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \le n - N_n} \lambda_n (\check{E}_n^{\ell, N_n, \delta}) = \int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \le n - N_n} \mathbb{1}_{\check{E}_n^{\ell, N_n, \delta}} d\lambda_n$$

$$\le \lambda_n (E_n \setminus \check{A}_{n, \delta}) + \int_{\check{A}_{n, \delta}} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \le n - N_n} \mathbb{1}_{\check{E}_n^{\ell, N_n, \delta}} d\lambda_n$$

$$\le 2\delta.$$

Finally, by the Markov inequality,

$$\frac{1}{n}\#\{\ell \le n - N_n : \lambda_n(E_n \setminus \check{E}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta}) \le 1 - \sqrt{2\delta}\} \le \sqrt{2\delta}.$$

Lemma 7.9. For all $\delta > 0$ and n large enough, for every $\ell \leq n - N_n$ s.t. $\lambda_n(E_n \setminus \check{E}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta}) \geq 1 - \sqrt{2\delta}$,

$$\lambda \left(\bigcup \left\{ P \cap E_n : P \in P_n^{\ell}, \frac{\lambda(P \cap (E_n \setminus \check{E}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta}))}{\lambda(P \cap E_n)} \le 1 - \sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}} \right\} \right)$$

$$\le \lambda(E_n) \sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}}.$$

Proof. By the Markov inequality, for every $\ell \leq n - N_n$ s.t. $\lambda_n(E_n \setminus \check{E}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta}) \geq 1 - \sqrt{2\delta}$ (recall Lemma 7.8),

$$\lambda \left(\bigcup \left\{ P \cap E_n : P \in P_n^{\ell}, 1 - \frac{\lambda(P \cap (E_n \setminus \dot{E}_n^{\ell}, N_n, \delta))}{\lambda(P \cap E_n)} \ge \sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}} \right\} \right)$$

$$\le \frac{1}{\sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}}} \sum_{P \in P_n^{\ell}} \lambda(P \cap E_n) - \lambda(P \cap (E_n \setminus \check{E}^{\ell}, N_n, \delta)) = \frac{\lambda(\check{E}_n^{\ell}, N, \delta)}{\sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}}}$$

$$= \frac{\lambda(E_n) \left(1 - \left(1 - \frac{\lambda(\check{E}_n^{\ell}, N_n, \delta)}{\lambda(E_n)} \right) \right)}{\sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}}} \le \lambda(E_n) \sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}}.$$

Definition 7.10. Given $\delta > 0$, n, $\ell \leq n - N_n$, set

$$(1) \ \check{P}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta} := \left\{ P \in P_n^{\ell} : \frac{\lambda(P \cap (E_n \setminus \check{E}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta}))}{\lambda(P \cap E_n)} \ge 1 - \sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}} \right\},$$

(2) Given $x \in E_n$,

$$\varrho_{\ell}^{\delta}(x) := \frac{\lambda_{P_n^{\ell}(x) \cap (E_n \setminus \check{E}_n^{\ell, N_n, \delta})} \circ g^{-\ell}}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell}(x) \cap E_n)} \circ \varpi_{\ell}(x),$$

50

$$\check{p}_n^{M,\delta} := \int_{\check{A}_{n,\delta}} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\substack{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_{n-N_n}^M(x):\\P_n^\ell(x) \in \check{P}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta}}} \delta_{(\varpi_\ell(x),\varrho_\ell^\delta(x))} d\lambda_n.$$

Remark:

- (1) The measures $\varrho_{\ell}^{\delta}(x)$ are well-defined, as $\varpi_{\ell}(x)$ is invertible.
- (2) The measures $\rho_{\ell}^{\delta}(x)$ may not be probability measures, but are sub-probability measures (which is a still a compact collection of measures).
- (3) It is clear that $0 < \delta' \le \delta \Rightarrow \varrho_{\ell}^{\delta'}(x) \ge \varrho_{\ell}^{\delta}(x)$.
- (4) By the diagonal argument, we may assume w.l.o.g. that for any $M \in \mathbb{N}$ and for any $\delta \in \mathbb{Q}^+$ the measures $\{\check{p}_n^{M,\delta}\}_n$ converge to a limit on the same subsequence $\{n_j\}_j = \mathcal{N}$ from Lemma 2.5.

Definition 7.11.

- (1) Let $\mathbb{P}_{\leq 1}([0,1]^k)$ be the set of sub-probability measures on $[0,1]^k$,

- (2) Let $\pi : \mathcal{W} \times \mathbb{P}_{\leq 1}([0,1]^k) \to \mathcal{W}$ be the projection onto \mathcal{W} , (3) Let $\check{p}^{M,\delta} = \lim_{j} \check{p}_{n_j}^{M,\delta}$ and $\check{q}^{M,\delta} = \check{p}^{M,\delta} \circ \pi^{-1}$, (4) Let $\check{p}^{M,\delta} = \int \check{p}_{\varpi}^{M,\delta} d\check{q}^{M,\delta}(\varpi)$ be the disintegration of $\check{p}^{M,\delta}$ w.r.t. the measurable partition $\{\pi^{-1}(\{\varpi\}): \varpi \in \mathcal{W}\},\$ (5) Set $\varrho_{\varpi}^{M,\delta} := \int \varrho d\tilde{p}_{\varpi}^{M,\delta}.$

Lemma 7.12. For all $0 < \delta' \le \delta$, for all $M \in \mathbb{N}$,

$$\check{q}^{M,\delta'} \ge \check{q}^{M,\delta}.$$

Proof. By Lemma 7.7,

$$\begin{split} \check{p}_{n}^{M,\delta'} \circ \pi^{-1} - \check{p}_{n}^{M,\delta} \circ \pi^{-1} &= \int_{\check{A}_{n,\delta'}} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\substack{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_{n-N_{n}}^{M}(x) : \\ P_{n}^{\ell}(x) \in \check{P}_{n}^{\ell,N_{n},\delta'}}} \delta_{\varpi_{\ell}(x)} \, d\lambda_{n} \\ &- \int_{\check{A}_{n,\delta}} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\substack{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_{n-N_{n}}^{M}(x) : \\ P_{n}^{\ell}(x) \in \check{P}_{n}^{\ell,N_{n},\delta}}} \delta_{\varpi_{\ell}(x)} \, d\lambda_{n} \\ &\geq -\lambda_{n} (\check{A}_{n,\delta'}) - \lambda_{n} (\check{A}_{n,\delta}) \\ &+ \int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\substack{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_{n-N_{n}}^{M}(x) : \\ P_{n}^{\ell}(x) \in \check{P}_{n}^{\ell,N_{n},\delta'} \setminus \check{P}_{n}^{\ell,N_{n},\delta}}} \delta_{\varpi_{\ell}(x)} d\lambda_{n} \\ &\geq -\frac{N_{n} e^{-\delta' \log \frac{1}{\delta'} \frac{n}{N_{n}}}}{\lambda(E_{n})} - \frac{N_{n} e^{-\delta \log \frac{1}{\delta} \frac{n}{N_{n}}}}{\lambda(E_{n})} \\ &+ \int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\substack{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_{n-N_{n}}^{M}(x) : \\ P_{n}^{\ell}(x) \in \check{P}_{n}^{\ell,N_{n},\delta'} \setminus \check{P}_{n}^{\ell,N_{n},\delta}}} \delta_{\varpi_{\ell}(x)} d\lambda_{n} \\ &\geq -2 \frac{N_{n} e^{-\delta' \log \frac{1}{\delta'} \frac{n}{N_{n}}}}{\lambda(E_{n})} \geq -2 n^{\frac{5}{2}} e^{-\delta' \log \frac{1}{\delta'} \sqrt{n}} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{0}. \end{split}$$

Lemma 7.13. For all $M \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta \in \mathbb{Q}^+$,

$$0 \le p^M \circ \pi^{-1} - \check{q}^{M,\delta} \le 4\sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}}.$$

Proof. Recall that by Lemma 7.7, $\lambda_n(\check{A}_{n,\delta}) \geq 1 - \delta$ for all n large enough. Then, by Lemma 7.8 and by Lemma 7.9

$$\check{p}_n^{M,\delta} \circ \pi^{-1} \ge -\sqrt{2\delta} - \sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}} - \frac{N_n}{n} + \int_{\check{A}_{n,\delta}} \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^M(x)} \delta_{\varpi_{\ell}(x)} d\lambda_n$$

$$\ge -4\sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}} + \int \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n^M(x)} \delta_{\varpi_{\ell}(x)} d\lambda_n = -4\sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}} + p_n^M \circ \pi^{-1}.$$

Since π is continuous, $\check{q}^{M,\delta} = \check{p}^{M,\delta} \circ \pi^{-1} \ge -4\sqrt{\sqrt{2\delta}} + p^M \circ \pi^{-1}$. The inequality $\check{p}_n^{M,\delta} \circ \pi^{-1} \le p_n^M \circ \pi^{-1}$ is clear.

Corollary 7.14.

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \uparrow \check{q}^{M,\delta} = p^M \circ \pi^{-1}.$$

Proof. It is a consequence of Lemma 7.13 and Lemma 7.12.

Recall Theorem 6.19 and the definition of the conditional measures $\widehat{\mu} = \int \varrho_{\varpi} \circ \varpi^{-1} d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}(\varpi).$

Theorem 7.15. For $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ ,

$$\varrho_{\varpi} \circ \varpi^{-1} \ll \nu_{\varpi}.$$

Proof.

Step 1: Let $h \in \text{Lip}(\mathbf{M})$ with $0 \le h \le 1$. We show that for all $M \in \mathbb{N}$,

for all $L \geq L_M$, for $\check{p}^{M,\delta}$ -a.e (ϖ,ϱ) , $\varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} \leq \frac{c_M}{\delta^3} \nu_{\varpi}^{(L)}$. We start by studying $\check{p}_n^{M,\delta}$. Recall Lemma 3.9. Then, for $\check{p}_n^{M,\delta}$ -a.e $(\varpi, \varrho) \exists x \in E_n \text{ and } \ell \leq n - N_n \text{ (w.l.o.g. } \ell \geq L) \text{ s.t.}$

$$\varrho \circ \varpi^{-1}(h) = \frac{\lambda_{P_n^{\ell}(x) \cap (E_n \setminus \check{E}_n^{\ell}, N_n, \delta)} \circ g^{-\ell}}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell}(x) \cap E_n)} (h)$$

$$= \sum_{\substack{P' \in P_n^{\ell} + N_n : \\ P' \subseteq P, P' \cap \check{E}_n^{\ell}, N_n, \delta = \emptyset}} \frac{\lambda(P' \cap E_n)}{\lambda(P \cap E_n)} \cdot \frac{\lambda_{P' \cap E_n} \circ g^{-\ell}}{\lambda(P' \cap E_n)} (h)$$

$$= \pm \operatorname{Lip}(h) \cdot \frac{1}{2^{N_n}} + \sum_{\substack{P' \in P_n^{\ell} + N_n : \\ P' \subseteq P, P' \cap \check{E}_n^{\ell}, N_n, \delta = \emptyset}} \frac{\lambda(P' \cap E_n)}{\lambda(P \cap E_n)} \cdot h(x_{g^{\ell}[P']})$$

$$\leq \operatorname{Lip}(h) \cdot \frac{1}{2^{N_n}} + \sum_{\substack{P' \in P_n^{\ell} + N_n : \\ P' \subseteq P, P' \cap \check{E}_n^{\ell}, N_n, \delta = \emptyset}} \frac{1}{\delta^3} \frac{\lambda(P')}{\lambda(P)} \cdot h(x_{g^{\ell}[P']})$$

$$\leq \operatorname{Lip}(h) \cdot \frac{1}{2^{N_n}} + \frac{1}{\delta^3} \frac{1}{\lambda(P)} \sum_{\substack{P' \in P_n^{\ell} + N_n : \\ P' \subseteq P}} \lambda(P') \cdot h(x_{g^{\ell}[P']})$$

$$= \pm \frac{2}{\delta^3} \operatorname{Lip}(h) \cdot \frac{1}{2^{N_n}} + \frac{c_M}{\delta^3} \nu_{\varpi}^{(L)}(h),$$

where c_M is a constant so $\frac{\lambda_P \circ g^{-\ell}}{\lambda(P)} \leq c_M \nu_{\varpi}^{(L)}$ whenever $L \geq L_M$.

Therefore, for any $\tau > 0$, the property $\varrho \circ \varpi^{-1}(h) \leq \tau + \frac{c_M}{\delta^3} \nu_{\varpi}^{(L)}(h)$ is a closed property, hence for $\check{p}^{M,\delta}$ -a.e (ϖ, ϱ) , for all $\tau > 0$,

$$\varrho \circ \varpi^{-1}(h) \le \tau + \frac{c_M}{\delta^3} \nu_{\varpi}^{(L)}(h).$$

Since $\tau > 0$ was arbitrary, and $0 \le h \le 1$ is any Lipschitz function,

for
$$\check{p}^{M,\delta}$$
-a.e (ϖ, ϱ) , $\varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} \le \frac{c_M}{\delta^3} \nu_{\varpi}^{(L)} \le \frac{c_M^2}{\delta^3} \nu_{\varpi}$. (17)

Step 2: By (17), for $\check{q}^{M,\delta}$ -a.e ϖ ,

$$\varrho_{\varpi}^{M,\delta} \circ \varpi^{-1} = \int \varrho \circ \varpi^{-1} d\check{p}_{\varpi}^{M,\delta} \le \frac{c_M^2}{\delta^3} \nu_{\varpi}$$
 (18)

Recall, for $\check{p}^{M,\delta}$ -a.e (ϖ,ϱ) , $\varrho(1) \in [1-2\delta^{\frac{1}{4}},1]$, and so for $\check{q}^{M,\delta}$ -a.e ϖ , $\varrho_{\varpi}^{M,\delta}(1) \in [1-2\delta^{\frac{1}{4}},1]$. In addition, $\varrho_{\varpi}^{M,\delta}$ increases as δ decreases, and as M increases (recall

In addition, $\varrho_{\varpi}^{M,\delta}$ increases as δ decreases, and as M increases (recall the remark following Definition 7.10). In particular, by Corollary 7.14, for $p \circ \pi^{-1}$ -a.e ϖ ,

$$\lim_{M\uparrow\infty}\uparrow\lim_{\delta\downarrow 0}\uparrow\varrho_{\varpi}^{M,\delta}=\int\varrho dp_{\varpi},$$

where $p = \int p_{\varpi} dp \circ \pi^{-1}$ is the disintegration of p^M w.r.t. the partition the measurable partition $\{\pi^{-1}(\{\varpi\}): \varpi \in \mathcal{W}\}$. Hence, since an increasing limit of absolutely continuous measures which are bounded is absolutely continuous,

for
$$p \circ \pi^{-1}$$
-a.e ϖ , $\int \varrho dp_{\varpi} \ll \nu_{\varpi}$.

Recalling the definition of $\hat{\mathbf{p}}$ and ϱ_{ϖ} from Theorem 6.19, we are done.

By combining Theorem 7.15 and Theorem 6.19 one easily concludes the proof of Theorem E.

7.2. **Dominating Conditionals.** In this subsection we post-hoc revisit §7.1, and conclude domination in addition to absolute continuity.

Proposition 7.16. We may assume w.l.o.g. that $\{E_{n_j}\}_{j\geq 0}$ is a constant sequence $\{E\}$.

Proof. By (15), for $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ ,

$$\lim \sup \frac{1}{m} \log \max_{x \in \operatorname{Im}(\varpi)} \|d_x g^{-m}|_{T_x \operatorname{Im}(\varpi)}\| \le -\widehat{\chi} < 0.$$
 (19)

Then, by the Oseledec theorem, for $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , for $\varrho_{\varpi} \circ \varpi^{-1}$ -a.e x,

$$\liminf \frac{1}{m} \log \|d_x f^m|_{T_x \operatorname{Im}(\varpi)}\|_{\operatorname{co}} \ge \frac{\widehat{\chi}}{p} > 0.$$
 (20)

Therefore, by Theorem 7.15, for $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , for a $\lambda_{\mathrm{Im}(\varpi)}$ -positive measure set of x's, $\liminf_{m} \frac{1}{m} \log ||d_x f^m|_{T_x \mathrm{Im}(\varpi)}||_{\mathrm{co}} > 0$. Hence we may fix a subset with uniform expansion time.

Definition 7.17.

$$\widehat{E}^{\ell,\delta} := \{ x \in E : \forall \ell' \ge \ell, \frac{\lambda(P_n^{\ell'}(x) \cap E)}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell'}(x))} \ge 1 - \delta \}.$$

Claim 7.18. For all $\delta > 0 \; \exists \ell_{\delta} \; s.t. \; \frac{\lambda(\widehat{E}^{\ell_{\delta},\delta})}{\lambda(E)} \geq 1 - \delta.$

Proof. This is the Lebesgue density lemma, where instead of using a differentiation basis of balls, we use the nested Yomdin partitions $P^{\ell} := \{ \operatorname{Im}(\sigma \circ \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}}) : \theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}} \in \Theta_{\mathbf{i}^{\ell}}, \ \mathbf{i}^{\ell} \in \mathcal{T}_{\ell} \}.$ For the sake of completeness, we present a short proof. Without loss of generality, we can assume that E is compact. It is enough to show that the set $E^{\gamma} := \{x \in E :$ $\liminf_{\ell} \tfrac{\lambda(P^{\ell}(x)\cap E)}{\lambda(P^{\ell}(x))} \ < \ 1 \ - \ \gamma \} \ \text{ has zero } \lambda\text{-measure for some } \gamma \ \in \ (0,\delta).$ Let $\widetilde{F}^{\gamma} := \{x \in E : \lim \inf_{\ell} \frac{\lambda(P^{\ell}(x) \cap E)}{\lambda(P^{\ell}(x))} \leq 1 - \gamma \}$. We fix $\gamma \in (0, \delta)$ s.t. $\lambda(\widetilde{E}^{\gamma}) = \lambda(\widetilde{F}^{\gamma})$. For any $x \in \widetilde{E}^{\delta}$ and for any N we let $\ell_{N}(x) := \min\{\ell \geq N : \frac{\lambda(P^{\ell}(x) \cap E)}{\lambda(P^{\ell}(x))} < 1 - \gamma \}$. Then the sets $\widetilde{E}^{\gamma}(N) := \bigcup_{x \in \widetilde{E}^{\gamma}} P^{\ell_{N}(x)}(x)$ satisfy $\widetilde{E}^{\gamma} \subseteq \bigcap_{N} \downarrow \widetilde{E}^{\gamma}(N) \subseteq \widetilde{F}^{\gamma}$. To see the last inclusion, note that if a point x' lies in all of $\widetilde{E}^{\gamma}(N)$, then for infinitely many ℓ 's, it belongs to $P^{\ell}(x)$ where $\frac{\lambda(P^{\ell}(x)\cap E)}{\lambda(P^{\ell}(x))} < 1 - \gamma$. Moreover as E is compact and the diameter of P^{ℓ} is going to 0 with ℓ , we have also $x' \in E$. Hence x' belongs to \widetilde{F}^{γ} . However, it follows from definition that $\lambda(\widetilde{E}^{\gamma})$ $(1-\gamma)\lambda(\widetilde{E}^{\gamma}(N))$. Consequently $\lambda(\widetilde{E}^{\gamma}) = \lim_{N} \lambda(\widetilde{E}^{\gamma}(N)) = 0$.

Definition 7.19. Let ℓ_{δ} to be the smallest natural number to satisfy Claim 7.18, then set

$$\widehat{E}^{\delta} := \widehat{E}^{\ell_{\delta},\delta}$$

Corollary 7.20. For all $\delta > 0$, for all $n \geq \frac{1}{\delta} \ell_{\delta}$, for all $\ell_{\delta} \leq \ell \leq n - N$, for all $x \in \widehat{E}^{\delta}$

$$\frac{\lambda(P_n^\ell(x)\cap E)}{\lambda(P_n^\ell(x))} = \frac{\lambda(P_n^{\ell+N}(x)\cap E)}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell+N}(x))} = e^{\pm\delta}.$$

Definition 7.21.

(1)
$$\widehat{E}^{\ell,N,\delta} := \bigcup \{ P \in P_n^{\ell+N} : \frac{\lambda(P \cap E)}{\lambda(P)} \ge 1 - \delta \}$$

$$(1) \ \widehat{E}^{\ell,N,\delta} := \bigcup \{ P \in P_n^{\ell+N} : \frac{\lambda(P \cap E)}{\lambda(P)} \ge 1 - \delta \}.$$

$$(2) \ \widehat{P}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta} := \Big\{ P_n^{\ell}(x) : \frac{\lambda(P \cap \widehat{E}^{\ell,N,\delta})}{\lambda(P)} \ge 1 - \sqrt{2\delta} \Big\},$$

(3) Given $x \in E_n$, and $\ell \le n - N_n$,

$$\widehat{\varrho}_{\ell}^{\delta}(x) := \frac{\lambda_{P_n^{\ell}(x) \cap \widehat{E}^{\ell, N_n, \delta}} \circ g^{-\ell}}{\lambda(P_n^{\ell}(x) \cap E)} \circ \varpi_{\ell}(x),$$

$$\overline{p}_n^{M,\delta} := \int_E \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\substack{\ell_\delta \le \ell \in \mathrm{BG}_{n-N_n}^M(x): \\ P_n^{\ell}(x) \in \widehat{P}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta}}} \delta_{(\varpi_{\ell}(x),\widehat{\varrho}_{\ell}^{\delta}(x))} d\lambda.$$

Lemma 7.22. For all $\delta > 0$, for all $\ell \geq \ell_{\delta}$,

$$\lambda(\widehat{E}^{\ell,N,\delta}) \ge \lambda(\bigcup P_n^{\ell}) - 2\delta.$$

This is a consequence of Claim 7.18.

Lemma 7.23. For all $\delta > 0$, for all $\ell \geq \ell_{\delta}$,

$$\lambda \Big(\bigcup P_n^{\ell} \setminus \bigcup \widehat{P}_n^{\ell,N_n,\delta}\Big) \le \sqrt{2\delta}.$$

Proof. By Lemma 7.22,

$$\sum_{P \in P_n^{\ell}} \lambda(P) \cdot (1 - \frac{\lambda(P \cap \widehat{E}^{\ell, N, \delta})}{\lambda(P)}) = \lambda(\bigcup P_n^{\ell}) - \lambda(\widehat{E}^{\ell, N, \delta}) \le 2\delta.$$

Then by the Markov inequality,

$$\lambda \Big(\bigcup \Big\{ P \in P_n^{\ell} : \frac{\lambda(P \cap \widehat{E}^{\ell,N,\delta})}{\lambda(P)} \le 1 - \sqrt{2\delta} \Big\} \Big) \le \sqrt{2\delta}.$$

Lemma 7.24. For all $M \in \mathbb{N}$, for all $\ell \geq L_M$, for every $P \in \widehat{P}_n^{\ell,N,\delta} \cap P_n^{\ell,M}$, for all $h \in \operatorname{Lip}(\mathbf{M})$ with $0 \leq h \leq 1$,

$$e^{o_{L_M}(1)}\nu_{\varpi}|_{\widehat{E}^{\ell,N,\delta}}(h) = e^{\pm 2\delta}\varrho_{\ell}^{\delta}(P)(h) \pm \operatorname{Lip}(h)e^{-\frac{\chi}{2}N},$$

and $\nu_{\varpi}(\widehat{E}^{\ell,N,\delta}) \geq 1 - \sqrt{2\delta}$.

Proof. This lemma follows from the definition of $\widehat{P}_n^{\ell,N,\delta}$.

Lemma 7.25. Let n_j s.t. $\overline{p}_{n_j}^{M,\delta} \xrightarrow[j\to\infty]{} \overline{p}^{M,\delta}$ for all $M \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta \in \mathbb{Q}^+$. Then,

$$\overline{p}^{M,\delta} \circ \pi^{-1} \xrightarrow[\delta \to 0]{} p^M \circ \pi^{-1}.$$

Proof.

$$0 \le p_n^M \circ \pi^{-1} - \overline{p}_n^{M,\delta} \circ \pi^{-1} \le \frac{\ell_\delta}{n} + \sqrt{\delta}.$$

Corollary 7.26. For $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ ,

$$\varrho_{\varpi}\circ\varpi^{-1}=\nu_{\varpi}.$$

Proof. We may follow the proof of Theorem 7.15, where the only two inequalities in (16) can now be reversed; While the constant $\frac{1}{\delta^3}$ can be replaced by $e^{\pm\delta}$. Indeed, when sending $\delta \to 0$, we conclude that for $p \circ \pi^{-1}$ -a.e ϖ , $\int \varrho dp_{\varpi} = \nu_{\varpi}$.

Corollary 7.27. For every G-u-Gibbs measure $\widehat{\mu}'$, $\widehat{\mu}'$ can be written as $\widehat{\mu}' = \int \mu_{\varpi} d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}(\varpi)$ where for $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e μ_{ϖ} , $\mu_{\varpi} = \nu_{\varpi}$.

Proof. We may assume w.l.o.g. that $\widehat{\mu}'$ is ergodic (recall the remark after Definition 1.2). Therefore, we may assume that the set E is a subset of the $\widehat{\mu}'$ -generic points, and in particular, it follows that $\widehat{\mu} = \lim_{M} \lim_{j} \int_{E} \frac{1}{n_{j}} \sum_{\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_{n_{j}}^{M}(x)} \delta_{g^{\ell}(x)} d\lambda = \widehat{\mu}'$. By Corollary 7.26, we are done.

8. Ergodic and geometric properties of the invariant measure

8.1. Positive exponents tangent to disks, and disks subordinated to unstable leaves. In this section we prove some of the geometric and ergodic properties of the measure we construct in §6. Namely, we show that it admits at least k-many exponents larger than χ almost everywhere. In addition, we prove a lower bound on its entropy by the Lyapunov exponents, which is not given by the standard entropy formula (as we do not assume that the measure is an SRB, nor a u-Gibbs measure, and moreover its disintegration is not given by a measurable partition).

Corollary 8.1 (k positive exponents). For $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , $\operatorname{Im}(\varpi)$ is contained in a local unstable leaf, and $\widehat{\mu}$ admits at least k exponents greater than χ .

Proof. By (19), for $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , for $\varrho_{\varpi} \circ \varpi^{-1}$ -a.e $x, \varpi \subseteq V^u(x)$, and

$$\dim(V^u(x)) \ge \dim(\operatorname{Im}(\varpi)) = k.$$

By (20), we conclude moreover that $\widehat{\mu}$ admits at least k exponents greater than $\frac{\widehat{\chi}}{p} > \chi$ a.e, tangent to the disks.

8.2. The invariant measure gives no weight to sources.

Definition 8.2. A point x is called a source if it is a periodic point with only positive Lyapunov exponents.

Claim 8.3 (No sources). $\hat{\mu}$ gives 0 measure to sources.

Proof. It is a classical theorem that every ergodic measure with only positive Lyapunov exponents is carried by a source. However, $\widehat{\mu}$ has absolutely continuous conditionals, hence gives zero measure to periodic orbits. Therefore almost all ergodic components of μ are not sources.

8.3. Entropy and exponents. In this sub-section we prove a lower bound to the entropy by the positive Lyapunov exponents. In particular this implies the presence of negative Lyapunov exponents. Since our measure is not given by a disintegration w.r.t a partition subordinated to an intermediate unstable foliation, we cannot use conditional entropies. The proof relies on a technique of Besicovitch-Bowen covers.

Definition 8.4 (Pesin blocks). Let ν be an f-invariant ergodic probability measure which admits a positive Lyapunov exponent. Denote by $\underline{\chi} = \underline{\chi}(\nu) := (\chi_1, m_1, \dots, \chi_{\ell_{\underline{\chi}}}, m_{\ell_{\underline{\chi}}})$ the positive Lyapunov exponents, and dimensions of the corresponding Oseledec subspaces, of μ in a decreasing order.

- (1) Let $0 < \tau \le \tau_{\underline{\chi}} := \frac{1}{100d} \min\{\chi_{\ell_{\underline{\chi}}}, \chi_i \chi_{i+1} : i \le \ell_{\underline{\chi}} 1\}$, and let $C_{\underline{\chi},\tau}(\cdot)$ be the Lyapunov change of coordinates for points in $LR_{\chi} = \{Lyapunov \ regular \ points \ with \ an \ index \ \underline{\chi}\}$ (see [30]).
- (2) Let $\operatorname{PR}_{\underline{\chi}} = \{x \in \operatorname{LR}_{\underline{\chi}} : \limsup_{n \to \pm \infty} \frac{1}{n} \log \| \overline{C}_{\underline{\chi},\tau}^{-1}(f^n(x)) \| = 0, \forall 0 < \tau \leq \tau_{\underline{\chi}} \}$, the set of $\underline{\chi}$ -Pesin regular points which carries μ . $\operatorname{PR} := \bigcup_{\chi} \operatorname{PR}_{\chi}$ is called the set of Pesin regular points.
- (3) Given $x \in \overline{PR}_{\underline{\chi}}$, let $E_j(x)$ be the Oseledec subspace of x corresponding to χ_j .
- (4) A Pesin block $\Lambda_{\ell}^{(\underline{\chi},\tau)}$ is a subset of $\bigcup_{|\underline{\chi}'-\underline{\chi}|_{\infty}<\tau} \operatorname{PR}_{\underline{\chi}'}$ which is a level set $[q_{\tau} \geq \frac{1}{\ell}]$ of a measurable function $q_{\tau} : \bigcup_{|\underline{\chi}'-\underline{\chi}|_{\infty}<\tau} \operatorname{PR}_{\underline{\chi}'} \to (0,1)$ s.t. (a) $\frac{q_{\tau} \circ f}{q_{\tau}} = e^{\pm \tau}$, (b) $q_{\tau}(\cdot) \leq \frac{1}{\|C_{\underline{\chi},\tau}^{-1}(\cdot)\|^{\frac{d}{\beta}}}$. Often we omit the subscript ℓ when the dependence on ℓ is clear from the context.

Definition 8.5. Let $\widehat{\mu} = \int \widehat{\mu}_x d\widehat{\mu}(x)$ be the ergodic decomposition of $\widehat{\mu}$. Set $\chi_1(x) > \ldots > \chi_{u(x)}(x) > 0$ to be the list of all positive exponents of $\widehat{\mu}_x$, for $\widehat{\mu}$ -a.e x.

Remark: Note, by Corollary 8.1, $u(x) \ge k$ for $\widehat{\mu}$ -a.e x.

We are now in a position to prove Theorem B.

Theorem 8.6 (Entropy and exponents). For $\widehat{\mu}$ -a.e x,

$$h_{\widehat{\mu}_x}(f) \ge \sum_{i=u(x)}^{u(x)-k+1} \chi_i(x).$$

Proof. Let $u \geq k$ s.t. $\widehat{\mu}(\{x : u(x) = u\}) > 0$. Let $h \geq 0$, and let $\chi_1 > \ldots > \chi_u$ s.t. for $\underline{\chi} = (\chi_1, m_1, \ldots, \chi_u, m_u)$, and $0 < \tau < \tau_{\underline{\chi}}$, we

have $\widehat{\mu}(\Omega_{\tau}) > 0$ where w.l.o.g. $\ell \geq \frac{1}{\tau}$ and (recall Definition 8.4),

$$\Omega_{\tau} := \{ x \in \Lambda_{\ell}^{(\underline{\chi}, \tau)} : u(x) = u, h_{\widehat{\mu}_x}(f) = h \pm \tau \}.$$

By [6, Lemma 3.1, Theorem 3.4], for $\widehat{\mu}$ -a.e x,

$$h_{\widehat{\mu}_x}(f) = \lim_{r \to 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{-1}{n} \log \widehat{\mu}(B(x, n, e^{-nr}))$$
$$= \lim_{r \to 0} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{-1}{n} \log \widehat{\mu}(B(x, n, e^{-nr})),$$

where $B(x, n, e^{-nr}) := \{y : \forall 0 \leq j \leq n, d(x, y) \leq e^{-nr}\}$ with $d(\cdot, \cdot)$ being the Riemannian distance on \mathbf{M} . Therefore, there exists $n_{\tau} \in \mathbb{N}$ and $0 < r < \tau$ s.t. $\widehat{\mu}(K_{\tau}) \geq (1 - \tau)\widehat{\mu}(\Omega_{\tau})$ where,

$$K_{\tau} := \{ x \in \Omega_{\tau} : \forall n \ge n_{\tau}, \widehat{\mu}(B(x, n, e^{-nr})) = e^{-nh_{\widehat{\mu}_x}(f) \pm n\tau} \}.$$

Let $\varpi \in \mathcal{W}$ s.t. $\varrho_{\varpi} \circ \varpi^{-1}(K_{\tau}) > 0$. Let x_0 be a $\varrho_{\varpi} \circ \varpi^{-1}$ -density point of K_{τ} . Recall that by Corollary 7.26, $\varrho_{\varpi} \circ \varpi^{-1} = \nu_{\varpi}$. Recall also that by Corollary 8.1, for every $x \in \text{Im}(\varpi) \cap K_{\tau}$,

$$\operatorname{Im}(\varpi) \subseteq V_{\operatorname{loc}}^{u}(x). \tag{21}$$

For $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}$ -a.e ϖ , let $L_{\varpi} := \max \frac{d\nu_{\varpi}}{d\lambda_{\operatorname{Im}(\varpi)}}$ (by Proposition 7.2), so for all $x \in K_{\tau} \cap \operatorname{Im}(\varpi)$,

$$\nu_{\varpi}(B(x, n, e^{-nr})) \le L_{\varpi} \cdot e^{-n\sum_{i=u}^{u-k+1} m_i \chi_i} e^{3d\tau n}, \tag{22}$$

by (21).

Let $n \geq n'_{\tau}$, and cover $B_{\text{Im}(\varpi)}(x_0, e^{-n\tau}) \cap K_{\tau}$ by a cover C_n of balls of the form $B(\cdot, n, e^{-nr})$, centered at elements of $K_{\tau} \cap B_{\text{Im}(\varpi)}(x_0, e^{-n\tau})$ and with a multiplicity bounded by $e^{3d\tau n}$. This is possible by [6, Lemma 2.2]. Then,

$$\frac{\nu_{\varpi}(B(x_0, e^{-n\tau}) \cap K_{\tau})}{L_{\varpi} \cdot e^{-n\sum_{i=u}^{u-k+1} m_i \chi_i} e^{3d\tau n}} \le \#\mathcal{C}_n \le \frac{e^{3d\tau n}}{\min_{B \in \mathcal{C}_n} \widehat{\mu}(B)}$$

$$\le e^{nh_{\widehat{\mu}_x}(f) + n\tau} e^{3d\tau n}.$$
(23)

Since x_0 is a density point, we may assume w.l.o.g. that $\nu_{\varpi}(B(x_0, e^{-n\tau}) \cap K_{\tau}) \geq \frac{1}{2}\nu_{\varpi}(B(x_0, e^{-n\tau})) \geq \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{L_{\varpi}}e^{-n\tau k}$. Thus in total,

$$\frac{1}{2L_{\varpi}^{2}}e^{n\sum_{i=u}^{u-k+1}m_{i}\chi_{i}}e^{-3d\tau n}e^{-n\tau k} \leq e^{nh_{\widehat{\mu}_{x}}(f)+4d\tau n}.$$

We get $h_{\widehat{\mu}_x}(f) \ge \sum_{i=u}^{u-k+1} m_i \chi_i(x) - 10 d\tau$, for $\widehat{\mu}$ -a.e $x \in \Omega_{\tau}$. Since $\tau > 0$ was arbitrary and $\underline{\chi}$ was arbitrary, we are done.

Corollary 8.7. $h_{\widehat{\mu}}(f) \geq \int \sum_{i=u(x)}^{u(x)-k+1} \chi_i(x) d\widehat{\mu}(x)$.

Proof. It follows from the affinity of both sides of the equation in Theorem 8.6 w.r.t. the ergodic decomposition.

8.4. Disintegration by embedded disks. Recall the definition of ν_{ϖ} in Definition 7.1 for any ϖ , and the following remark.

Lemma 8.8. The measure $\widehat{\mu}$ can be written as $\widehat{\mu} = \int \nu_{\varpi} d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}'$, where $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}'$ is a probability on \mathcal{W} s.t. $\widehat{\mathbf{p}}'$ -a.e $\varpi : [0,1]^k \to \mathbf{M}$ is a $C^{r-1,1}$ embedding.

Proof. First, by the definition of ν_{ϖ} , if $\operatorname{Im}(\varpi') \subseteq \operatorname{Im}(\varpi)$, then

$$\nu_{\varpi}|_{\operatorname{Im}(\varpi')} = \nu_{\varpi}(\operatorname{Im}(\varpi')) \cdot \nu_{\varpi'}.$$

For proof, see for example [4, Theorem 4.10].

By Sard's lemma, $\nu_{\varpi}(\varpi[[\operatorname{Jac}(\varpi)=0]])=0$. We write the open set $[\operatorname{Jac}(\varpi)\neq 0]\subset [0,1]^k$ as a countable disjoint (up to zero volume set) union of subcubes C such that $\varpi|_C$ is a diffeomorphism onto its image. Then we let $\mathcal{P}_{\varpi}:=\{\varpi|_C,\ C\}$.

We condider the probability $\hat{\mathbf{p}}'$ on \mathcal{W} defined as follows

$$\forall h \in C(\mathcal{W}), \ \widehat{\mathbf{p}}'(h) = \int \sum_{\varpi' \in \mathcal{P}_{\varpi}} \nu_{\varpi}(\operatorname{Im}(\varpi')) \cdot h(\varpi') d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}(\varpi).$$

Since
$$\nu_{\varpi} = \sum_{\varpi' \in \mathcal{P}_{\varpi}} \nu_{\varpi}(\operatorname{Im}(\varpi')) \cdot \nu_{\varpi'}$$
, we get $\widehat{\mu} = \int \sum_{\varpi' \in \mathcal{P}_{\varpi}} \nu_{\varpi}(\operatorname{Im}(\varpi')) \cdot \nu_{\varpi'} d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}(\varpi) = \int \nu_{\varpi'} d\widehat{\mathbf{p}}'(\varpi')$.

9. The Strong Viana Conjecture

9.1. **Hyperbolic SRB measures for co-dimension** 1. As a first step towards the proof of Theorem D, we prove the existence of a hyperbolic SRB measure in the co-dimension 1 case.

Claim 9.1. If k = d - 1, then $\widehat{\mu}$ from §6 is a hyperbolic SRB measure.

Proof. By Theorem 8.6 and Corollary 8.1, almost every ergodic component of μ has positive entropy, and hence by the Ruelle inequality it admits a negative Lyapunov exponent. Therefore, there are at most (d-1)-many positive Lyapunov exponents at almost every point. By Corollary 8.1, almost every point admits at least (d-1)-many positive Lyapunov exponents. Thus in total, almost every point admits exactly (d-1)-many positive Lyapunov exponents, and one negative exponent. By Theorem 8.6, a.e ergodic component of $\widehat{\mu}$ satisfies the entropy formula, thus it is a hyperbolic SRB measure with exactly (d-1)-many positive Lyapunov exponents.

9.2. **The strong Viana conjecture.** In this last section we prove Theorem D and Theorem C.

9.2.1. New negative exponents.

Definition 9.2. For $k \in \{1, \dots, d-1\}$ and $x \in \mathbf{M}$, we set

$$\varkappa_{k+1}^-(x) := \lim_{\Delta \to 0} \limsup_{q \to \infty} \liminf_{n \to \infty} \varkappa_{k+1,q,n,\Delta}^-(x),$$

where

$$\varkappa_{k+1,q,n,\Delta}^{-}(x) := \min_{\substack{\mathcal{L} \subseteq \{1,\dots,n\} \\ \Delta n \leq \#\mathcal{L} \leq n}} \frac{1}{\#\mathcal{L}} \sum_{\ell \in \mathcal{L}} \Phi_{k+1}^{(q)} \circ f^{\ell}(x),$$

and

$$\Phi_{k+1}^{(q)}(x) := \frac{1}{q} \log^+ \frac{\| \wedge^k d_x f^q \|}{\| \wedge^{k+1} d_x f^q \|}.$$

Remark: The exponent $\varkappa_{k+1}^-(x)$ does not depend on the choice of the norm on $\wedge^l TM$, $l=1,\cdots,d$. For an appropriate norm, the ratio $\frac{\|\wedge^k d_x f^q\|}{\|\wedge^{k+1} d_x f^q\|}$ is just the inverse of the (k+1)-th singular value of $d_x f^q$.

Definition 9.3. For $x \in \mathbf{M}$ we denote by $p\omega(x)$ the limit set of the empirical measures $\{\nu_x^{(n)}\}_{n\geq 0}$ where $\nu_x^{(n)}:=\frac{1}{n}\sum_{0\leq \ell< n}\delta_{f^\ell(x)}$. Given $k\in$ $\{1,\ldots,d-1\},\ set$

$$\beta_{k+1}(x) := \sup_{\nu \in p\omega(x)} \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\nu} \chi_{k+1}.$$

Proposition 9.4.

$$\varkappa_{k+1}^{-} \le \max\{-\beta_{k+1}, 0\}.$$

Proof. Let $\delta > 0$. Let $\Delta > 0$ and q_0 s.t. for infinitely many $q_i \geq q_0$, $\varkappa_{k+1}^-(x) \leq \liminf_n \varkappa_{k+1,n,q_i,\Delta}^-(x) + \frac{\delta}{2}$. For all $q_i \geq q_0$, for all $n \geq n_i$, let \mathcal{L}_{n,q_i} which attains the minimum s.t. $\#\mathcal{L}_{n,q_i} \geq \Delta \cdot n$ and $\varkappa_{k+1}^-(x) \leq \alpha$ $\frac{1}{\#\mathcal{L}_{n,q_i}} \sum_{\ell \in \mathcal{L}_{n,q}} \Phi_{k+1}^{(q_i)} \circ f^{\ell}(x) + \delta.$

Then for any subsequence $n_t \uparrow \infty$ s.t. $\frac{1}{n_t} \sum_{\ell \leq n_t} \delta_{f^{\ell}(x)} \to \nu$ (that is for any $\nu \in p\omega(x)$), by a diagonal argument there exists a sub-subsequece $\{n_j\}_{j\geq 0}\subseteq \{n_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ s.t. $\frac{1}{\#\mathcal{L}_{n_j,q_i}}\sum_{\ell\in\mathcal{L}_{n_j,q_i}}\delta_{f^\ell(x)}\to \nu_{q_i}$ for all $q_i\geq q_0$. We can fix $q_{\delta,\nu}\geq q_0$ s.t. for all $q\geq q_{\delta,\nu}$,

$$\nu([\Phi_{k+1}^{(q)} = \max\{-\chi_{k+1}, 0\} \pm \sqrt{\delta}]) > 1 - \Delta \cdot \delta. \tag{24}$$

Assume w.l.o.g. that $q_{\delta,\nu} \in \{q_i, i \in \mathbb{N}\}$. Then, indeed, $\nu_{q_{\delta,\nu}} \cdot \Delta \leq \nu$, and $\int \Phi_{k+1}^{(q_{\delta,\mu})} d\nu_{q_{\delta,\nu}} \ge \varkappa_{k+1}^{-}(x) - \delta$.

Then $\nu_{q_{\delta,\nu}}([\Phi_{k+1}^{(q_{\delta,\nu})} \geq \varkappa_{k+1}^{-}(x) - \sqrt{\delta}]) \geq \delta$; otherwise for all $\delta > 0$ small enough so $\delta \cdot \log M_f - \sqrt{\delta} < -\delta$,

$$\int \Phi_{k+1}^{(q_{\delta,\nu})} d\nu_{q_{\delta,\nu}} \leq \delta \log M_f + \varkappa_{k+1}^-(x) - \sqrt{\delta} < \varkappa_{k+1}^-(x) - \delta, \text{ a contradiction.}$$

Therefore,

$$\nu([\Phi_{k+1}^{(q_{\delta,\nu})} \ge \varkappa_{k+1}^{-}(x) - \sqrt{\delta}]) \ge \Delta\delta,$$

and by (24), we get

$$\nu([\max\{-\chi_{k+1}, 0\} \ge \varkappa_{k+1}^{-}(x) - 2\sqrt{\delta}]) > 0.$$

Therefore, $\varkappa_{k+1}^-(x) \leq \inf_{\nu \in p\omega(x)} \operatorname{ess} - \inf_{\nu} \max\{-\chi_{k+1}, 0\} + 2\sqrt{\delta}$ for all $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small, and so by the continuity of $t \mapsto \max\{-t, 0\}$,

$$\begin{split} \varkappa_{k+1}^-(x) &\leq \inf_{\nu \in p\omega(x)} \operatorname{ess} - \inf_{\nu} \max\{-\chi_{k+1}, 0\} \\ &= \max\{-\sup \operatorname{ess} - \sup_{\nu} \chi_{k+1}, 0\} = \max\{-\beta_{k+1}(x), 0\}. \end{split}$$

Lemma 9.5. When x is not a source we have

$$\beta_d(x) < 0.$$

Proof. If $\beta_d(x) > 0$ there is $\nu \in p\omega(x)$ with an ergodic component ξ satisfying $\chi_d(\xi) > 0$. Therefore ξ is the atomic measure at a source. Then we have necessarily $p\omega(x) = \{\nu\} = \{\xi\}$ and x is a source.

Recall that $\chi_{k+1}(x)$ denotes the (k+1)-th Lyapunov exponent at x (with multiplicity).

Lemma 9.6. For an f-invariant probability ν , for ν -a.e x, $\varkappa_{k+1}^{-}(x) =$ $\max\{-\chi_{k+1}(x),0\}$ and $\beta_{k+1}(x)=\chi_{k+1}(x)$.

Proof. ν -a.e x is typical w.r.t. an ergodic component of ν , hence we may assume w.l.o.g. that ν is ergodic. Let $\Delta \in \left(0, \frac{1}{4(\max\{\log M_f, 1\})^2}\right)$, and let $0 < \tau \ll \Delta^2$. Given x, let $q_{x,\tau} \in \mathbb{N}$ s.t. for all $q \geq q_{x,\tau}$, $\Phi_{k+1}^{(q)}(x) = \max\{0, -\chi_{k+1}(x)\} \pm \tau.$ Let q_{τ} sufficiently large so $\nu([q_{x,\tau} \leq q_{\tau}]) \geq 1 - \frac{\tau}{2}$. Let n_{τ} s.t. $\nu(\Omega_{\tau}) \geq$

 $1-\tau$, where

$$\Omega_{\tau} := \left\{ x : \forall n \ge n_{\tau}, \frac{1}{n} \sum_{\ell \le n} \mathbb{1}_{[q_{x,\tau} \le q_{\tau}]} \circ f^{\ell}(x) \ge 1 - \tau \right\}.$$

Then for any $x \in \Omega_{\tau}$, for all $n \geq n_{\tau}$, for all $q \geq q_{\tau}$

$$\varkappa_{k+1,q,n,\Delta}^{-}(x) = (\max\{0, -\chi_{k+1}(x)\} \pm \tau) \frac{\Delta - \tau}{\Delta} \pm \frac{\tau}{\Delta} \cdot \log M_f.$$

Therefore $\lim_{n} \varkappa_{k+1,q,n,\Delta}^{-}(x) = \max\{0,-\chi_{k+1}(x)\} \pm \sqrt{\Delta}$, for all $p \geq$ p_{τ} for all $x \in \Omega_{\tau}$. Then we are done as the measure of Ω_{τ} can be made arbitrarily close to 1, and we may send q to ∞ and Δ to 0.

The assertion concerning β_k follows easily from the definition as $pw(x) = \{\nu\}$ for a typical point x for an ergodic measure ν .

Definition 9.7. For $\chi \geq 0$ and $k \in \{1, \ldots, d-1\}$, let

$$\operatorname{Hyp}_{\chi}^{k} := \left\{ x \in \mathbf{M} : \lambda_{k}(x), \varkappa_{k+1}^{-}(x) > \chi \right\}.$$

Remark: Notice, in particular there is no condition on the angles between expanding or contracting directions for points in Hyp_{ν}^{k} .

9.2.2. Invariant measure with non-zero Lyapunov exponents. Recall the construction of the sets $E_n \subseteq E$ from Definition 5.20, as a sequence of subsets of Hyp_{χ}^k , where we assume $\text{Vol}(\text{Hyp}_{\chi}^k) > 0$.

Theorem 9.8 (Strong Viana Conjecture). If $Vol(Hyp_{\chi}^k) > 0$, then there exists a χ -hyperbolic SRB measure with exactly k positive Lyapunov exponent almost everywhere.

Proof. We provide a proof for a stronger statement, where we only use the fact that for $x \in \text{Hyp}_{\chi}^k$, we have $\lambda_k(x) > \chi$ and $\beta_{k+1}(x) < -\chi$ (recall Proposition 9.4).

For all $N \in \mathbb{N}^*$ we let $\mathcal{C}_N \subseteq B_{\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{Lip}}}(0,N)$ s.t. $\bigcup_{h \in \mathcal{C}_N} B_{\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{Lip}}}(h,\frac{1}{N})$ is a finite cover of $B_{\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{Lip}}}(0,N) \subseteq \mathrm{Lip}(\mathbf{M})$. Then

$$d(\nu, \eta) := \sum_{N \ge 1} \sum_{h \in C_N} \frac{1}{2^N \# C_N} |\nu(h) - \eta(h)|$$

defines a convex metric on $\mathbb{P}(\mathbf{M})$ compatible with the weak-* topology, i.e. $d(a\eta + (1-a)\nu, a\eta' + (1-a)\nu') \leq ad(\eta, \eta') + (1-a)d(\nu, \nu')$ for any $a \in [0, 1]$ and any $\nu, \nu' \in \mathbb{P}(\mathbf{M})$.

Let $\mathcal{K}(\mathbb{P}(\mathbf{M}))$ be the set of compact subsets of $\mathbb{P}(\mathbf{M})$ endowed with the Hausdorff-Gromov distance.

Since the map $x \mapsto p\omega(x)$ is Borel (see for example [18, Appendix B]), there is a compact subset $E' \subseteq E$ with a measure such that $x \mapsto p\omega(x)$ is continuous on E'. Then $p\omega(E') := \bigcup_{x \in E'} p\omega(x)$ is compact. By Egorov's theorem, there exists a compact subset of positive measure $E'' \subseteq E'$, s.t. $d(\nu_x^{(n)}, p\omega(E')) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{uniformly}} 0$ on E''. We carry out the construction of $\widehat{\mu}$ and μ as in §6 by the set E'', choosing $E_{n_j} \subseteq E''$. We prove now that $\chi_{k+1} < -\chi \widehat{\mu}$ -a.e.

It is enough to show that any weak limit of $\widetilde{\mu}_n := \int \nu_x^{(n \cdot p)} d\lambda_n$ has its k+1-exponent negative a.e, since $\forall M$, $\mu_n^M \leq p \cdot \widetilde{\mu}_n$. By taking a subsequence of $\{n_j\}_{j\geq 0}$ we may assume that $\widetilde{\mu}_{n_j}$ is converging to a probability $\widetilde{\mu}$. Hence, $\mu \leq p \cdot \widetilde{\mu}$.

Recall the measure λ_n is supported on E_n^n . By Lemma 6.5, for all $x \in E_n$ and $y \in P_n^n(x)$, we have $d(\nu_y^{(n)}, p\omega(x)) \leq d(\nu_x^{(n)}, p\omega(x)) +$

 $\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{N \geq 1} \frac{N}{2^N}.$ Therefore $\sup_{y \in E_n^n} d(\nu_y^{(n)}, p\omega(E')) \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 0.$ We "discretize" the measure $\widetilde{\mu}_n$: let α_n be a partition of E_n^n and fix $x_n^A \in A \subset E_n^n$, for all $A \in \alpha_n$, such that $\widetilde{\mu}_n' := \sum_{A \in \alpha_n} \lambda_n(A) \cdot \nu_{x_n^A}^{(n \cdot p)}$ satisfies $d(\widetilde{\mu}_n, \widetilde{\mu}_n') \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 0.$

Let $\xi_n^A \in p\omega(E')$, such that $d(\nu_{x_n^A}^{(n \cdot p)}, \xi_n^A) = d(\nu_{x_n^A}^{(n \cdot p)}, p\omega(E'))$. Write $\xi_n := \sum_{A \in \alpha_n} \lambda_n(A) \cdot \xi_n^A$. Then we have,

$$d(\widetilde{\mu}'_n, \xi_n) \le \sum_{A \in \alpha_n} \lambda_n(A) \cdot d(\nu_{x_n^A}^{(n \cdot p)}, \xi_n^A) \le \sup_{x \in E''} d(\nu_x^{(n \cdot p)}, p\omega(E')) \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} 0.$$

Let $\vartheta \in \mathbb{P}(p\omega(E'))$ be a limit point of $\left(\sum_{A \in \alpha_n} \lambda_n(A) \cdot \delta_{\xi_n^A}\right)_n$ (recall that $\mathbb{P}(p\omega(E'))$ is compact). Then $\widetilde{\mu} = \int \xi \, d\vartheta(\xi)$, and so $\chi_{k+1} < -\chi$ $\widetilde{\mu}$ -a.e, as ϑ -a.e ξ belongs to $p\omega(E')$, where by the definition of β_{k+1} , we have ξ -a.e $\chi_{k+1} < -\chi$.

Therefore, it follows that $\chi_{k+1} < -\chi \mu$ -a.e, and so $\widehat{\mu}$ -a.e, as the Lyapunov exponents are f-invariant functions. Since almost every ergodic component of $\widehat{\mu}$ is also a G-u-Gibbs measure with a disintegration on disks of dimension k, and it admits k exponents larger than χ almost everywhere, it follows that almost every such an ergodic component is therefore a χ -hyperbolic SRB measure with exactly k-positive Lyapunov exponents.

Remark: The same proof applies to show that (note that β_{k+1} may be non-positive),

- (1) If the set $[\lambda_k > \chi \ge \beta_{k+1}]$ has positive volume for some $\chi > 0$, there is a u-Gibbs measure with exactly k Lyapunov exponents greater than χ , i.e. μ has absolutely continuous conditionals with respect to the k-unstable manifold.
- (2) If the set $[\lambda_k > \chi > 0 \ge \beta_{k+1}]$ has a positive volume, there is an SRB measure (a-priori perhaps not hyperbolic) with exactly k positive Lyapunov exponents, and they are greater than χ . In particular this provides an alternative proof of Claim 9.1 which does not involve the entropic characterization of SRB measures.

We conclude now the proofs of Theorem C and Theorem D by establishing the basin property.

Corollary 9.9. Vol-a.e $x \in \text{Hyp}_{\chi}^k$ (resp. Vol-a.e x with $\lambda_{d-1}(x) > 0$) lies in the basin of attraction of an ergodic χ -hyperbolic SRB measure with exactly k positive Lyapunov exponent almost everywhere.

Proof. Assume for contradiction that there is a positive volume subset of $\operatorname{Hyp}_{\chi}^k$ s.t. no point in it lies in the basin of attraction of a χ -hyperbolic SRB measure with exactly k positive Lyapunov exponents. In particular, there is a disk D, and a subset E of $\operatorname{Hyp}_0^k \cap D$ of positive disk volume s.t. $\chi_{A_k,p_0}(x,\iota(T_xD)) > \chi$ for all $x \in E$, for some $p_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ (recall §2.2). Carry out the construction of μ by this subset (recall §6).

Let T > 0 s.t. $\mu\left(\Lambda_T^{(\chi,\frac{\chi}{2})}\right) \ge \mu(1) - \frac{\beta}{4}$ (recall the remark following Corollary 5.21) where $\Lambda_T^{(\chi,\frac{\chi}{2})} = \bigcup_{\chi_k,-\chi_{k+1}>\chi} \Lambda_T^{(\chi,\frac{\chi}{2})}$.

Then for infinitely many n's, there is a positive proportion of E_n

Then for infinitely many n's, there is a positive proportion of E_n (w.r.t. disk volume) of points whose n-orbit meets $B_{\frac{1}{2T}}\left(\Lambda_T^{(\chi,\frac{\chi}{2})}\right)$, a $\frac{1}{2T}$ -neighborhood of $\Lambda_T^{(\chi,\frac{\chi}{2})}$, with a frequency greater than $\frac{\beta}{10}$.

Given such a point $x \in E_n$, there is a time $\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n(x)$ s.t. $\varpi_{\ell}(x)$ meets the $\frac{1}{T}$ -local stable foliation of $\Lambda_T^{(\chi,\frac{\chi}{2})}$. We may assume w.l.o.g. that $\ell \geq \frac{\beta}{10}n$. Moreover, by the uniform hyperbolicity estimates for BG times, there exists $\alpha_T > 0$ s.t. every such tranversal intersection is with an angle at least α_T . In addition, we can assume that the intersection happens within more than $\frac{1}{3T}$ from the boundary of $\varpi_{\ell}(x)$, and that $\varpi_{\ell}(x)$ spans across $B(x', \frac{1}{T})$ with $x' \in \Lambda_T^{(\chi, \frac{\chi}{2})}$.

Let $\mu = \int \mu_{\xi^u(x)} d\mu(x)$ be the disintegration of μ by conditionals on unstable leaves as in [35].⁴ Recall that $\mu_{\xi^u(x)} \sim \lambda_{\xi^u(x)}$ for μ -a.e x. Then, by the Lebesgue density theorem, let $r_T \in (0, \frac{1}{2T})$ s.t. $\mu(K_T) \geq \mu(1) - \frac{\beta}{2}$ where

$$K_T := \left\{ x \in \Lambda_T^{(\chi, \frac{\chi}{2})} : \forall r \in (0, 2r_T], \frac{\lambda_{\xi^u(x)}(B(x, r) \cap \Lambda_T^{(\chi, \frac{\chi}{2})})}{\lambda_{\xi^u(x)}(B(x, r))} \ge 1 - \sin^2 \alpha_T \right\}.$$

Let $h \in C(\mathbf{M})$ s.t. $h|_{B_{r_T}(K_T)} \equiv 1$, $h|_{(B_{2r_T}(K_T))^c} \equiv 0$, and $0 \le h \le 1$. Then $\mu^0(h) \ge \frac{\beta}{2} > 0$.

Therefore, there is a positive disk volume set of points for which h is positive on its orbit. However, the support of h is $(1 - 2(\sin \alpha_T)^2)$ -volume-saturated by the stable leaves of μ on $\Lambda_T^{(\chi, \frac{\chi\beta}{2})}$ (by Pesin's absolute continuity, and the fact the support of h is contained in Pesin charts).

By Claim 7.18 with $\delta < \frac{1}{10} \sin \alpha_T$, it follows that if $x \in E$, $\ell \in \mathrm{BG}_n(x)$, and $\varpi_\ell(x)$ spans across $B(x', r_T)$ with $x' \in K_T$, then at most $\frac{(\sin \alpha_T)^2}{\sin \alpha_T}$ of the volume of $\varpi_\ell(x)$ does not meet the stable foliation of

⁴Note that in Theorem 9.8, we in fact showed that the measure $\widehat{\mu}$ from §6 is a χ -hyperbolic SRB measure with exactly k positive Lyapunov exponents a.e.

 K_T , as more than that would imply losing more than $2\sin^2\alpha_T$ of the chart's volume. However, as long as w.l.o.g. $(1+\frac{1}{10})\sin\alpha_T < 1$, $\varpi_\ell(x)$ must intersect the stable foliation of $\Lambda_T^{(\chi,\frac{\chi}{2})}$ on the orbit of E.

Hence there is a positive disk volume set of points which lie on the stable leaf of an ergodic component of μ , which is a χ -hyperbolic SRB measure with exactly k positive Lyapunov exponent- a contradiction!

The same proof applies to show that Vol-a.e x with $\lambda_{d-1}(x) > 0$ lies in the basin of an ergodic hyperbolic SRB measure.

APPENDIX A. ANGLE ESTIMATES

A.1. **Exterior Powers.** We endow \mathbb{R}^d with the Euclidean norm $\|\cdot\|$ and denote by $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ the associated inner product. For each $k = 1, \ldots, d-1$, the induced Euclidean norm on the k-th exterior power $\wedge^k(\mathbb{R}^d)$ is defined for indecomposable vectors Z of $\wedge^k(\mathbb{R}^d)$, i.e., $Z = z_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge z_k$ with $z_i \in \mathbb{R}^d$, by the determinant of the Gram matrix of z_1, \ldots, z_k :

$$||Z||^2 = \det (\langle z_i, z_j \rangle)_{i,j},$$

and then extended by bilinearity. The associated inner product will also be denoted by \langle,\rangle and the corresponding operator norm on $\wedge^k \mathcal{L}\left(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R}^d\right)$ and $\mathcal{L}\left(\mathbb{R}^d,\wedge^k \mathcal{L}\left(\mathbb{R}^d,\mathbb{R}^d\right)\right)$ by $\|\cdot\|$.

A.2. **Grassmanian.** The Grassmanian $\operatorname{Grass}(k,d)$ is the set of k-planes in \mathbb{R}^d . When $Z = z_1 \wedge \ldots \wedge z_k$ is an indecomposable vector of $\wedge^k (\mathbb{R}^d)$, we denote by g(Z) the k-plane spanned by z_1, \ldots, z_k . Notice that a k-plane is defined, up to a scalar, by a unique indecomposable vector of $\wedge^k (\mathbb{R}^d)$. This is the so-called Plücker embedding of the Grassmanian $\operatorname{Grass}(k,d)$ in the projective space $\mathbb{P} \wedge^k (\mathbb{R}^d)$ which we denote by $\iota : \operatorname{Grass}(k,d) \to \mathbb{P} \wedge^k (\mathbb{R}^d)$. This embedding with the Euclidean norm on $\wedge^k (\mathbb{R}^d)$ induced a distance on $\operatorname{Grass}(k,d)$, called the Cayley distance, as follows:

$$\cos d_c \left(\iota(Z), \iota\left(Z'\right)\right) = \frac{\langle Z, Z' \rangle}{\|Z\| \|Z'\|}.$$

A.2.1. Stationary Angles Between Planes. Given two k-planes F and G, we define the angle $\angle F$, G between F and G as follows:

$$\angle F, G = \max_{u \in F} \min_{v \in G} \angle u, v.$$

This angle is related to the orthogonal projectors onto F and G:

Lemma A.1.

$$\sin \angle E, F = \|p_E - p_F\|.$$

with p_E and p_F the orthogonal projector on E and F, and $\| \|$ the operator norm induced by the Euclidean norm.

In fact, one can define a sequence of k-angles $(\theta_k)_{k=1,\dots,d}$ between F and G, known as the stationary angles. They are built by induction as follows:

$$\theta_1 = \min_{u \in F} \min_{v \in G} \angle u, v = \angle u_1, v_1.$$

and for all i = 1, ..., d - 1:

$$\theta_{i+1} = \min_{u \in F, u \perp \operatorname{Vect}(u_1, \dots, u_i)} \min_{v \in G, v \perp \operatorname{Vect}(v_1, \dots, v_i)} \angle u, v = \angle u_i, v_i.$$

This sequence does not depend on the choice of the vectors $u_i \in F$ and $v_i \in G$ which realize the minima in the previous constructions. Observe that $\theta_1 \geq \dots \theta_d$. The last stationary angle θ_d coincides with the angle $\angle F, G$. The Cayley distance is related to the stationary angles and the angle \angle as follows:

$$\cos d_c(F, G) = \prod_{i=1}^d \cos(\theta_i) \le \cos \angle F, G.$$

A.3. **Estimates.** For a linear map $A : \mathbb{R}^k \to \mathbb{R}^d$ we let $V_A = A(\mathbb{R}^k)$ and by abuse of notations we write $\wedge^k(A)$ for $\wedge^k(A)(e_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge e_k) \in \wedge^k(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

Lemma A.2. Let A, B be linear map from \mathbb{R}^k to \mathbb{R}^d . We assume that $\|\wedge^k(A) - \wedge^k(B)\| \le K \|\wedge^k(A)\|$ with $K \le \frac{1}{2}$, then

$$d_c(V_A, V_B) \le \arccos\left(1 - \frac{K^2}{2(1-K)}\right).$$

In particular for K = 1/10 we get $\angle V_A, V_B \le d_c(V_A, V_B) < \pi/6$.

Proof. We first remark that

$$\left\| \wedge^k(B) \right\| \ge \left\| \wedge^k(A) \right\| - \left\| \wedge^k(A) - \wedge^k(B) \right\|$$

$$\ge (1 - K) \left\| \wedge^k(A) \right\|.$$

It follows that

$$\left\| \wedge^k(A) - \wedge^k(B) \right\| \le \frac{K}{\sqrt{1 - K}} \sqrt{\left\| \wedge^k(A) \right\| \left\| \wedge^k(B) \right\|}.$$

But the square of the left member can be rewritten as

$$\left\| \wedge^k(A) - \wedge^k(B) \right\|^2 = \left\| \wedge^k(A) \right\|^2 + \left\| \wedge^k(B) \right\|^2 - 2 \langle \wedge^k(B), \wedge^k(A) \rangle.$$
 Therefore we conclude that

$$\frac{\langle \wedge^{k}(A), \wedge^{k}(B) \rangle}{\| \wedge^{k}(A) \| \| \wedge^{k}(B) \|} = \frac{\| \wedge^{k}(A) \|^{2} + \| \wedge^{k}(B) \|^{2}}{2 \| \wedge^{k}(A) \| \| \wedge^{k}(B) \|} - \frac{\| \wedge^{k}(B) - \wedge^{k}(A) \|^{2}}{2 \| \wedge^{k}(A) \| \| \wedge^{k}(B) \|}$$

$$\geq 1 - \frac{K^{2}}{2(1 - K)}.$$

Lemma A.3. Let D be a C^1 embedded k-disk of \mathbb{R}^d an E be a vector

subspace of \mathbb{R}^d of dimension k with $\angle T_x D$, $E < \frac{\pi}{6}$ for all $x \in D$. Then, for any x there is $\epsilon > 0$ such that $D \cap B(x, \epsilon) = \Gamma_{\psi}$ where $\psi : E_x \subset E \to E^{\perp}$ is a C^1 function with $||d.\psi|| \le 1$.

Proof. It is enough to see that any vector $v \in T_xD$ writes as v = $v_E + v_{E^{\perp}}$ with $v_E \in E$, $v_{E^{\perp}} \in E^{\perp}$ where $||v_E|| = ||x|| (1 \pm ||p_{T_xD} - p_E||)$ and $||v_{E^{\perp}}|| \le ||x|| \cdot ||p_{T_rD} - p_E||$.

Appendix B. Covering number of C^r smooth disks

For a subset E of \mathbb{R}^d we let Cov(E,R) be the minimal number of euclidean balls of radius R covering E.

Lemma B.1. Let $\sigma:[0,1]^k \to \mathbb{R}^d$ be a C^r map with $k \leq d$. Then there is a constant $C_{r,d}$ depending on r and d such that

$$\operatorname{Cov}\left(\operatorname{Im}(\sigma), 1\right) \leq C_{r,d} \max\left(1, \|d^r \sigma\|\right)^{k/r} \max_{0 \leq l \leq k} \|\wedge^l d\sigma\|.$$

Proof. By Lemma 4 in [17] (or Chapters 5 and 7 of [51]) it holds for any polynomial map σ of degree less than r. We deduce the general case by polynomial interpolation. We first subdivide $[0,1]^k$ into subcubes **C** of size $\max\{1, \|d^r \sigma\|\}^{-1/r}$. Let $\sigma_{\mathbf{C}} = \sigma \circ \theta_{\mathbf{C}}$ with $\theta_{\mathbf{C}} : [0, 1]^l \to \mathbf{C}$ being an affine reparametrization of C. Then $\|d^r \sigma_{\mathbf{C}}\| \leq 1$. Consider the Lagrange interpolation polynomial $P_{\mathbf{C}}$ of $\sigma_{\mathbf{C}}$ at the center of \mathbf{C} . We have $||P_{\mathbf{C}} - \sigma_{\mathbf{C}}||_r \leq 1$. Moreover by Lemma 6.2 of [51] we have for all $x \in [0,1]^n$, for all l=1,...,k and for some constant C_d depending only on d with the convention $\| \wedge^0 \sigma_{\mathbf{C}} \| = 1$

$$\| \wedge^l P_{\mathbf{C}}(x) \| \le C_d \sum_{j=0}^l \| \wedge^j d\sigma_{\mathbf{C}}(x) \| \| d_x \sigma_{\mathbf{C}} - d_x P_{\mathbf{C}} \|^{l-j},$$

$$\le dC_d \max_{0 \le l \le k} \| \wedge^l d\sigma \|.$$

Therefore we have for some constants $C_{r,d}$ which may change at each step

$$\operatorname{Cov}(\operatorname{Im}(\sigma_{\mathbf{C}}), 1) \leq 2^{d} \operatorname{Cov}(\operatorname{Im}(P_{\mathbf{C}}), 2)$$

$$\leq C_{r,d} \max_{0 \leq l \leq k} \max \| \wedge^{l} dP_{\mathbf{C}} \|$$

$$\leq C_{r,d} \max_{0 \leq l \leq k} \max \| \wedge^{l} d\sigma_{\mathbf{C}} \|.$$

Thus,

$$\operatorname{Cov}(\operatorname{Im}(\sigma), 1) \le C_{r,d} \|d^r \sigma\|^{k/r} \max_{l \le k} \| \wedge^l d\sigma_{\mathbf{C}}.$$

References

- [1] Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians. Vol. I. Deutsche Mathematiker Vereinigung, Berlin, 1998. Invited plenary lectures. Appendix, Held in Berlin, August 18–27, 1998, Doc. Math. 1998, Extra Vol. I.
- [2] J. F. Alves, C. Bonatti, and M. Viana. SRB measures for partially hyperbolic systems whose central direction is mostly expanding. *Invent. Math.*, 140(2):351–398, 2000.
- [3] J. F. Alves, C. L. Dias, S. Luzzatto, and V. Pinheiro. SRB measures for partially hyperbolic systems whose central direction is weakly expanding. *J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS)*, 19(10):2911–2946, 2017.
- [4] S. Ben Ovadia. Hyperbolic SRB measures and the leaf condition. Comm. Math. Phys., 387(3):1353-1404, 2021.
- [5] S. Ben Ovadia and F. Rodriguez-Hertz. Exponential volume limits, 2023.
- [6] S. Ben Ovadia and F. Rodriguez-Hertz. Neutralized Local Entropy and Dimension bounds for Invariant Measures. *International Mathematics Research Notices*, page rnae047, 03 2024.
- [7] M. Benedicks and L. Carleson. The dynamics of the Hénon map. Ann. of Math. (2), 133(1):73–169, 1991.
- [8] M. Benedicks and L.-S. Young. Sinai-Bowen-Ruelle measures for certain Hénon maps. *Invent. Math.*, 112(3):541–576, 1993.
- [9] P. Berger and J.-C. Yoccoz. Strong regularity. Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2019. Astérisque No. 410 (2019).
- [10] G. Binyamini and D. Novikov. The Yomdin-Gromov algebraic lemma revisited. Arnold Math. J., 7(3):419–430, 2021.
- [11] C. Bonatti and M. Viana. SRB measures for partially hyperbolic systems whose central direction is mostly contracting. *Israel J. Math.*, 115:157–193, 2000.
- [12] R. Bowen. Equilibrium states and the ergodic theory of Anosov diffeomorphisms, volume 470 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, revised edition, 2008. With a preface by David Ruelle, Edited by Jean-René Chazottes.
- [13] R. Bowen and D. Ruelle. The ergodic theory of Axiom A flows. *Invent. Math.*, 29(3):181–202, 1975.

- [14] A. Brown, A. Eskin, S. Filip, and F. Rodriguez-Hertz. Measure rigidity for generalized u-gibbs states and stationary measures via the factorization method, 2025.
- [15] D. Burguet. C^r counter-examples to viana conjecture for any finite r. In preparation.
- [16] D. Burguet. A proof of Yomdin-Gromov's algebraic lemma. Israel J. Math., 168:291–316, 2008.
- [17] D. Burguet. Quantitative morse–sard theorem via algebraic lemma. C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Ser. I, 349:441–443, 2011.
- [18] D. Burguet. Entropy of physical measures for C^{∞} dynamical systems. Comm. Math. Phys., 375(2):1201–1222, 2020.
- [19] D. Burguet. SRB measures for C^{∞} surface diffeomorphisms. *Invent. Math.*, 235(3):1019–1062, 2024.
- [20] J. Buzzi, S. Crovisier, and O. Sarig. Continuity properties of Lyapunov exponents for surface diffeomorphisms. *Invent. Math.*, 230(2):767–849, 2022.
- [21] J. Buzzi, S. Crovisier, and O. Sarig. On the existence of SRB measures for C^{∞} surface diffeomorphisms. *Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN*, (24):20812–20826, 2023.
- [22] V. Climenhaga, D. Dolgopyat, and Y. Pesin. Non-stationary non-uniform hyperbolicity: SRB measures for dissipative maps. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 346(2):553–602, 2016.
- [23] V. Climenhaga, S. Luzzatto, and Y. Pesin. SRB measures and Young towers for surface diffeomorphisms. *Ann. Henri Poincaré*, 23(3):973–1059, 2022.
- [24] A. Delplanque. Hyperbolic absolutely continuous invariant measures for c^{τ} one-dimensional maps, 2024.
- [25] D. Dolgopyat. Limit theorems for partially hyperbolic systems. *Trans. Am. Math. Soc.*, 356(4):1637–1689, 2004.
- [26] M. Gromov. Entropy, homology and semialgebraic geometry. Number 145-146, pages 5, 225-240. 1987. Séminaire Bourbaki, Vol. 1985/86.
- [27] H. Y. Hu and L.-S. Young. Nonexistence of SBR measures for some diffeomorphisms that are "almost Anosov". *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 15(1):67–76, 1995.
- [28] M. V. Jakobson. Absolutely continuous invariant measures for one-parameter families of one-dimensional maps. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 81(1):39–88, 1981.
- [29] A. Katok. Lyapunov exponents, entropy and periodic orbits for diffeomorphisms. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math., (51):137–173, 1980.
- [30] A. Katok and L. Mendoza. Dynamical systems with non-uniformly hyperbolic behavior, Supplement to "Introduction to the modern theory of dynamical systems", volume 54 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [31] A. Katz. Measure rigidity of Anosov flows via the factorization method. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 33(2):468–540, 2023.
- [32] G. Keller. Exponents, attractors and Hopf decompositions for interval maps. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 10(4):717–744, 1990.
- [33] F. Ledrappier. Propriétés ergodiques des mesures de Sinaï. *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.*, (59):163–188, 1984.
- [34] F. Ledrappier and J.-M. Strelcyn. A proof of the estimation from below in Pesin's entropy formula. *Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems*, 2(2):203–219 (1983), 1982.

- [35] F. Ledrappier and L.-S. Young. The metric entropy of diffeomorphisms. I. Characterization of measures satisfying Pesin's entropy formula. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 122(3):509–539, 1985.
- [36] S. E. Newhouse. Entropy and volume. Ergodic Theory Dynam. Systems, 8*:283–299, 1988.
- [37] J. B. Pesin. Families of invariant manifolds that correspond to nonzero characteristic exponents. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat.*, 40(6):1332–1379, 1440, 1976.
- [38] J. B. Pesin. Characteristic Ljapunov exponents, and smooth ergodic theory. *Uspehi Mat. Nauk*, 32(4 (196)):55–112, 287, 1977.
- [39] Y. B. Pesin and Y. G. Sinai. Gibbs measures for partially hyperbolic attractors. Ergodic Theory and Dynamical Systems, 2(3-4):417-438, 1982.
- [40] J. Pila and A. J. Wilkie. The rational points of a definable set. *Duke Math. J.*, 133(3):591–616, 2006.
- [41] F. Rodriguez Hertz, M. A. Rodriguez Hertz, A. Tahzibi, and R. Ures. Uniqueness of SRB measures for transitive diffeomorphisms on surfaces. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 306(1):35–49, 2011.
- [42] D. Ruelle. A measure associated with axiom-A attractors. Amer. J. Math., 98(3):619–654, 1976.
- [43] D. Ruelle. An inequality for the entropy of differentiable maps. *Bol. Soc. Brasil.* Mat., 9(1):83–87, 1978.
- [44] D. Ruelle. Ergodic theory of differentiable dynamical systems. *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.*, (50):27–58, 1979.
- [45] J. G. Sinaĭ. Markov partitions and U-diffeomorphisms. Funkcional. Anal. i Priložen, 2(1):64–89, 1968.
- [46] S. Smale. Differentiable dynamical systems. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 73:747–817, 1967.
- [47] M. Tsujii. Regular points for ergodic sinai measures. Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 328(2):747–766, 12 1991.
- [48] Y. Yomdin. Volume growth and entropy. Israel J. Math., 57(3):285–300, 1987.
- [49] L.-S. Young. Statistical properties of dynamical systems with some hyperbolicity. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 147(3):585–650, 1998.
- [50] L.-S. Young. What are SRB measures, and which dynamical systems have them? *J. Statist. Phys.*, 108(5-6):733–754, 2002. Dedicated to David Ruelle and Yasha Sinai on the occasion of their 65th birthdays.
- [51] Y.Yomdin and G.Comte. Tame geometry with application in smooth analysis. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1834. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2004.
- S. Ben Ovadia, EINSTEIN INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS, HEBREW UNIVERSITY, 91904 JERUSALEM, ISRAEL. *E-mail address*: snir.benovadia@mail.huji.ac.il
- D. Burguet, LAMFA, UNIVERSITÉ JULES VERNES, 80000 AMIENS, FRANCE. *E-mail address*: david.burguet@u-picardie.fr